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F. Bülent 
Eczacıbaşı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding Chairman 
Bülent Eczacıbaşı began his 
professional career in 1974 and 
held numerous management 
positions in Eczacıbaşı Group 
companies before becoming 
chairman in 1996. He has also 
served at the senior level of 
prominent business associations, 
including TÜSİAD, the Turkish 
Industry and Business Association, 
where he was Chairman of the 
Board (1991-1993) and Chairman of 
the High Advisory Council 
(1997-2001); and the Turkish 
Pharmaceuticals Manufacturers 
Association (İEİS), where he was 
Chairman of the Board 
(2000-2008). Bülent Eczacıbaşı 
continues to serve both TÜSİAD 
and İEİS as Honorary Chairman. He 
is also an Honorary Member of the 
Foreign Economic Relations Board 
(DEİK) and Turkish Enterprise and 
Business Confederation 
(TÜRKONFED), and a member of 
the High Advisory Council of the 
Aegean Industrialists and 
Businessmen Association (ESİAD).

Bülent Eczacıbaşı is on the board 
of several major civic organizations, 
as well. He is Chairman of the 
Board of Trustees of the Istanbul 
Modern Art Foundation, Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of the 
Istanbul Foundation for Culture and 
Arts (IKSV), and a member of the 
High Advisory Board of the Turkish 
Economic and Social Studies 
Foundation (TESEV), which he 
previously served as the Founding 
Chairman (1993-1997).

Bülent Eczacıbaşı graduated from 
the Department of Chemistry of the 
Imperial College of Science and 
Technology, London, and obtained 
his master’s degree in chemical 
engineering from the 
Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology. He has received 
French and Italian awards of merit, 
respectively the “Chevalier dans 
l'Ordre National de la 
Légiond'Honneur” and 
“Commendatore dell'Ordine della 
Stella d'Italia”. He is the author of 
“İşim Gücüm Budur Benim” (That’s 
My Job), a book about his 
experiences in business and the 
new roles and responsibilities of 
business leaders, published in 2018.

Atalay M. 
Gümrah 
Atalay Gümrah graduated 
from Galatasaray Lycée and 
Boğaziçi University’s 
Industrial Engineering 
Department. After receiving a 
master’s degree in Industrial 
Engineering from the same 
university, he completed the 
Harvard Business School 
Personal Leadership Program.

Gümrah initiated his career in 
1992 at Ekom Eczacıbaşı 
Foreign Trade as Regional 
Manager. In 1994, he was 
appointed Commercial 
Manager of VitrA UK, and in 
1997, General Manager of the 
Group’s newly established 
marketing and sales company 
in Russia, EBM Jsc., where he 
was given the responsibility 
of developing its business. In 
1999, Gümrah joined Intema 
Building Materials Marketing 
and Sales, where he served 
respectively as Projects and 
Operation Manager, Sales 
Operation Manager, Assistant 
General Manager, and 
General Manager, a position 
he held between 2006 and 
2011. In January 2011, he was 
appointed Vice President of 
the Eczacıbaşı Building 
Products Division 
(Bathrooms) and General 
Manager of Eczacıbaşı 
Building Products, and in 
October 2013, he was given 
the additional role of 
Executive Vice President of 
the Eczacıbaşı Building 
Products Division. Gümrah 
was appointed CEO of the 
Eczacıbaşı Group on 1 
February 2017. 

In addition to serving on the 
boards of several Eczacıbaşı 
Group companies, Gümrah 
was assigned the additional 
post of General Manager of 
Eczacıbaşı Holding on 1 
January 2019. He is also the 
Chairman of the Clay, 
Ceramic, Cement and Glass 
Industry Employers 
Association of Turkey.

Atalay Gümrah is married, 
has two children, and speaks 
English, French and Italian.

R. Faruk 
Eczacıbaşı 
Born in Istanbul in 1954, Faruk 
Eczacıbaşı is a graduate of the 
Istanbul German Lycée and 
Berlin Technical University’s 
School of Management, where 
he earned his undergraduate 
and MBA degrees.

Faruk Eczacıbaşı began his 
professional career in the 
Eczacıbaşı Group’s Strategic 
Planning Department in 1980. 
Soon after, he took on the 
mission of “computerizing” the 
Eczacıbaşı Group, which later 
evolved into the Group’s 
e-transformation process. In 
1996, Faruk Eczacıbaşı was 
appointed Vice Chairman of the 
Eczacıbaşı Group, a position he 
continues to hold today.

Additionally, Faruk Eczacıbaşı is 
President of the Turkish 
Informatics Foundation (TBV) 
which he co-founded in 1995 to 
assist in Turkey’s transformation 
to an information society. In this 
role, he is contributing to the 
preparation of numerous studies 
on related issues as well as the 
shaping of public policy.

Drawing on all these 
experiences, Faruk Eczacıbaşı 
wrote a book in 2018 that 
analyzes the transformational 
changes taking place in Turkey 
and around the world as a result 
of new digital technologies. 
Entitled “Daha Yeni Başlıyor” 
(This is Only the Beginning), the 
book looks at the economic and 
social impact in Turkey and 
worldwide of the accelerating 
pace of technological change, 
considers the challenges for 
individuals, institutions and 
societies, and discusses ways to 
prepare for the positive and 
negative aspects of this new 
future.

Faruk Eczacıbaşı is also 
President of the Eczacıbaşı 
Sports Club, a position he has 
held since 1999.  
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Born in Çanakkale in 1954, 
Zühal Atanan completed her 
secondary education at Robert 
Academy, her undergraduate 
degree in Boğaziçi University’s 
Faculty of Administrative 
Sciences and continued her 
studies at the University of 
California, Berkeley, where she 
obtained an MBA.
 
Atanan started her business 
life as a planning specialist at 
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. Over 
the next 30 years, she held 
numerous strategic planning 
positions at Eczacıbaşı 
Holding while also serving on 
the board of directors of 
various Eczacıbaşı Group 
companies. Atanan retired 
from her final post as Strategic 
Planning and Business 
Development Director in July 
2009.
 
Zühal Atanan is an
independent member of the 
Company’s and İntema 
Building Materials Marketing 
and Sales’ board of directors 
since April 2018.

Zühal 
Atanan

M. Sacit 
Basmacı 

Born in 1952, Basmacı 
received his undergraduate 
degree from the 
Economics-Finance 
Department of the Faculty of 
Political Science of Ankara 
University in 1974.

Sacit Basmacı began his 
career in the Ministry of 
Finance as a tax accountant 
between 1974 and 1981. In 
1981, he joined Eczacıbaşı 
Holding as an auditor, 
remaining here through 1983. 
In 1984, he moved to 
Cankurtaran Holding as Vice 
President of Financial and 
Administrative A�airs, later 
becoming a member of the 
Management and Executive 
Board, and Certified Public 
Accountant and Financial 
Advisor.

Basmacı returned to the 
Eczacıbaşı Group in 2003 as 
Assistant Vice President of 
Financial A�airs. Since 
January 2004, Basmacı has 
served as Executive Vice 
President, Head Comptroller 
and Legal A�airs, and 
General Manager of 
Eczacıbaşı Holding. M. Sacit 
Basmacı continues to serve 
as Chief Audit Executive.

Born in Istanbul in 1946, Toker 
Alban completed his secondary 
education at Ankara College and 
his undergraduate degree in the 
Department of Finance and 
Economics of Ankara 
University’s Faculty of Political 
Sciences. Subsequently, he 
completed a postgraduate 
degree in economics at Oxford 
University.
 
Alban worked as an Economist 
and Project Specialist in the 
State Investment Bank from 1969 
to 1976 and as Education 
Manager, Assistant General 
Manager and Board Member of 
DESİYAB from 1976 to 1980; he 
was also a member of the Board 
of Directors of Taksan and 
Testaş. In 1980, he joined the 
Eczacıbaşı Group as Planning 
and Budget Control Manager at 
Eczacıbaşı Seramik Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.Ş. Later, he moved to 
Eczacıbaşı Holding where he 
served respectively as Assistant 
Coordinator of the Building 
Products Division, Assistant 
General Manager, Planning and 
Finance Coordinator, and Head 
of the Strategic Planning and 
Finance Department. Alban 
retired in January 2009.
 
Toker Alban is an independent 
member of the Company’s and 
İntema Building Materials 
Marketing and Sales’ board of 
directors since April 2018.

H. Toker 
Alban



 

Consolidated Financial Highlights

Income Statement (TL Thousand) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

Revenue 692,094 597,909 530,133 1,170,563 1,046,781 

Gross Profit 244,402 234,433 194,023 262,875 190,261 

Operating Profit 208,363 129,059 167,969 123,779 18,508 

Depreciation and Amortization  10,343 10,333 21,261 17,812 19,407 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortization 218,706 139,392 189,230 141,591 37,915 

Net Income for the Year 240,119 146,095 184,803 67,647 (43,293) 

Balance Sheet (TL Thousand) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

Total Assets 4,456,472 3,831,375 3,992,703 3,369,830 3,263,485 

Total Equity 3,997,844 3,480,655 3,244,490 2,740,060 2,761,045 

Total Current Assets 912,383 741,324 1,163,552 1,090,342 1,035,211 

Total Current Liabilities 241,737 210,146 602,151 475,926 375,960 

Capital Expenditures 16,945 7,937 104,999 129,167 41,631 

Liquidity Ratios (%) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 
 

-Current Ratio 3.77 3.53 1.93 2.29 2.75 

-Liquidity Ratio  3.41 3.18 1.72 2.01 2.34 

Leverage Ratios (%) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014  

-Total Liabilities / Total Assets 0.10 0.09 0.19 0.19 0.15  

-Total Equity / Total Assets 0.90 0.91 0.81 0.81 0.85 

-Total Equity / Total Liabilities 8.72 9.92 4.34 4.35 5.50 

Profitability Ratios (%) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

-Net Income for the Year / Total Equity 0.06 0.04 0.06 10.02 (0.02) 

-Net Income for the Year / Total Assets 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.02 (0.01) 

-Net Income for the Year / Revenue 0.35 0.24 0.35 0.06 (0.04) 
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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT 
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 

 
To the General Assembly of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 
 
1. Opinion 
 
We have audited the annual report of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret 
A.Ş. (the “Company” or “EIS”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the  
1 January - 31 December 2018 period. 
 
In our opinion, the financial information and the analysis made by the Board of Directors by using the 
information included in the audited financial statements regarding the Group’s position in the Board of 
Directors’ Annual Report are consistent and presented fairly, in all material respects, with the audited full 
set consolidated financial statements and with the information obtained in the course of independent 
audit. 
 
2. Basis for Opinion  
 
Our independent audit was conducted in accordance with the Independent Standards on Auditing that are 
part of the Turkish Standards on Auditing (the “TSA”) issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and 
Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities in the Audit of the Board of Directors’ Annual Report section of our report. 
We hereby declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for 
Independent Auditors (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent audit in 
regulations issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements. We have also fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and regulations. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis 
for our opinion. 
 
3. Our Audit Opinion on the Full Set Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
We expressed an unqualified opinion in the auditor’s report dated 27 February 2019 on the full set 
consolidated financial statements for the 1 January - 31 December 2018 period. 
 
4. Board of Director’s Responsibility for the Annual Report 
 
The Group management’s responsibilities related to the annual report according to Articles 514 and 516 of 
Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and Capital Markets Board’s (“CMB”) Communiqué Serial II, 
No:14.1, “Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (the “Communiqué”) are as follows: 
 
a) to prepare the annual report within the first three months following the balance sheet date and 

present it to the general assembly; 

http://www.pwc.com.tr/


 

 

b) to prepare the annual report to reflect the Group’s operations in that year and the financial position 

in a true, complete, straightforward, fair and proper manner in all respects. In this report financial 

position is assessed in accordance with the financial statements. Also in the report, developments 

and possible risks which the Group may encounter are clearly indicated. The assessments of the 

Board of Directors in regards to these matters are also included in the report. 

 

c) to include the matters below in the annual report: 

 

- events of particular importance that occurred in the Company after the operating year, 

- the Group’s research and development activities, 

- financial benefits such as salaries, bonuses, premiums and allowances, travel, 

accommodation and representation expenses, benefits in cash and in kind, insurance and 

similar guarantees paid to members of the Board of Directors and senior management. 

 

When preparing the annual report, the Board of Directors considers secondary legislation arrangements 

enacted by the Ministry of Customs and Trade and other relevant institutions. 

 

5. Independent Auditor’s Responsibility in the Audit of the Annual Report 

 

Our aim is to express an opinion and issue a report comprising our opinion within the framework of TCC 

and Communiqué provisions regarding whether or not the financial information and the analysis made by 

the Board of Directors by using the information included in the audited financial statements in the annual 

report are consistent and presented fairly with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group 

and with the information we obtained in the course of independent audit. 

 

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the TSAs. These standards require that ethical requirements 

are complied with and that the independent audit is planned and performed in a way to obtain reasonable 

assurance of whether or not the financial information and the analysis made by the Board of Directors by 

using the information included in the audited financial statements in the annual report are consistent and 

presented fairly with the audited consolidated financial statements and with the information obtained in 

the course of audit. 

 

 

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 

Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 

 

 

 

 

Ediz Günsel, SMMM 

Partner 

 

Istanbul, 27 February 2019  
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Trade Name   : EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

Trade Registration Number : Istanbul Trade Registry Office - 44943 

Contact Information  : Büyükdere Caddesi, Ali Kaya Sokak No: 5 Levent 34394, Istanbul 

Telephone: (0212) 350 80 00 - 371 70 00 Fax: (0212) 371 73 99 

Website   : www.eis.com.tr, www.eczacibasi.com.tr   

Reporting Period  : 01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018 
 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (hereinafter referred to as "Eczacıbaşı 

İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar" or "Company") was established on 24th October 1951. The Company is not 

engaged in any actual manufacturing activity and it has a holding structure with its existing subsidiaries, business 

partnerships, and affiliates. Companies, where the Company holds a direct interest in the capital and shareholding 

ratios within such structure, are shown in the table below: 
 

Trade Name 
Share Ratio  

(%) 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 99.92 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 99.49 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 94.70 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 83.99 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd. (*) 50.00 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 37.28 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 26.36 

Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 25.00 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 11.21 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 0.35 
 

(*) Procedures relating to the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd. registered in the Turkish 

Republic of Northern Cyprus, which is not in good standing at the moment, was started on 31 January 2018 

and the dissolution procedure was completed upon the announcement made in Annex V of the TRNC's 

Official Gazette dated 11 June 2018 and numbered 89. The dissolution procedure was approved on 4 July 

2018 by the Official Collection and Recordership Office of TRNC. 
 

Capital and shareholding structure 
 

 31 December 2018  31 December 2017 

   Share Share  Share  Share 

Shareholder 

Percentage 

(%) 

Amount 

(TL) 

 Percentage 

(%) 

    Amount 

(TL) 
   

 

  

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.    50.62     346,845,460     50.62     346,845,460 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş.    29.67     203,294,584     29.35     201,116,812 

Other (the public portion) (*)   19.72     135,119,955     20.04     137,297,728 
      

Total      100.00  685,260,000          100.00       685,260,000 
 

(*)  According to the data dated 31 December 2018 reported by Central Registry Agency (CRA), 19.70% (31 

December 2017: 20.02%) of the Company's capital indicates the outstanding share percentage and has been 

presented within the other group. 
 

The issued capital of the Company is divided into 68,526,000,000 shares, with a nominal value of 1 (one) kurus 

each, and all of these shares are bearer shares. There is no privileged share and each share has one voting right. 

The company has not acquired its own shares. 
 

The company's authorized capital is TL 1,920,000,000, and the permission for the authorized capital ceiling 

granted by the Capital Markets Board is valid from 2016 to 2020. 
 

Amendments made in the articles of association during the year and their reasons  
 

There has been no amendment in the articles of association during the year. 

http://www.eis.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
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Board of Directors 
 

Name-Surname Position 
Start Date of 

Taking Office (*) 

Status of 

Independency 

F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı Chairman of the Board of Directors 12 April 2018 - 

R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 12 April 2018 - 

M. Sacit Basmacı Member 12 April 2018 - 

Atalay M. Gümrah Member 12 April 2018 - 

H. Toker Alban Member 12 April 2018 Independent Member 

Zühal Atanan Member 12 April 2018 Independent Member 
 

(*)  The Board of Directors was elected to be in charge for one year during the Ordinary General Assembly 

Meeting dated 12th April 2018, and will hold the office until the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting where 

operations of the year 2018 are to be discussed. 

 

 The information on the Board committees, the working principles of the committees, the assessment of the 

Board of Directors related to the activity of the committees, positions held by the Board members outside the 

Company, and the benefits provided to the Board members and senior managers is provided on pages 7-12 of 

the section Corporate Governance of this annual report. 

 

Changes made in the senior management during the year and names, surnames and 

professional experiences of those still in the office 
 

 Elif Neşe Çelik, the General Manager of the Company, left the office as of 31 October 2018. During the 

meeting of the Board of Directors held on 31 October 2018, it was resolved that the office of the General 

Manager be carried out by proxy by Canan Bademlioğlu as of 1 November 2018 until a new appointment.  
 

Graduated from the Biology Department of the Middle East Technical University in 2000, Canan 

Bademlioğlu started her business life in 2000 as Assistant Quality Assurance Specialist in Eczacıbaşı-Baxter. 

Bademlioğlu, who served as the Product Manager and Specialist Product Manager in the Renal Products 

group in Eczacıbaşı-Baxter in 2001-2008, assumed the positions of the Marketing and Sales Manager for 

Biological Products Group, Marketing and Sales Manager, and Marketing and Sales Director respectively in 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter in 2008-2014. In 2014-2015, she took office as the Marketing and Sales Director in charge 

of all marketing, sales and commercial operations in Eczacıbaşı-Baxter. Following the decision of Baxter to 

be divided into two companies as Baxter and Baxalta in 2015, she took office in London as the Global 

Marketing Director of Baxalta. Appointed as the General Manager of Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta on 1 April 2016, 

Bademlioğlu returned to Turkey. After Baxalta was globally acquired by Shire, she assumed the position of 

Strategic Planning and Business Development Director of Eczacıbaşı Healthcare Group.  

 

Bademlioğlu served as the General Manager of EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama from April 2017 to December 

2018. She has been an Executive Board Member of EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama since January 2019. 
 

Duties she assumes outside the corporation as of the most recent situation: 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. - Executive Member  

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. - Member of the Board of Directors  

Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. - Member of the Board of Directors  

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. - Member of the Board of 

Directors 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. - Member of the Board of Directors 
 

 Ayşe Deniz Özger served as the Deputy President of Healthcare Group to be responsible for all business 

development activities of the Healthcare Group between 1st August 2011 and 31st January 2015. Having 

assumed the position of Advisor of Healthcare Group President from 1st February 2015 to 31st December 

2018, Özger still takes office as the Business Development Advisor.  
 

Duties she assumes outside the corporation as of the most recent situation: 

Not available. 
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Personnel and worker movements, collective contract applications, rights and benefits 

provided to personnel and workers 
 

The company's total number of personnel as of 31st December 2018 is 10 (31st December 2017: 14) and all of them 

are subject to the Labor Law. There are no collective labor agreement practices applicable at the company. The 

rights and benefits of the employees are determined in accordance with the relevant legislation and the internal 

regulations of Eczacıbaşı Group. Within this framework, the employees are provided with the benefits such as 

private health and life insurance, clothing, moving and meal allowance, marriage, birth-death, child allowance 

depending on the nature of their duties, as well as the training and career management programs suitable for their 

personal and professional development. 

 

The company's organizational structure includes the Business Development, Finance Directorate, and Public 

Relations Units reporting to the General Directorate. 

 

Financial information 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Liquidity Ratios (%) 
 

 Current Ratio 3.77 3.53 

 Liquidity Ratio 3.41  3.18 
 

Ratios Related to Financial Position (%) 
 

 Total Liabilities / Total Assets 0.10 0.09 

 Consolidated Equity / Total Assets 0.90 0.91 

 Consolidated Equity / Total Liabilities 8.72 9.92 
 

Profitability Ratios (%) 
 

 Net Profit for the Year / Consolidated Equity 0.06 0.04 

 Net Profit for the Year / Total Assets 0.05 0.04 

 Net Profit for the Year / Revenue 0.35  0.24 
 

As of the end of 2018, BIST 100 index and BIST 30 index depreciated by 20.86% and 19.54% respectively, and 

ECILC decreased by 34.68% during the same period. 

 

Financing sources of the enterprise 
 

As of December 31st, 2018, Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar does not have open credit. In the actual 

state, the cash assets corresponding to a significant part of the net financial assets are composed of Euro, Dollar, 

and Turkish Lira. Constantly and dynamically changing its foreign exchange balance considering the exchange 

rates in the market, the Company completed 2018 with a cash portfolio of 60% in Euro, 32% in USD and 8% in 

Turkish Lira. The company has not issued capital market instruments during the year. 

 

Investment applied by the enterprise in order to strengthen its performance 
 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar performs investment activities with growth purpose in healthcare and 

real estate development sectors. For this purpose, it has set its investment policy as purchasing products or 

acquiring companies operating in these sectors on one hand and producing real estate development projects on the 

other hand. 

 

Information related to the donations made during the year 
 

As of December 31st, 2018, the consolidated amount is TL 280 thousand (December 31st, 2017: TL 276 thousand) 

for the donations made to public benefit associations and foundations, to universities, to healthcare organizations 

and institutions, to organizations pursuing public service goal in order to promote and support social, scientific, 

artistic and other activities that are helpful for the country, and to annexed budget provincial private 

administrations and to similar institutions.  
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Milestones during the period from the closing of the accounting period and to the 

announcement date of the relevant financial statements 
 

 In accordance with the resolution to increase the current capital of our affiliate company Vitra Karo Sanayi 

ve Ticaret A.Ş., in which we hold 25% shares, from TL 450,000 thousand to TL 750,000 thousand to be 

covered entirely in cash, and to convene a General Assembly Meeting on January 30, 2019 for that purpose; 

 During its meeting dated January 23rd, 2019, our Board of Directors resolved that the capital increase be 

participated in by purchasing 75,000,000 shares each worth 1 Turkish Lira in return for TL 75,000 thousand 

which fell onto our share within the capital of TL 300,000 thousand increased in cash, and that 25% of TL 

75,000 thousand be paid prior to the registration of the capital increase and the remaining 75% be paid in 

cash in accordance with the resolutions to be taken in this respect by the Board of Directors after the 

registration of the capital increase and in any case within 24 months at the latest. The said capital increase 

was registered on February 12th, 2019. 

 

 During the meeting of our Board of Directors held on 1st February 2019; 

In accordance with its assessment regarding the acquisition of Shire Plc, the principal shareholder of Baxalta 

GmbH that is the other shareholder holding 50% shares in Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret 

A.Ş. (Eczacıbaşı Shire) that is our affiliate company in which we hold 50% shares, by Takeda 

Pharmaceutical Company Limited on January 8, 2019; 

It resolved to initiate the required legal process and to hold meetings regarding the transfer of our 50% shares 

in Eczacıbaşı Shire to Baxalta GmbH, which is our contractual right pursuant to the Shareholders' Agreement 

dated January 25, 2016 due to the change of control in Baxalta GmbH. In the valuation made in accordance 

with the "Shareholders' Agreement", the Company management calculated a sale price of about TL 85,888 

thousand for its share of 50% in Eczacıbaşı Shire and the final price will be determined following the 

agreement of the counterparty. 
 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT and INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITIES 
 

Internal Control System and Internal Audit  
 

At Eczacıbaşı Group, internal audit activities have been structured under the roof of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., the 

parent company. It works in coordination with audit committees established in public companies. The Audit 

Committee within Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. audits the activities of the organizations included within consolidation 

within the scope of the required processes and/or issues.  

 

The Audit Committee is responsible for the accounting system, public disclosure of financial data, identification of 

the independent audit companies, operation and effectiveness of the internal control system, and the observation of 

the independent audit processes. During the period, the Committee monitored the accounting and internal control 

systems, independent audit and financial reporting processes, and encountered no irregular finding and concluded 

that operations were carried out properly.  

 

In addition to the duties conducted by the Audit Committee, the legal records of the affiliate companies, the 

business partnerships and the subsidiaries included within consolidation are quarterly controlled by the Certified 

Public Accountancy company in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code, the Uniform Accounting Plan 

and in terms of tax issues. In addition, the compliance of the financial statements for March, June and September 

and of the annual financial statements, issued for consolidation by the companies included in consolidation, with 

the CMB legislations and with the Turkish Accounting Standards, published by the Public Oversight, Accounting 

and Audit Standards Authority, are made analyzed and audited by the independent audit companies.  

 

With regards to the monitoring of the receivables risk in the real estate development area in which the Company 

runs its operations, the Company enjoys support from Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. for the 

customers within Kanyon complex and from Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. for the Project 

Ormanada.  
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Risk Management 
 

In Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar, the risks are accepted as a part of the operations and these risks 

are managed by being balanced according to the risk-return expectations. In order to optimize the risks taken and 

to effectively determine them to manage the sustainable growth; the risks are first defined and classified from the 

general to the specific, and then they are measured and studies are conducted to remove/mitigate the risks or to 

turn them into opportunity. As a result of these studies, the risks continue to be monitored and it is always 

reassessed whether the precautions are taken in time and whether they are effective. 

 

In order to carry out the risk management activities of Eczacıbaşı Group, the Risk Management unit formed within 

the structure of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. works in coordination with the Committee of Early Detection of Risk 

established at public companies. 

 

The primary risks incurred by the Company are monitored under two main titles as financial risks (foreign 

exchange, interest, liquidity, and credit) and nonfinancial risks (strategic and operational). 

 

Financial Risks 

The financial risks are the positive or negative influence on the financials of the organization by the dynamism in 

variables in the markets such as exchange rate, interest or commodity prices. Besides these risks, liquidity risk and 

credit risk are also other financial risks that may play a role to damage the financial solidity of the organization. 

The financial risks are analyzed under four titles so as foreign exchange risk, interest risk, liquidity risk, and credit 

risk. 

 

Foreign exchange risk 

These are the risks arising from any financial or operational foreign exchange transaction of the Company. These 

risks are monitored through analysis of the foreign exchange position and the required measures are taken 

following the position analysis. Following the various analyses such as the foreign exchange position of the 

statement of financial position and the effect by the scenarios of exchange rate change of equity on the financials, 

hedging operations are performed depending on the risk appetite of the organization. Periodically performed 

within the determined limits, the hedging operations such as forward, option and swap are shaped according to the 

willingness of the Company to take risks. In addition, the market expectations are constantly updated in order to 

make the cash and credit portfolio of the Company be affected from the foreign exchange movements at a 

minimum level, and the portfolios are dynamically managed depending on the up-to-date data. 

 

Interest rate risk 

The positive or negative effect on the financials of the Company by the downside or upside movement of interests 

is described as the interest rate risk. While the Company first manages this risk by balancing its interest sensitive 

forward receivables and forward debts, the decision is made to get loans as short, long, fixed or floating interest 

rate depending on the market expectations of the organization and on its pre-determined risk limits. 

 

Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk management consists of the capability of providing cash and securities of sufficient amount, 

making funding possible through sufficient credit opportunities and closing short positions. The Company has 

aimed for flexibility in the funding through rendering the loan channels ready due to the dynamic nature of the 

business environment. The liquidity risk is managed by considering the financial solidity in the regularly issued 

risk reporting. The financial structure of the Company is analyzed by the indicators such as current ratio, liquidity 

ratio, total debt/total assets, NFB/equity, capability of the organization to pay interest, etc., and assessed from the 

weakest to the strongest; and actions are taken related to the working capital management as a result of the 

assessment. 

 

Credit risk 

These are the risks appearing in case of failure by the business partners, owing to the Company, to pay their debts. 

These risks are managed with credit rating studies based on historical data, inquiry studies, limiting the 

concentration on a single business partner within the total portfolio, and assurance structure to be applied for 

customers. Where necessary, the Company may realize the early collection operations for the receivable by means 

of irrevocable factoring in order to remove the risk. By conducting detailed customer analysis, it is ensured that the 

domestic and foreign receivables are insured within the determined operation limits. 
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Nonfinancial Risks 

In addition to getting the financial risks under control, the other important risks related to the activities of the 

companies are handled as strategic and operational risks. 

 

Strategic risks 

Fluctuations in the demand for the products and the services of the Company, changes in the market shares, risks 

arising from the developments to affect competition and political risks are all included within the strategic risks. In 

order to reduce the effects of these risks, diversifications are made in the markets of sale. In addition, it is required 

to maintain the competitive position by maintaining the quality of the products and by including innovation to a 

considerable extent. The constant analyses are conducted related to the changes in the dynamics in the markets and 

to the competitor, and the required precautions are taken against the possible risks. 

 

Operational risks 

The operational risks involve personnel risk, technological risks, organizational risk, legal risks, and external risks. 

These risks are reduced with the effective Human Resources Management and the investments in Technological 

Infrastructure; and the coverable risks are frequently reviewed, covered based on a benefit and cost analysis, and 

transferred to the outside of the Company. 

 

 

Other Information 
 

Information on the Company's Research and Development activities 

The Company does not have any R&D activity. 

 

Explanations regarding special audit and public audit 
 

No special and public audit was conducted. 

 

Information on the legislative changes that may significantly affect the Company's activities 

In 2018, no legislative change that might significantly affect the Company's activities took place.  

 

Information about lawsuits instituted against the Company likely to affect the financial position and 

activities of the Company and possible results thereof 
 

There is no lawsuit instituted against the Company likely to affect our financial position and activities. 

 

Explanations regarding administrative or judicial sanctions imposed on the Company and members of the 

managing body due to such practices contrary to the legislation provisions 
 

There is no administrative or legal sanction imposed against the Company and the members of the managing body 

due to such practices contrary to the legislation provisions. 

 

Information on the Company's conflicts of interest with the organizations from which it gets services such 

as investment consultancy and rating services, and the measures taken to prevent the same 

During the 2018 accounting period, no investment consultancy or rating service was gotten. 

 

Information related to the shares of the enterprises included in the group, within the main partnership 

capital 
 

The Company possesses 37.28% of the shares in our main shareholder Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. that holds 50.62% 

of the shares in our capital. Our Company does not have any directive effect or control over the organization and 

management policies of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. votes at our General Assembly but our 

Company does not vote at the General Assembly of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 

 

If requested by one of the members of the managing body, the conclusion section of the report stipulated in 

Paragraph 4, Article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code 
 

 

No such request has been received from members of the managing body. 
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Affiliate Company Report  
 

Upon the Resolution of our Board of Directors numbered 7 and dated February 26 th, 2019, the report dated 

February 26th, 2019 which was issued, in accordance with article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code number 

6102, within the first three months of the activity year regarding the relations of our Company with its controlling 

partner and subsidiaries of the controlling partner was assessed according to the situations and conditions known 

by us and within this scope, the commercial relations of our Company during the previous activity year with its 

controlling partner Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. and the subsidiaries of the controlling partner were examined in detail 

and it was concluded that during the previous activity year, there was no transaction made with the controlling 

company or subsidiaries of the controlling company, upon instruction by the controlling company or in favor of 

the controlling company or a subsidiary of the controlling company, or that during the previous year, there was no 

precaution taken or avoided from being taken in favor of the controlling company or of a subsidiary of the 

controlling company; that the transactions made were performed in compliance with the commercial conditions 

and on arm's length principle; and that for this reason, there was no precaution that might cause loss on our 

Company, which was taken or avoided from being taken, and that there was no transaction or precaution to require 

offsetting.  

 

Circumstances under which shares to directly or indirectly represent five, ten, twenty, twenty-five, thirty-

three, fifty, sixty-seven or hundred percent of the capital of an equity company are owned, or when shares 

fall below such percentages, and reasons thereof 
 

Within the limitations determined in the Turkish Commercial Code, in 2018:  

 

 Changes occurred in participation rates of the financial fixed assets in which the Company directly participates, 

and reasons thereof: 
 

 

 

Direct Shareholding  

Ratio (%) 
Remarks 

  Trade Name of Partnership Owned 2018 2017  

Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd. (*) - 50.00 Dissolution 
  

(*) Procedures relating to the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd. registered in the Turkish 

Republic of Northern Cyprus, which is not in good standing at the moment, was started on 31 January 

2018 and the dissolution procedure was completed upon the announcement made in Annex V of the 

TRNC's Official Gazette dated 11 June 2018 and numbered 89. The dissolution procedure was approved 

on 4 July 2018 by the Official Collection and Recordership Office of TRNC. 

 

 Changes occurred in participation rates of the financial fixed assets in which the Company indirectly 

participates, and reasons thereof:  
 

 

 

Active Shareholding  

Ratio (%) 
Remarks 

  Trade Name of Partnership Owned 2018 2017  

Monrol Poland LTD - 83.99 (1) 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. - 45.31 (2) 
 

(1) All shares of Monrol Poland LTD operating in Poland were sold and transferred to Synektik S.A. on 26 

March 2018.  
 

(2) Pursuant to Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş.'s decision of the Board of Directors dated 

15 March 2018, its activities under the Law No. 6331 on Occupational Health and Safety were stopped 

and its operations were terminated. Accordingly, Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Ortak 

Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. decided on a simplified merger, and the merger was registered on 31 

October 2018. 
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY ACTIVITIES OF ECZACIBAŞI GROUP 
 

The views defended and implemented throughout his life by Dr. Nejat F. Eczacıbaşı, the founder of the Group, 

constitute the fundamental social responsibility principles and traditions of the Group. 

 

As Eczacıbaşı Group, our primary responsibilities include contributing to the development of the communal living 

in the fields of culture, art, education, science, and sports. We provide our social services through the 

organizations that we directly incorporate or in the company and management of which we play an active role. 

 

As Eczacıbaşı Group, we have led many organizations and projects to make social responsibility awareness be 

recognized and popularized in Turkey, since our incorporation in 1942. We plan and implement our activities in 

the field of corporate social responsibility by attaching importance to the issues of "creativity", "sustainability", 

and "compliance with the corporate identity". 

 

One of the primary responsibilities of the Corporate Communications Group Department is to ensure that the 

social responsibility projects we develop reflect the values of the Group and are handled with an integrated 

approach. As Eczacıbaşı Group, we support our employees in becoming volunteers in the appropriate social 

activities they will take part in with the social responsibility awareness. Accordingly, it is essential that our 

employees get information and approval from the Corporate Communications Unit regarding the social 

responsibility projects they will develop. 

 

All of the social responsibility activities carried out by our Group are detailed at 

https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility. 

 

Policy of Relations with Society and External Organizations 

As a company having corporate social responsibility, our Company: 

 Will oversee the compliance with the laws and the codes of conduct as a prerequisite for its relations with the 

society and external organizations as for all of its relations with its stakeholders;  

 Will collaborate with the local community and with broader segments of the society where necessary by using 

the working opportunities to provide mutual benefit;  

 And will effectively benefit from the opportunities of collaboration with external organizations in line with its 

principle of constant and mutual development. 

 

Participation in Education and Training Activities 

Our Company helps and provides resources to assignments and researches of university students who have such 

demand. It donates computers and peripheral equipment within the scope of information technologies to various 

educational and training institutions. Our Company provides an internship opportunity and gives support to 

vocational high school and university students. 

 

Support to Sports and Entertainment Activities 

Eczacıbaşı Sports Club, to which our Company makes a contribution, has become champion and achieved success 

for many time at home and on abroad, and has played a big role for the development and promotion of Turkish 

sports. In order to cause sports to be loved and sports culture and ethics to be adopted, the volleyball school for 

girls is in service under the leadership of Eczacıbaşı Sports Club.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility
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SUSTAINABILITY ACTIVITIES OF ECZACIBAŞI GROUP 
 

Eczacıbaşı Group has adopted a holistic sustainability approach that focuses on balancing the business world and 

the needs of human life with the sustainability of natural resources. The Group interprets sustainability as the 

development of economic, social and environmental capital in a balance and develops its sustainability practices in 

this direction. 

 

Sustainable development, which can be described as an effective growth strategy for the business world, offers a 

wide variety of opportunities to make a difference in competition by focusing on sustainability in innovation. The 

concept of sustainability occupies an important place on the agenda of international organizations, the business 

world, governments, and civil society around the world. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Group, which is a member of the Business World and Sustainable Development Association, is among 

the organizations that signed the United Nations Global Compact. 

 

Sustainability Strategy of Eczacıbaşı Group 

 

Eczacıbaşı Group adopts, based on its awareness of respect for the society and environment, sustainable 

development principles with a holistic view from production to marketing activities, from human resources to 

logistics. The Group intends to carry out planning from today to the future with its economic, environmental and 

social dimensions within the framework of its holistic sustainable development approach. In this context, the 

Group carries on its voluntary works to integrate the products, services, brands, fields of activity, business 

processes and technology use. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Group has pioneered in this field by adopting the goal of reflecting its sustainability approach upon all 

business processes and personal life preferences. The Sustainability Working Groups, established with a view to 

creating a Group inventory on sustainability, making a global positioning and deepening works in this regard on 

the basis of the sectors in which the Group has operations, also aim to build awareness and knowledge throughout 

the Group in order to ensure that resources are used effectively for the "sustainable success" of the Group. 

Organizations that are part of the Group monitor various data in several fields, especially the metrics such as 

occupational health and safety and equality of opportunities at environmental sustainability and social 

sustainability in the form of quarterly indicators in a manner consistent with a special reporting technique 

specified, and convey such data to the central reporting system. Such data is reviewed on a periodic and annual 

basis and evaluated with a view to creating improvement plans to be targeted in future years. Accordingly, the 

identification of appropriate parameters within the scope of sustainability, the measurement and monitoring of the 

organization's activities, the planning of improvements, and the sharing and increasing of the best practice 

examples in sustainable development efforts are encouraged. 

 

The activities of Eczacıbaşı Group in the field of sustainable development since 2006 when the Group signed the 

United Nations Global Compact are detailed out in reports of the Group. Starting from 2010, the Group publishes 

in its Sustainability Reports the consolidated energy consumption and carbon emission data for which assurance 

study is conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent audit firm. Eczacıbaşı is the first ever organization 

conducting such a study in Turkey on a group basis. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Group's sustainability efforts are managed under the leadership of the CEO of the Group and under the 

direct responsibility of the CEO. 

 

All of the sustainability activities carried out by our Group are detailed at https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-

responsibility/sustainable. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility/sustainable
https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/en/social-responsibility/sustainable
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Assessment of the activities of 1st January - 31st December 2018 period 
 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar has a kind of holding structure, and it is active in the following 

sectors with its affiliate companies, business partnerships and subsidiaries included within this consolidated 

structure. Accordingly, the explanations by the Company under this item are made based on the sectors in which it 

is active, and the details of the organizations, active in these sectors, by the markets are as follows: 

 

Sector/Market of Activity Trade Name of the Company 

 

Healthcare Sector 

Reference and generic pharmaceuticals market EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 

  Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 

Hospital products market  Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ür. San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (i) 

Biological and biotechnological products market Eczacıbaşı-Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (ii) 

Nuclear medicine sector  Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. 

  Monrol Europe SRL 

  Monrol Poland LTD (iii) 

  Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC 

  Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E) 

  Monrol Bulgaria LTD 

  Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nuclear Products Industry & Trade Co - Jordan 

  Monrol MENA LTD 

  Monrol Gulf DMCC 

  HSM Consulting LTD 

Healthcare services  Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. (iv) 

  Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. (iv) 

 

Real Estate Activities 

Kanyon   (v) 

The Project Ormanada 

Real estate development  Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 

 

Other 

Ceramic coating market  Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

Exporting services   Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 

 
  

i)    During its Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting held on January 31st, 2017, it was decided to legally 

initiate the liquidation process of the company under the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code; and its 

trade name was registered as “Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.” 

on February 6th, 2017. 
 

ii)    During the meeting of our Company's Board of Directors dated February 1, 2019, in accordance with its 

assessment regarding the acquisition of Shire Plc, the principal shareholder of Baxalta GmbH that is the other 

shareholder holding 50% shares in Eczacıbaşı Shire that is our affiliate company in which we hold 50% 

shares, by Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited on January 8, 2019; it resolved to initiate the required 

legal process and to hold meetings regarding the transfer of our 50% shares in Eczacıbaşı Shire to Baxalta 

GmbH, which is our contractual right pursuant to the Shareholders' Agreement dated January 25, 2016 due to 

the change of control in Baxalta GmbH. 
 

iii) All of Monrol Poland LTD's shares were sold and transferred to Synektik S.A. on 26 March 2018. 
 

iv)   Pursuant to Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş.'s decision of the Board of Directors dated 15 

March 2018, its activities under the Law No. 6331 on Occupational Health and Safety were stopped and its 

operations were terminated. Accordingly, Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve 

Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. decided on a simplified merger, and the merger was registered on 31 October 2018. 
  

v)    This means entire Kanyon Office Block and the half of Shopping Center. 
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Analysis and assessment of the management regarding the financial status and operation 

results, the degree of realization of the planned operations, the Company's status in terms 

of the set strategic goals 
 

Turkey started the first quarter of 2018 with great growth and achieved a growth rate of 7.3%.  Following the 

strong growth performance of our economy during the first two quarters, the annual growth rate fell short of the 

expectations and decreased to 1.6% in the third quarter. This decline in the growth was caused significantly by the 

fluctuations in financial markets started in August and the reflection of the strict position in monetary policies 

upon the consumption and investment expenditures. 

 

Many adverse events such as the protective policies increased due to the trade wars between the USA and China, 

the tightening actions taken by FED, and the uncertainties of England regarding Brexit process were the 

significant factors that affected the global economy along with the national economy in 2018. The reasons such as 

the trade wars, the weak demand environment in Eurozone, and the indicators of the slowdown in the Chinese 

economy increased the downside risks for the global growth in 2019 forecasts. The uncertainty caused by the 

ongoing trade disputes between the USA and China continues affecting also many firms performing production on 

a global scale. The global slowdown that started in the second half of 2018 and that still continues affects also the 

financial markets. 

 

Existing developments in the Turkish and global economy had also an impact upon operations of our affiliates. 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar has a diversified portfolio in terms of business fields and geography. 

It completed its activities in 2018 with a net profit for the period of TL 240,119 thousand. 

 

In Turkey that is the 16th largest pharmaceuticals market in the world with an annual sales volume exceeding TL 

20 billion today, the pharmaceuticals market showed an increase of about 5.5% based on package and of about 

20% based on average price in 2018. There are 4 main factors that contributed to the growth in the market in 2018. 

These are the volume in the existing portfolio, price increases, introduction of new products to the portfolio, and 

changes in the sales distribution. In February 2018, the exchange rate determining the drug prices increased by 

about 15% and additionally, a discount improvement to increase the price of non-discounted products by 2.5% and 

to increase the price of discounted products by 2.5% was made as of May 31st. 

 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama saw a growth in sales of about 18% in 2018. Its activities to enrich its domestic 

portfolio with new and innovative products for the upcoming period are ongoing. In addition to its operations in 

2018, Eczacıbaşı Monrol, specialized in nuclear medicine, will continue to develop with new products and 

services in the future. Establishing and operation of new manufacturing plants abroad with international business 

partnerships to be made and presenting service projects at home/abroad are among its strategic targets. 

 

Due to the increase encountered in the exchange rate in the second half of 2018; under the Presidential Decree on 

Amendment to the Decree No. 32 on Protection of the Value of Turkish Currency, dated 12 September 2018 and 

numbered 85 which entered into force upon its publication on the Official Gazette dated 13 September 2018, and 

the Communiqué on the Decree No. 32 on Protection of the Value of Turkish Currency, the rental contracts in 

foreign currency were converted into TL in accordance with the principles set forth by the regulations. A 

slowdown was observed in the leasing processes in the food-beverage sector the rental amounts and decoration 

costs of which were higher compared to the retailers in the other sectors.  

 

Some retailers set certain "turnover/rental" targets and put into practice their decision to close nonproductive 

stores. This optimization process is expected to continue also in 2019. In addition, it is expected that due to the 

foreseen gradual decrease in the number of projects of new shopping centers to be opened in the upcoming years, 

the releasing processes for the existing shopping centers and the renovation processes in the old shopping centers 

will hold their place on the agenda also in the upcoming years. The office leasing operations performed in 2018 

were caused generally by the fact that the companies shrunk their operations and decreased the number of their 

employees, as well as their cost-oriented targets such as increasing the yield and decreasing the rental by 

decreasing the space per person. 

 

Kanyon Shopping Center and Office Block increased its turnover and the number of its visitors, in comparison to 

the previous years, despite the decreased consumer confidence due to the economic developments encountered in 

2018 in addition to the challenges in the retail sector and the office leasing operations. 

 



Activities in
Health Sector
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EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama is engaged in the promotion, marketing, sales and distribution of reference and 

generic pharmaceuticals and non-prescription products that it imports and produces by way of subcontracting in 

cooperation with international companies in the pharmaceutical sector.  
 

Carrying on marketing activities primarily in the pharmaceuticals sector with its imported reference product 

portfolio, EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama has the products of Baxter, Sanofi-Aventis, Chugai-Sanofi Aventis, P&G, 

Astellas, Sandoz, Galderma, Sigma-Tau, Almirall, Tillots, Aspen, Kampotu, Biogaia, Chiesi, Abdi İbrahim and 

Juvise in its product portfolio. Generic products have also a significant place in the portfolio of EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç 

Pazarlama. According to the accumulated IMS (International Medical Statistics) data of December 2018 period, 

while the Turkish pharmaceutical market grew by 25.8% and domestic markets where EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç 

Pazarlama has operations grew (Urology, Dermatology, Oncology, Gastroenterology, Respiration, Pain, Anti-

Infective, Anesthesia, Nutrition, Surgery) by 17.9% based on TL, EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama recorded a growth 

of 18.8%. 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama continues its studies to add CE-certified medical devices, cosmetic products, and free 

priced products from food supplements to its product range besides its reference and generic pharmaceuticals 

portfolio. 
 

The cooperative activities are continued to increase the number of new product contracts and innovative products in 

the upcoming period, and also to meet the demands of patients with rare diseases. 
 

The main factors affecting the performance of EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama are as follows: 
 

 The reference price system applied by the Ministry of Health, the Euro Value which is used for the conversion of 

TL and of which calculation method was explained by the Cabinet Decree, and the drug budget application 

managed by the Social Security Institution, 
 

 The registration process of the Ministry of Health, 
 

 The condition of GMP (“Good Manufacturing Practices”) for the imported products for which a licensing 

application will be lodged or that are under the registration process, and the extension of the licensing process 

accordingly, 
 

 The entry speed of the registered products in the reimbursement lists of the Social Security Institution (“SSI”), 
 

 The compulsory public institution discounts of SSI. 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama includes the free priced products, for which permission can be obtained fast such as 

cosmetics, medical devices for personal use and food supplements, in its portfolio and tries to mitigate the effect of 

those factors with an impact upon its performance. Another challenging factor for companies with operations in this 

sector, especially those importing products, is importing products at high foreign exchange rates in view of high 

exchange rates while applying fixed rates determined by the Ministry of Health to medication prices. 
 

Apart from free priced cosmetics, medical devices for personal use and supplements, the prices of the drugs, 

whether prescribed/non-prescribed or reimbursed/non-reimbursed, sold by EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama are 

determined according to the price decree of the Ministry of Health. The prices of the reimbursed drugs are converted 

into TL with the Euro exchange rate, determined by the Ministry of Health, based on the lowest price (prices of the 

importing country and releasing country are also taken into account in addition to five countries in the case of 

imported products) of the drug in the five reference countries in the European Union. According to the decision of 

the Council of Ministers relating to pricing of medicinal products for human use, 1 (one) Euro value in Turkish Lira 

to be used for drug pricing is determined by multiplying it with the rounding coefficient calculated as 70% of the 

previous year's daily Euro foreign exchange rate sale average. The said Euro value is declared in the first 45 days 

and enters into force 5 days after the announcement of the decision in case of an increase in comparison to the 

previous year or 45 days after the announcement of the decision in case of a decrease in comparison to the previous 

year. The Euro value was applied in 2016 as TL 2.1166 (to take effect as of 22 February 2016), and in 2017 as TL 

2.3421 (to take effect as of 20 February 2017). And the Euro value to be used for 2018 as at 20 February 2018 was 

updated under a new decree as TL 2.6934. 
 

Upon the Amendment to the Decree on Prices of Medicinal Products for Human Use published on the Official 

Gazette dated 25 May 2018, an increase of 2.5% was equally made so as to be applied until the expiry date of the 

periodical Euro value of 2019 for the products the reference price of which were not followed up; and in accordance 

with the provisions of the Resolution of the Healthcare Services Pricing Commission and of the Health 
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Implementation Communiqué, it was decided to improve the discount ratios in such a way to result in a price 

increase of 2.5% for the discounted drugs the price of which was covered by the Institution and the sales price to 

storehouse of which was higher than TL 9.31 (included). 
 

For 2019, an amendment was made to the Drug Price Decree and the practice to apply 70% of the previous year's 

average as the increase rate in determining the periodic Euro value was changed and this rate was decreased to 60%. 

Accordingly, the update of the rate to apply as of 19 February 2019 was determined based on 60% of the average 

Euro value of the previous year. According to the Amendment to the Decree on Prices of Medicinal Products for 

Human Use published on the Official Gazette dated 14 February 2019 and numbered 30686, the Euro value to be 

used in the pricing of medicinal products for human use in 2019 was increased from TL 2.6934 to TL 3.4037. 
 

The sales conditions are formed depending on the compulsory public institution discount applied by the government, 

as well as the market conditions. During the fierce competition periods, limited campaigns are organized and the 

sale is supported by providing additional commercial benefits to customers. 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama has no production operations and import its products or have contract manufacturing 

performed. However, "localization studies" in pharmaceuticals have been gradually started in order to reach the 

target of meeting 60% of domestic pharmaceutical requirement with local production, which is a main target of the 

10. Development Plan and the Structural Transformation Program Action Plan in Healthcare Industries. In 

localization studies which are divided into a sum of five stages, there were products that were positively affected in 

the first stage. We have one product affected by the second stage and efforts for localization have already been 

kicked off. In the third stage, besides our positively affected products, there were negatively affected imported 

products and comprehensive studies are ongoing for the transformation of these products into domestic production. 
 

As EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama have its imported products registered in Turkey, it does not have any R&D 

activities. However, studies are conducted related to molecules in Phase III within the scope of the business 

development activities. Incentives are not used. 
 

It is estimated that the financial structure will be improved by concluding contracts for unrivaled and high priced 

new products, adding high free priced products with a market potential to the portfolio, and by rapidly assessing co-

marketing and license transfer options. 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama has no employees who are members of any trade union. The rights and benefits 

provided to the personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group and it has 375 

employees in total as of 31st December 2018 (31st December 2017: 451). The organization reassessed the 

profitability and business processes of the products the sales and marketing of which was continued by it within the 

year and made some changes in its product portfolio. It realized organizational changes in accordance with the 

changes in the portfolio and its number of employees became 375 within the framework of this new structure. The 

headquarters of EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama, where it manages all of its personnel, is in Levent/Istanbul. Together 

with other cities having their employees, the company carries on business all over Turkey. 
 

 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş.  
 

The main scope of activity of Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret is importing, exporting and domestic wholesale trade of 

pharmaceuticals, pharmaceutical raw materials and preparations within the scope of the current import and export 

regimes. However, the company is not in good standing or has no employees at the moment. 
 

 

Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 
 

Having 50% shares of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri, Baxter Group announced that it finalized the 

restructuring of its business lines of medical products and biotechnology products under two different and 

independent healthcare organizations as Baxter and Baxalta, and made application to the Competition Board on 

October 19th, 2015 in order to get permission for the operations to be made in parallel with this. The Competition 

Board granted approval for the mentioned application during its meeting held on December 2nd, 2015. 
 

Within the scope of all of these developments, Eczacıbaşı-Baxalta Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. was 

established on December 7th, 2015 with the capital of TL 50 thousand and within the partnership of Eczacıbaşı İlaç, 

Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar (50%) and Baxalta GmbH (50%) in order to be engaged in “importation, manufacture, 

marketing, distribution and exportation of any medical product including products produced from human blood and 

recombinant products used in treatment of rare diseases encountered in the areas of hematology, hemophilia, 
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immunology and oncology”, and went on operation on February 1st, 2016. The trade name of the company was 

registered as Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. on January 26th, 2017 following the acquisition 

of Baxalta by Shire Pharmaceuticals on a global scale.  
 

During the meeting of the Board of Directors of Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar dated February 1, 

2019, in accordance with its assessment regarding the acquisition of Shire Plc, the principal shareholder of Baxalta 

GmbH that is the other shareholder holding 50% shares in Eczacıbaşı Shire that is its affiliate company in which it 

holds 50% shares, by Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited on January 8, 2019; it resolved to initiate the 

required legal process and to hold meetings regarding the transfer of its 50% shares in Eczacıbaşı Shire to Baxalta 

GmbH, which is its contractual right pursuant to the Shareholders' Agreement dated January 25, 2016 due to the 

change of control in Baxalta GmbH. 
 

Eczacıbaşı Shire carries out business in immunology and hematology treatment fields regarding biotechnological 

products. According to the accumulated prescription market IMS data as of December 2018, Eczacıbaşı Shire has a 

market share of 29% in Hematology treatment field, which represents a growth of 37% compared to the previous 

year. In the field of immunology, another field of treatment, its market share is 18%, and its growth rate compared to 

a year ago is 57%. According to IMS data, the treatment areas in which Eczacıbaşı Shire is active (hemophilia, 

immunology) have shown an annual growth in value of 40% in the prescription channel in 2016-2018. 
 

The sales prices of the products are determined according to the price decree and communiqué of the Ministry of 

Health. The prices of the reimbursed drugs are converted into TL at the Euro exchange rate, determined by the 

Ministry of Health, based on the lowest price of the drug in the 7 reference countries and by considering the decree 

and the communiqué. The sales conditions are formed depending on the compulsory public institution discounts 

ratios applied by SSI as well as the market conditions.  
 

Eczacıbaşı Shire does not have local manufacturing activity. The products are manufactured in Austria and imported 

from Baxalta GmBH. Eczacıbaşı Shire does not have any R&D activity in Turkey. Incentives are not used. 
 

Eczacıbaşı Shire has 76 employees as of December 31st, 2018 (December 31st, 2017: 82). There are no collective 

labor agreements in force. All of the employees are white-collar employees and work based on a gross salary 

system. Benefits such as private health and life insurance are offered to employees. Eczacıbaşı Shire does not have 

any organizational unit apart from its headquarters. 
 

 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. 
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler is active as a radiopharmaceuticals manufacturer in the pharmaceutical sector. 

There are three competitors operating in Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) market that accounts for 39% of 2018 domestic 

sales and the organization is the leader of the FDG market with a turnover market share of 47.60%.   
 

In SPECT product group corresponding to 23% of 2018 consolidated sales, the organization performs exportation to 

31 countries apart from the domestic market. The biggest export markets of the organization are Egypt and Algeria 

followed by Pakistan and India. Other than FDG and SPECT product groups, Eczacıbaşı-Monrol performs also the 

sales of FDG plant installation and operation projects in the nearby geography. 
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler predicts that it will continue its domestic growth realized to date, with its 

investments made, also with its investments and business partnerships performed at home and abroad. In addition, 

establishing and operation of new manufacturing plants abroad with international business partnerships to be made 

and presenting service projects at home/abroad are among the strategic targets. In line with this strategy, it is 

planned that both the geographic coverage zone and the product portfolio will be expanded and thus the 

development will be accelerated.  
 

The performance of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler also depends on the development of the local and foreign 

markets and on the healthcare policies applied. The public payment terms are an important factor at home, and both 

the inclusion of the products in reimbursement and the terms of reimbursement directly affect the performance of the 

organization. In order to improve the financial structure of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler the incurred 

financing expenses of which are high due to its investments, the operating cash and the number of days sales in 

receivables as well as market conditions are regularly monitored, and precautions are taken for delays in payments. 

The finance sources of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler are its capital, the investments received and the working 

capital loan.  
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Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler provides products and services with its dealer network at home and with its 

dealers and directly by itself on abroad. It has a sales and distribution network consisting of 7 dealers in Turkey and 

40 points of sale in 31 countries. The dealer risks are managed with contracts and guarantees of certain amounts are 

received additionally. The feasibility analyses and investment performance monitoring are regularly performed for 

the risks related to the investments.  
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler has 8 active manufacturing plant in Gebze, Ankara, Adana, Izmir and Istanbul 

in Turkey and in Egypt, Romania, Poland, and Bulgaria. The manufacture amount increased by about 9% in FDG 

product groups compared to the same period of the previous year, and it decreased in SPECT product groups due to 

the competition both in the domestic and the export markets. 
 

Research and Development activities 
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler conducts development activities in terms of new products. The R&D activities 

performed with the sources of the organization are directly targeted to add a new product in the portfolio and to 

develop the existing products. The R&D activities conducted with the international organizations (“IAEA”) are the 

activities increasing knowledge, quality, and productivity. In addition, the R&D studies for reference and innovative 

products are conducted with Turkish universities within the scope of Santez projects. 
 

In 2018, it has been observed that radiopharmaceuticals are in a tendency to be intended not only for diagnosis but 

also for treatment (theranostic) in the international market and literature, and 2 new product development studies 

have been kicked off in the R&D Department Gebze Plant in line with strategic targets. These products are those 

used in the diagnosis and treatment of different types of cancer. Apart from such projects, new product development 

studies addressing the Cold Kit group were started in 2017 in Gebze plant, and they were approved by TUBITAK-

TEYDEB Directorate in December 2018. With the localization of these products that are in line with the vision of 

the organization, it is aimed to strengthen the position of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol among the global actors by becoming 

one of the leading manufacturers of the world and to make Turkey become a center for the region. 
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler has five branches in total as one each in Ankara, Adana, and Izmir, and two in 

Istanbul apart from its headquarters. Its Antalya branch was closed in April to increase operational efficiency. All 

shares of Monrol Poland LTD operating in Poland were sold and transferred to Synektik S.A. on 26 March 2018 in 

line with optimization targets. 
 

Its affiliate companies and their share percentages are given on the following table.  

 

Country Name of Affiliate Company Shareholding Structure % 

Romania Monrol Europe SRL Eczacıbaşı-Monrol                     100.00 

Egypt Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC 
Eczacıbaşı-Monrol                    
Monrol Europe SRL                 

99.80 

  0.20 

Egypt Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E) 
HSM Consulting LTD 

Natural Persons 

75.00 

25.00 

Bulgaria Monrol Bulgaria LTD Eczacıbaşı-Monrol                   100.00 

Jordan 
Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nuclear Products Industry & 

Trade Co-Jordan 
Eczacıbaşı-Monrol                  100.00 

Dubai Monrol MENA LTD Eczacıbaşı-Monrol                   100.00 

Dubai Monrol Gulf DMCC 
Monrol MENA LTD                 

Mohd & Obaid Al Mulla LLC  
80.00 

20.00 

Dubai HSM Consulting LTD Monrol MENA LTD 100.00 

 

There is not any collective contract application in Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler, and there is the application 

of annual performance bonus and private health insurance in addition to the rights of personnel and workers 

indicated in the laws in force and in the regulations. It has 214 employees in total as of December 31st, 2018 

(December 31st, 2017: 204). 
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Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş.  

 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri carries on business in the healthcare sector in the field of providing nursing, physician, 

therapy services at home, remote healthcare monitoring, providing medical devices to administer required treatments 

to patients.  

 

As a result of a circular published by the Ministry of Health in March 2016 related to the disease management, 

which is one of the most important service areas of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri, the product range of the company 

was narrowed and such narrowing is predicted to continue also in future periods. 

 

The main factors affecting the performance of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri are as follows: 
 

 Changes in economic macro indicators (budgetary savings of the drug companies being an important customer 

segment in the service area of Disease Management, the problem of some patients receiving service at home to 

get support from unqualified healthcare personnel with less cost), 
 

 The problems encountered in recruiting nurses who form the biggest section among the employees. 

 

The prices and the conditions of the services provided by Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri are primarily determined in 

the new year mainly according to the market conditions, survive all the year round, and are determined again in the 

following period. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri is a service organization. It does not have any production and R&D activity. 

 

The main finance source of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri is the collection of the services provided to the patients and 

the drug companies. In order to reduce the collection risk, it is tried to collect the price of the provided service in 

cash as far as possible. As the organization does not have any debt in foreign exchange, it is not subject to any 

exchange rate risk.  

 

During the General Assembly Meeting of Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri held on 14 August 2018, it has been resolved 

to increase its existing capital of TL 1,500 thousand to TL 37,500 thousand by covering the entire amount in cash, 

and it has been registered on 15 August 2018. 

 

There is no collective labor agreement practice in Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri. The rights and benefits provided to 

the personnel are in parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group and it has 160 employees in 

total as of 31st December 2018 (31st December 2017: 223). It does not have any organizational unit apart from its 

headquarters. 

 

 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş.  
 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. was established in 2013 as a fully owned subsidiary of Eczacıbaşı 

Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. Operating in the field of securing occupational health at workplaces, the company's Board of 

Directors, with its decision dated 15 March 2018, resolved to stop its activities under the Law No. 6331 on 

Occupational Health and Safety and to terminate its operations.  

 

During the General Assembly Meeting of Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. held on 14 August 2018, 

it was resolved to increase its existing capital of TL 1,200 thousand to TL 24,500 thousand by covering the entire 

amount in cash, and it was registered on 16 August 2018. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. was merged with Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. under a 

simplified merger on 31 October 2018. 
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Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (Eczacıbaşı-Baxter) 

 

Due to the decision that the serum operations would not be included within the portfolio of Baxter Turkey in the 

near future in accordance with the global restructuring decision of Baxter Group made on 27th March 2014 and 

within the framework of the constant reassessment related to the serum therapy strategies of Baxter, and in parallel 

with these developments; the necessity arose to limit and adopt the fields of activity of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter and the 

manufacturing was terminated by assessing all of the studies conducted, and the liquidation process of the company 

was legally initiated in accordance with the provisions of the Commercial Code. 

 

Pursuant to the decision of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter to gradually terminate its production activities in the IV serum 

production facilities, where it still carried out its activities and which was owned by Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar, until 31st December 2016; a Rental Contract was concluded on 18th October 2016 with Koçak 

related to letting serum production facilities be used. The lease contract was revised with a new amount equal to TL 

350 thousand as of January 1st, 2018 and the lease term ended as of December 31st, 2018. Due to the fact that land 

including the leased production facilities is situated in the Urban Transformation Area of Ayazağa, Cendere Valley, 

no further long-term lease contract can be concluded with Koçak and the demands for extension of the term are 

assessed on a monthly basis within the current process. 

 

The serum production activities of in Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri was gradually terminated and during its 

Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting held on 31st January 2017, it was decided to legally initiate the liquidation 

process of the company under the provisions of the Commercial Code. 

 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri has no employees as of 31st December 2018 (31st December 2017: 0). Due to the 

finalization of the manufacture on June 30th, 2016 and the initiation of the liquidation of the company on February 

6th, 2017, the employment contracts of the employees were terminated by paying all their rights and obligations. As 

it has entered a liquidation phase, the company does not have any organizational unit apart from its headquarters. 



Real Estate
Activities
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Kanyon Office Block and Shopping Center 

 

The shopping centers ("SC") and retail sector is a recent fast-growing sector in our country and the competition is 

gradually becoming difficult in this sector. Contrary to Europe, the SC culture and the demand for SCs continue to 

increase every passing day in Turkey as is the case with the Far East and Asia the population of which increases 

rapidly.  

 

As of 2018, there are 145 SCs in Istanbul and there are 448 SCs in total and a leasable area of 13.3 million m2 in 

Turkey. It is estimated that in 2023, there will be 475 SCs and a total leasable area of 15 million m2 in Turkey and 

that their total turnover will be TL 200 billion. 

 

According to the report issued by Cushman & Wakefield, while Russia is the largest shopping center market with 

17.7 million m2 in Europe, it is followed by Poland with 9.2 million m2 and by Turkey with 8.3 million m2. 

 

Compared to the other SCs in the region, Kanyon is different with its architecture, location and physical 

environment offering different experiences as well as its operation, unique prize activities, use of chatbot, artificial 

intelligence, and digital technology, and particularly with its chef restaurants and brands. The trends observed 

throughout the market are as follows:  
 

 The opening of a large number of new shopping centers targeting the same audience, 
 

 The effort to moving away from the traditional shopping center concept and emphasizing entertainment 

elements in SC, 
 

 The increasing selectiveness of customers, 
 

 The expectation of a more quality and larger brand diversity, 
 

 The competition of shopping with other activities in terms of free time, 
 

 New structures constructed as environmentally-conscious and sustainable, 
 

 World-famous chain restaurants newly opened in rival shopping centers. 

 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar owns total office block composed of 26 floors and 50% of the SC at 

Kanyon which made a tremendous impact as the first outdoor shopping center project of Turkey both at home and in 

the overseas. 

 

Kanyon had repeatedly wide national and international media coverage with the foreign brands coming to Turkey 

for the first time such as Harvey Nichols, Daniel Wellington, Le Pain Quotidien, Cole Haan, and Lego Store as well 

as the brands such as MAC and Kitchenette that opened their doors first in Kanyon and became a strong chain.  

 

Awarded many prizes around the world, Kanyon regularly increases the interest in it and the number of its guests by 

increasing its service quality with the new systems it develops every year. Having added another to its awards in 

2018, Kanyon was awarded the Golden Prize in the Customer Service category thanks to Kanyon Whatsapp project 

in ICSC Solal Marketing Awards, an international reputable platform. 

 

Kanyon and Kanyon Office Building fulfilled the criteria of the international “BREEAM In-Use” certificate, 

commonly used in England and around the world, and was awarded the certificate in September 2012. In accordance 

with “BREEAM In-Use” criteria, Kanyon was awarded the “Excellent” certificate in building management for its 

material, energy, water, health-comfort, land use-ecology, waste management, and transportation. Among 192 

“BREEAM In-Use” certificates obtained up to now around the world, 15 of them are the excellent certificate in 

building management; and Kanyon and Kanyon Office Building has been the 16th in the world and the first in 

Turkey to have “excellent” certificate in the categories of the shopping center and office building. 

 

As a result of the assessments made in terms of design, building management and environmental performance in line 

with “BREAM” criteria applied for the buildings taken into operation; Kanyon achieved an important success by 

being the first commercial building in Turkey to obtain the “Extraordinary” certificate. Being the first commercial 

structure to obtain this certificate in Turkey in building management, Kanyon was granted with an award by 

outdistancing the other candidates in “BREEAM Retail In-Use” category for multi-usage buildings such as store, 

office, and residence, during the “BEST OF BREEAM 2016” award ceremony held in London. 
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Constantly realizing improvements with the studies such as obtaining ISO 14001 environmental management system 

certificate, taking cogeneration system into operation following the solar energy system of 100 panels, popularizing 

LED lighting, acoustic measurements and insulations, putting carbon filter in exhaust hood and cooperation with 

ITU (Istanbul Technical University) Energy Institute; Kanyon improved its “Excellent” certificate to 

“Extraordinary” certificate, as the top level in this area, and became the first commercial structure in Turkey to 

obtain this certificate in building management. 
 

At Kanyon, the store occupancy rate is %99, and the office occupancy rate is 83%. The studies are ongoing to 

strengthen the brand mix and to place the brands with high potential in Kanyon. The new brands are also given place 

by hiring trendy short-term pop-up stores and stands to attract attention.  
 

The main focuses in terms of marketing activities are events, advertising, public relations, digital marketing, social 

media applications, and customer relationship management activities. The marketing schedule is prepared to cover 

the whole year, to lead to increases in the number of guests and stores' turnover, to strengthen Kanyon's brand 

perception, and to surprise Kanyon guests with new trends and experiences.  
 

The advertisements are mainly designed according to the activities and the PR (“Public Relations”) opportunities are 

assessed by benefiting from the activities. The examples for these activities carried out to make shopping experience 

unforgettable include live performances, concerts, shows, cultural and art activities, events to develop children's 

knowledge and skills, fashion events strengthening fashion perception, and lifestyle events. Moreover, Kanyon is the 

leader of innovation by always keeping digital applications on its agenda. Under the CRM (“Customer Relationship 

Management”) studies, besides the e-bulletin regularly sent and the announcements made via SMS/e-mail in 

accordance with the authorized marketing law, these activities continue to further develop with Happy Calls, during 

which customers are called and given small surprises on their birthday, and with Kanyon ID, the project to know 

customers better. 
 

The new shopping centers opened in different regions increased the competition in the sector. Despite the increasing 

competition, Kanyon continues making difference and attracting a loyal customer group. The marketing plan is 

enriched against the increasing competition and economic fluctuations, and it is tried to increase the activities in this 

field by applying optimum stand lease costs. 
 

Within this market structure, the strengths and weaknesses of Kanyon can be summarized as follows: 
 

STRENGTHS WEAKNESSES 

Location  

(central location, easy transportation, subway connection and  

white-collar neighbor plaza employees) 

Unfavorable weather conditions in 

winter 

Different and modern architectural design Dense traffic 

An outdoor shopping, being preferred in summer due to weather conditions Perception of expensive 

Image and perception in guests' eyes, quality activities based on experiences Brand mix 

The density of entertainment, culture and art factors, its popular cinema and 

contemporary theatre 
 

Restaurants and cafes being the meeting point and the address for business 

meetings 
 

Active and original social media communication  

Strong partners, strong reputation  

CRM database  

OPPORTUNITIES THREATS 

New business centers and hotels opened in the immediate vicinity 
Competitors and  

SCs to be newly opened 

The increase of brand variety with pop-up stores and kiosks, new restaurants 

opened and stores where daily requirements can be met 
 

High-income region Economic and political uncertainties 

Increase in the number of domestic tourists caused by the increase in 

domestic travels rather than foreign travels due to the economic situation 
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Regarding the SC sector, due to the severe increase encountered in the exchange rate in the second half of 2018; 

under the Presidential Decree on Amendment to the Decree No. 32 on Protection of the Value of Turkish Currency, 

dated 12 September 2018 and numbered 85 which entered into force upon its publication on the Official Gazette 

dated 13 September 2018, and the Communiqué on the Decree No. 32 on Protection of the Value of Turkish 

Currency, the rental contracts in foreign currency were converted into TL in accordance with the principles set forth 

by the regulations. A slowdown was observed in the leasing processes in the food-beverage sector the rental 

amounts and decoration costs of which were higher compared to the retailers in the other sectors.  

 

It is required to set up the food-beverage areas, corresponding to about 40% of the shopping centers, according to 

the location and concept of the relevant shopping center and to the socio-economic class it addresses. The electronic 

stores, which closed their unproductive branches and underwent an optimization process based on products and 

square meters in the last two years, have shown a tendency to increase the number of their stores. In 2018, the retail 

turnover index in SCs showed an increase at a similar level with the inflation with 20.9 percent on average per 

annum.  

 

The developments encountered in the economy cause the retailers to take action deliberately for opening new shops 

and to rigorously assess the demands of shopping centers. The studies are ongoing to strengthen the brand mix with 

pop-up stores and periodic kiosks and to place the brands, having high potential to attract customers to Kanyon and 

to create traffic, in the place of the empty stores; and the gap in the brand mix has been removed. Kanyon increases 

its competitive power in terms of shopping with the new brands added to its brand mix. It is tried to constantly 

satisfy the retail trends and customer expectations with the addition of new brands to Kanyon brand mix and with 

concept changes made in stores of the existing brands. The inclusion of new brands is deemed positive by Kanyon 

visitors and has a positive impact on both shopping and the customer traffic and turnover of restaurants.  

 

Being one of the most successful representatives of the contemporary theatre in our country, Dot has performed the 

plays under the name "DotKanyon'da" since 2015 on the new stage in Kanyon Terrace. 
 

The first Lego Store in Turkey, HiFiMyFi, Samsung, Plus Kitchen, Pandora, Daniel Wellington, Şadan Saat, 

Sunglass Hut, and Supplementer.com brands have participated in its store mix in 2018. The brands such as Walters, 

Sadekar, and Habit are hosted at kiosks and Kanyon visitors are always made have different experiences. 

 

Related to social responsibility awareness, stand opportunities are provided to organizations such as WWF, Lösev, 

Greenpeace, etc. The revenues of the various events organized are donated to TOG. As the stores are considered as a 

very important stakeholder of Kanyon, any store activity to contribute to Kanyon image is supported. 

 

The updated Kanyon Mobile application makes Kanyon visitors' shopping more pleasant, easier and fun. The 

application makes it easier for visitors to know the up-to-date Kanyon events, to be informed about services, 

opportunities, and campaigns, and to follow the films and their sessions at Cinemaximum movie theaters in Kanyon 

and continues to communicate with visitors quickly and to offer services through constant enhancements.  

 

As of December 31st, 2018, the total rent income generated by Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar from 

Kanyon offices and shopping center was TL 83,663 thousand (December 31st, 2017: TL 75,537 thousand).  

 

Aiming to provide service of higher quality standards compared to the other shopping centers and office buildings, 

Kanyon has shown attention to maintain its quality-cost balance at optimum level since June 2006 without 

compromising its quality service standards for its services provided with its personnel (training, worker health, 

importance attached to occupational safety, healthcare services such as ambulance, hygiene audits, high level safety 

precautions, utilization of high technology devices). 

 

The effective budget and cost control was performed by revising the existing financial and technical information 

processing programs. Extending the maturity of payments made to vendors and shortening the collection processes 

are among the precautions planned. 
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Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş.  

 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım carries on business in real estate development and project 

management fields in the real estate sector; however, the company does not own any immovable property.  

 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım took part as a contractor in addition to project management in the 

Project Ormanada that is a co-investment of Eczacıbaşı Holding and Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar.  

 

The main factors affecting the performance of Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım are the investment 

decisions of its investors, to whom it provides service in real estate development, and the general condition of the 

sector. 

 

The operating revenue of Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım is gained from the service contracts and the 

projects of which management is undertaken. The revenue of 2018 comprised of the income derived from additional 

works conducted within the scope of the Project Ormanada and also sales, marketing and coordination service 

income, and land and project development services.  

 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım does not have projects, of which investor is itself, among the projects 

it conducted in 2018 and it did not use any incentive. 

 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım has 12 employees as of December 31st, 2018 (December 31st, 2017: 

12) and has no collective labor agreement contract practice. The rights and benefits provided to the personnel are in 

parallel with the human resources applications of Eczacıbaşı Group. Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım 

has a construction site office within the scope of the Project Ormanada apart from its headquarters. 

 

 

Ormanada: 

On December 31st, 2007, Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar purchased the half of 22 building plots equal 

to 196,409.74 m2 in total which were situated in Yorgancı Çiftliği Location, Uskumru Quarter of Sarıyer District. 

And the other half of them belongs to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. The construction of 90 thousand m2 in total was built 

on the mentioned real estates, and this project completed is mainly for residence purpose and it has partially 

commercial areas. The occupancy permits were obtained for all of the buildings (residence and commercial units). 

 

 In Ormanada which was designed in collaboration with Torti Gallas and Partners, Kreatif Mimarlık and Rainer 

Schmidt Landscape Architects having international knowledge and experience; the residences are of 170 to 700 

square meters and the unit sales price for the residences is TL 7.2 million to TL 10.4 million. 
 

 In Ormanada, there are 273 residences as 188 villas and 85 row houses; and there are 150 residences on the 1 st 

Phase and 123 residences on the 2nd Phase. The delivery of the residences on the first phase started as of April 

2013 and the delivery of the residences on the second phase started as of December 2013. 
 

 As of December 31st, 2018, 240 residences have been sold in total and rental income is generated from 23 of the 

existing residences. 

 

 

Other real estate development investments: 

 

Ayazağa, Cendere Valley, Urban Transformation Area 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar owns the plants and the administrative building in Ayazağa, where 

Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri conducted its manufacturing activities until the half of 2016; and it has rental 

income from these plants. The mentioned land is situated in the Urban Transformation Area of Ayazağa, Cendere 

Valley and Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri terminated its manufacturing activities in these plants on June 30th, 

2016. As a result of this decision of Eczacıbaşı-Baxter, a Lease Contract was concluded on October 18th, 2016 with 

Koçak related to letting out the said serum production facilities and the lease term ended on December 31st, 2018. 

Due to the fact that land including the leased production facilities is situated in the Urban Transformation Area of 

Ayazağa, Cendere Valley, no further long-term lease contract can be concluded with Koçak and the demands for 

extension of the term are assessed on a monthly basis within the current process. 
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On April 10th, 2015, our Company purchased all shares of Yeni Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş., having a border with the real 

estate which is located on Cendere road in Ayazağa location and which has the manufacturing plants still leased to 

Koçak. The "simplified merger" which involved "acquisition" by our company of Yeni Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. as a 

whole with all its assets and liabilities was approved with the decision number 31/1396 dated November 13 th, 2015 

of the Capital Markets Board and was registered in the Trade Register on December 7th, 2015. 

 

 

Other investments 

The summary of other investments made by Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar in the area of real estate 

development is presented in the table below: 

 

Date of Purchase Location Parcel 
Surface Area  

(m²) 

Purchase Price 

(Thousand TL) 

29.06.2015 Silivri 21 fields 265,930 16,425 

01.12.2015 Silivri No. 308 8,500 765 

01.03.2016 Silivri No. 1985 5,250 484 

07.06.2016 Silivri No. 2007 685,026 67,995 

   964,706 85,669 



Other
Activities
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Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.  

 

Vitra Karo is mainly engaged in the production of ceramic floor and wall tiles in Bozüyük facilities.  

 

Innovative products and maximum customer satisfaction have great importance under the fierce competition 

conditions where Vitra Karo carries on business. In this respect, the intense studies are conducted in terms of new 

product design and the new products are offered to the customers in the important fairs organized. In addition, the 

processes conducted in the organization are improved and developed in a way to increase customer satisfaction. 

 

According to the Sector Report of December 2018 prepared by the Association of Turkish Building Material 

Producers (Turkish IMSAD), due to the problems encountered in the construction sector, the growth significantly 

decelerated in the second quarter of the year and was realized as 1%. On the other hand, the growth of the 

construction sector reversed in the third quarter of 2018 and the construction sector shrunk by 5.3%. During the first 

nine months of the year, the construction sector grew by 0.8% (September 2017: 9.7%). It is estimated that the 

shrinkage continued also during the last quarter of the year and that the construction sector closed 2018 with 

shrinkage. 

 

During the third quarter of the year, the growth performance of the construction sector negatively separated from the 

general growth performance of the economy. Despite the economic growth, the construction sector experienced a 

significant shrinkage, unlike the other sectors. 

 

The real estate sector showed a growth of 2.3% in the third quarter of 2018. Upon the revision of the growths in the 

first and second quarters of the year as 3.4% and 0.2%, the growth of the real estate sector in the first nine months of 

the year was realized as 2% (September 2017: 2.5%). Despite the growth of the economy and in the real estate 

sector, the construction sector shrunk by 5.3% in the third quarter. 

 

In Germany and France that are among the strategic markets of Vitra Karo, the growth trend continued compared to 

the previous year. The German market showed a growth of 12.2% and the French market grew by 7.6%. The main 

reason for the growth is the Whole Distribution Channel. In Russia being another strategic market, a growth of 

24.6% was realized compared to the previous year with a performance exceeding the budget. 

 

The Mosaic Tile Factory, originally established in Tuzla, Istanbul, was moved to Bozüyük Factory Campus, and 

thus the relocation of all factories in Turkey to the same campus is expected to make a positive contribution also to 

efficiency. Due to the high realizations in the exchange rate encountered particularly before the last quarter, the raw 

material purchase costs showed an increase higher than the expectations. Although it was tried to eliminate this 

situation by turning towards replacement materials, the production costs were realized beyond expectations. 

Likewise, due to the effect of the high exchange rate, energy costs increased and became one of the main reasons for 

the increase in production costs. On the other hand, positive developments were encountered in the operating results 

with the controlled expenses in operating costs, savings measures, and the positive effects of the exchange rate on 

exportation, and accordingly, a part of the negative effect on costs could be compensated.  

 

The majority of the sales of Vitra Karo are performed to foreign markets. Most of its purchases are sourced 

domestically. Its financial expenses include also the exchange rate effect of the foreign currency-based loans and the 

positive or negative changes in exchange rates have a direct effect on its financial results. Due to the domestic 

market conditions and the competition, the cost increase cannot be directly reflected on the prices and this 

negatively affects the operating results. 

 

The productivity and production increase projects are conducted in its manufacturing plants abroad and the studies 

are conducted in order to increase the company’s performance in the upcoming periods by concentrating more on 

the foreign market. The company also conducts studies on reducing the costs by simplifying the manufacturing 

process, on gaining cost advantage through the effective use of the sources in the supply chain, and on reducing the 

number of products with low profitability by canalizing the products with high profitability in the sales portfolio. 

 

Vitra Karo's product portfolio has a wide product range in terms of sizes. Together with its subsidiaries on abroad, 

the organization still has a manufacturing capacity of 32-34 million m2 depending on the variety of product size and 

a capacity usage ratio of 90-95% accordingly. Every year, it starts the manufacturing of about 8-10 new products. 
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Obtained for the activation of the revision of 10th kiln line in Bozüyük, the investment incentive certificate, of TL 

4.7 million and with number 117194 dated 23rd December 2014, was approved by the Ministry and the acquisitions 

within the scope of the certificate are ongoing and the certificate's expiry date, which is November 25th, 2017, has 

been revised as May 27th, 2019. 

 

More than half of the December 2018 sales of Vitra Karo are comprised of foreign sales. As the majority of its 

revenue is foreign exchange revenue, it covers also its financing requirements from foreign-currency loans. In 

addition, the organization benefits from the risk-reducing financial instruments where required.  
 

As of December 31st, 2018, Vitra Karo has 2,139 employees in total, as blue collars and white collars (excluding the 

subcontracted workers), together with its affiliates (December 31st, 2017: 2,273). There is the collective contract 

application in the organization’s company at home and the blue-collar employees have the rights and the benefits 

provided within the scope of this contract. 
 

The white-collar employees have the rights and the benefits determined by Eczacıbaşı Group. The increases in the 

salaries of white-collar employees were made at the beginning of the second quarter in Vitra Karo in accordance 

with the group's policy. The increases in the salaries of blue-collar employees are made in accordance with the 

collective labor contracts. 
 

Vitra Karo has plants in Bilecik/Bozüyük and its affiliates have plants in Russia, Germany, and France. 
 

 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 

 

Within the scope of its exportation intermediate activities for Eczacıbaşı Group’s organizations, Ekom provides 

operation, customs, financing, and risk management services. 

 

Being the international trading company of Eczacıbaşı Group, Ekom aims to provide exportation, customs, 

financing, and risk management services in the most effective way to the Group’s organizations for which it 

mediates for the exportation of Eczacıbaşı products. The performance of the organization is partially affected by the 

changes in the macro indicators of the economy. In particular, as the fluctuations in the exchange rate policy affect 

the commission income received over sales; they directly reflect on the financial results of the organization. 

 

As the marketing and sales organization is performed by the manufacturing companies to which service is provided, 

the developments in these issues are made out of the initiative of the organization. 

 

As it is an intermediary firm, the organization does not join in manufacturing, marketing and sales policies of the 

products it intermediates. The cost and quality measurements are regularly made for the intermediary services 

provided. 

 

Ekom does not have any R&D activity. 

 

Ekom makes limited investments as required by its operational services. The Group’s organizations, to which it 

provides service, benefit from the advantages that it has due to being an international trading company.   

 

As the equity of Ekom, being an intermediary institution and undertaking minimum risk during this intermediate 

process, is sufficient for this activity; Ekom does not use any external financing for its requirements.  

 

As of December 31st, 2018, Ekom has 19 employees (December 31st, 2017: 20) and has no collective labor 

agreement practice. The rights and benefits provided to the personnel are in parallel with the human resources 

applications of Eczacıbaşı Group. 

 

Ekom does not have any organizational unit apart from its headquarters. 
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PROFIT DISTRIBUTION PROPOSAL 
 

During the meeting of our Board of Directors held on 8th March 2019;  

 

It was determined that our company's net distributable profit including grants of the period as of 31st December 

2018 was TL 226,994,563 on the consolidated financial statements, which were issued pursuant to the 

“Communique on Principles Related to Financial Reporting in Capital Market” number II-14.1 of Capital 

Markets Board (“CMB”) and which were independently audited, and was TL 249,371,907 on the financial 

statements issued according to the legal records. 

 

Related to the distribution of the profit of 2018, the distributable net profit of the period included in the 

consolidated financial statements was taken as basis for the share distribution of the period in accordance with 

the regulations of CMB on profit distribution, the article 26 of our Articles of Association and the principles 

indicated in our Profit Distribution Policy; and it was deemed appropriate to distribute profit as indicated below, 

and it was decided to submit it to the General Assembly. 

 

Accordingly, it was decided to make proposal to our partners regarding the following issues; 

1) To distribute cash dividend of TL 205,578,000 corresponding to 30% of the issued capital of our company, 
 

2) To pay dividend of gross 30% in cash to a share of TL 1 nominal value, and of the net amount found, after 

deducting the withholding rates included in the tax laws, to our full taxpayer real person partners and to our 

limited taxpayer real and legal person partners, 
 

3) To transfer the balance amount of TL 26,662,407 after deducting the legal obligations and the forecasted 

dividend to be distributed from the pre-tax period profit of TL 315,571,673 accrued according to the legal 

records, to the Extraordinary Reserves, 
 

4) And to start the distribution on 20th May 2019, 

  

during the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting to be held for the calendar year 2018. 
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1. 685,260,000

2. 88,957,855

There are no 

preferred shares.

As per Capital 

Markets Board

As per Statutory 

Records

3. 295,281,000 315,571,673

4. (55,162,000) (53,074,929)

5. 240,119,000 262,496,744

6. 0 0

7. (13,124,837) (13,124,837)

8. 226,994,163 249,371,907

9. 400 0

10. 226,994,563 249,371,907

11.

205,578,000 205,578,000

0 0

205,578,000 205,578,000

12. 0 0

13.

0 0

0 0

0 0

14. 0 0

15. 0 0

16. 17,131,500 17,131,500

17. 0 0

18. 0 0

19. 4,284,663 26,662,407

20. 0 0

INFORMATION ON DIVIDEND PER SHARE 

CASH         

(TL)

SHARES 

(TL)

RATIO                                             

(%)

AMOUNT                            

(TL)

SHARE                                  

(%)

NET (*) - 174,741,300 0 76.98 0.2550 25.50

(*) In calculating the net dividend, Income Tax witholding ratio was taken as 15%.   

Legal Reserve Fund 

DIVIDEND PER SHARE FOR 1 TL 

NOMINAL VALUE

Status Reserves 

Special Reserves 

EXTRAORDINARY RESERVES 

Other Sources Planned for Distribution 

GROUP

TOTAL DIVIDEND 

AMOUNT

TOTAL DIVIDEND AMOUNT / 

NET DISTRIBUTABLE PROFIT 

FOR THE PERIOD

Other Dividends Distributed 

    - Members of theBoard of Directors 

    - Employees 

    - Non-shareholders 

Dividends Distributed to Holders of Usufruct Right Certificate 

Second Category Dividend to Shareholders 

Net distributable profit including grants 

First Category Dividend to Shareholders 

    - Cash 

    - Shares

    - Total

Dividends Distributed to Preferred Shareholdres 

Taxes (-) 

Net Profit for the Period (=) 

Prior Years' Losses (-) 

Legal Reserve Fund (-) 

NET DISTRIBUTABLE PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD (=) 

Grants made during the year (+) 

EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş.                                                                                           

PROFIT DISTRIBUTION TABLE FOR 2018 (TL)

Paid-in/Authorised Share Capital 

General Legal Reserves (as per Statutory Records) 

Information concerning preferred shares, if, as per the Company's Articles of Association,                  

there are any exceptions for preferred shares in distribution of dividend

Profit for the Period 
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DECLARATION FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

The Report for Compliance with Corporate Governance Principles pertaining to the accounting period of January 

1st- December 31st, 2018 has been issued in accordance with the "Corporate Governance Communiqué No. II-17.1" 

("Communiqué") of the Capital Markets Board ("CMB") published on the volume of Official Gazette dated January 

3rd, 2014 and numbered 28871, and by using the templates of the Corporate Governance Compliance Report 

("CRF") and Corporate Governance Information Form ("CGIF") as announced under its decision dated January 10 th, 

2019 and numbered 2/49.  

 

Our Company published the CGIF through the notice https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/743001 and the CRF 

through the notice https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/743003 on the Public Disclosure Platform ("PDP") on 

February 27th, 2019 and they are included also in this report. 

 

Within the framework of the Communiqué in force, while the compulsory principles to be complied have been 

complied in full, compliance has been also provided with a great majority of those principles not compulsory to be 

complied. Although it is aimed to fully comply with the noncompulsory Corporate Governance Principles, it has not 

been possible yet to achieve full compliance due to the reasons such as the difficulties encountered in the 

implementation of some principles, the ongoing discussions in terms of compliance with some principles both in our 

country and in the international platform, and some principles not fully overlapping with the current structure of the 

market and of the Company. The studies are conducted on those principles not yet implemented and it is planned to 

put them into practice following the completion of the administrative, legal and technical infrastructure studies in a 

way to make a contribution to the effective management of our Company. There is no conflict of interest resulting 

from those principles that have not been put into practice yet. 

 

Accordingly, those principles that are noncompulsory to be put into practice under the Communiqué and that have 

not been put into practice yet, and our explanations regarding thereof are provided below: 

 

 Concerning the principle number 1.5.2; considering that the regulations related to the protection of minority 

rights are sufficient and effective within the framework of the legal legislation in force in our country and in 

parallel also with the general practices, we do not have a plan yet to include in our Articles of Association a 

provision to expand minority rights. 

 Concerning the principle number 3.1.3; while there are the principles set forth by our "Code of Conduct" 

regarding stakeholders' rights, it is planned to carry out a study to create a separate policy and procedure 

addressing stakeholders' rights. 

 Concerning the principle number 3.2.1; while the participation of employees in management is enabled for a 

limited number of issues in accordance with the existing structure of our Company, assessments are made to 

increase the participation of employees in management. No written regulation has been created, considering the 

regulations under our "Code of Conduct" and given that the Company management is determined in such a way 

to oversee the rights of all stakeholders, and that the independent members of the Board of Directors enable also 

the representation of stakeholders in management. 

 Concerning the principle number 3.3.8; there are certain limitations regarding the freedom of association and no 

planning has been made yet to change the same. 

 Concerning the principle number 4.2.8; while the sum insured subscribed under the umbrella insurance of 

Eczacıbaşı Group is below 25% of the Company capital, the Company directors are covered by the said 

insurance. 

 Concerning the principle number 4.3.9; a target rate and a target time have not been determined yet for female 

directors in the Board of Directors. However, it is tried to take due care in terms of female directors and our 

Board of Directors has one female director. The assessment studies are ongoing in this regard.  

 Concerning the principle number 4.4.5; the meeting procedures of the Board of Directors are determined in 

accordance with the principles of the Turkish Commercial Code and article 11 of our Articles of Association, 

and no separate written regulation has been needed. Issuing internal rules in the upcoming periods is on our 

agenda. 

 Concerning the principle number 4.4.7; there are limits to external commitments of Board members, and since 

the external commitments of Board members are provided in our annual report and under the section General 

Information/Management Information about our Company at PDP, the inclusion of a separate item to the agenda 

of the General Shareholders' Meeting has been deemed unnecessary. 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/743001
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/743003


EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

2 

 

 Concerning the principle number 4.5.5; considering the existing structure of our Company's Board of Directors, 

some members of the Board had to take office in several committees within the scope of the compulsion to 

establish three different committees pursuant to the Capital Market legislation. Since it has been assessed that the 

existing structure does not hinder the active fulfillment of duties by the committees, considering the 

qualifications and specialties required by committee membership; no change has been planned yet in this regard. 

 Concerning the principle number 4.6.1; although our Board of Directors held a separate meeting in which it 

assessed its activities within the year, there is not any written performance evaluation system or performance 

evaluation for the Board of Directors and/or its members. The performance evaluation of directors is carried out 

under the performance evaluation system of the human resources. Accordingly, it has not been deemed necessary 

to conduct a performance evaluation under the principle number 4.6.1. 

 Concerning the principle number 4.6.5, the payments made to the senior executives are collectively disclosed to 

the public in the marginal notes of our financial statements in parallel with the general practices. 

 

Developments and practices in the legislation will be taken into consideration and required studies will be conducted 

for compliance with the Corporate Governance Principles also in the upcoming period. 

 

 

OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ACTIVITIES 

 

I. SHAREHOLDERS  

 

Investor Relations Department 
 

In EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. ("Company"), the relations with 

shareholders used to be managed by the Department of Relations with Capital Market and Partners established in 

1993 which was affiliated with the Finance Department. As a result of the organizational and operational changes 

made in 2006, the CMB Relations and Reporting Manager of the Company has started conducting the duties of this 

department as of November 1st, 2006. 
 

Information regarding the executives in the Investor Relations Department: 
 

Investor Relations Department Manager: 

Name-Surname : Gülnur Günbey Kartal 

Position : CMB Relations and Reporting Manager 

Telephone : 0 212 371 73 94 

Fax : 0 212 371 73 99 

e-mail : gulnur.gunbey@eczacibasi.com.tr  

Type / Number of License Certificate : Capital Market Activities Advanced Level / 204571 

   Corporate Governance Rating Specialization / 700606 

Investor Relations Department Officer: 

Name-Surname : Şerife Bilen 

Position : Financial Reporting Responsible Specialist 

 

The Investor Relations Department of the Company plays an active role in protecting and facilitating the exercise of 

the shareholders' rights, particularly the right to obtain and examine information. 

 

The Investor Relations Department submitted its report regarding its activities conducted in 2018 to the Corporate 

Governance Committee on January 18th, 2019, and the report examined by the Committee was assessed by the 

Board of Directors on February 26th, 2019. 

 

In 2018, the Company received 30 written demands for information from the shareholders and they were replied 

within the framework of the relevant regulations and our disclosure policy. Within the year, 3 meetings were held at 

the Company headquarters in line with the individual requests received from the portfolio management company 

and analysts, and in accordance with the disclosure policy. 

 

 

 

mailto:gulnur.gunbey@eczacibasi.com.tr
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Corporate Website and Its Content 
 

In order to carry out its relations with shareholders much efficiently and rapidly and to be in constant contact with 

shareholders, the Company has been actively using its corporate website www.eis.com.tr, as stipulated by the 

Corporate Governance Principles, since April 2005. Thus, the information about our Company, the human 

resources, our affiliates, as well as the investor relations have been open for the information of the society. As a 

result of the reorganization of our Company in 2007, the studies to update the website in compliance with the new 

structure were completed in 2008. The information on Investor Relations accessed from our Company's website 

www.eis.com.tr was directed to the address www.eczacibasi.com.tr as of 8th May 2009. 

 

All the information set forth in the Corporate Governance Principles is presented to our investors at our website for 

information purposes. The Investor Relations Section offers information, both in English and Turkish, for the last 5 

years as a minimum. The information contained therein is constantly updated, is identical and consistent with the 

disclosures made in accordance with the relevant legislation, and does not contain any conflicting or missing 

information.  

 

The Investor Relations Department is responsible for preparing the content on the website, updating the information 

changed, and adding additional information. The studies to provide better service of the website always continue. 

 

Exercise of Shareholders' Right to Obtain Information 
 

In the satisfaction of demands for the exercise of shareholders' rights, utmost attention is paid for compliance with 

the Capital Market legislation and the other relevant legislation, the Articles of Association, and other internal 

regulations, measures are taken to procure the exercise of such rights, and all shareholders are treated equally. In 

2018, there was no written and/or verbal complaint received by the Company in relation with the exercise of 

shareholders' rights or there were no administrative and/or legal proceedings brought in this regard against the 

Company within our knowledge. 

 

The Company makes no distinction between the shareholders for the exercise of rights to obtain and examine 

information, and it shares all required information, excluding trade secrets, with the shareholders in order to properly 

exercise the shareholders' rights. Information is provided in a full timely and carefully way to fairly reflect the 

reality.  

 

Questions received by the Investor Relations Department within the year are replied, excluding confidential 

information and trade secrets, both by phone and in writing following communication with the highest authority in 

the respective subject. In order to extend the shareholders' right to obtain information, any and all information that 

may affect the exercise of their rights is presented to the shareholders in updated form in electronic media. Such 

information and developments that may affect the exercise of shareholders' rights are disclosed to the public through 

material disclosures and are also published on the website of the Company. 

 

Our Articles of Association does not include any regulation regarding the appointment of a special auditor as an 

individual right; however, pursuant to article 438 of the Turkish Commercial Code, each shareholder may request 

from the General Assembly the clarification of certain issues through special auditing, even though it is not included 

in the agenda, in order to exercise shareholders' rights, where necessary and if the rights to obtain and examine 

information have been exhausted. The shareholders have not made any such demand until today. In addition, our 

financial statements are periodically audited by the Independent Audit Company approved during the General 

Shareholders' Meeting. 

 

General Shareholders' Meetings 
 

Invitation to a General Shareholders' Meeting is announced by the Board of Directors at least 3 weeks prior to date 

of General Shareholders' Meeting, excluding the days of announcement and meeting, by considering the Turkish 

Commercial Code, the Capital Market legislation, the Articles of Association of the Company, and the Corporate 

Governance Principles. The Company's Articles of Association has been issued pursuant thereto.  

 

On the date when our Board of Directors decides on a General Shareholders' Meeting, the public is informed by 

making required disclosures, including the items of the agenda, through PDP and Electronic General Meeting 

System ("EGMS").  

 

 

http://www.eis.com.tr/
http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
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The announcement for invitation to the General Shareholders' Meeting is published on the Company's website and 

on a daily newspaper no less than 3 weeks in advance of the date of the General Shareholders' Meeting using any 

means of communication, including electronic communication, in addition to the methods set forth in the legislation, 

so that the invitation is received by the maximum number of shareholders.  

 

In order to facilitate participating in the General Shareholders' Meeting, meetings are held open to the public in the 

city center. Thus, it is possible also for the willing stakeholders to participate in General Shareholders' Meetings.  

 

Financial statements and reports including annual reports, profit distribution proposal, General Assembly 

Information Document issued regarding general assembly agenda, other documents forming basis to general 

assembly agenda, the last version of the Articles of Association and, if there shall be amendment to the Articles of 

Association, amendment text, and its reason, are kept open for examination in the places to which shareholders can 

reach in the easiest way, including the Company's headquarters and website, as of the date of announcement made 

for the invitation to the General Shareholders' Meeting. On the information documents related to agenda, 

information envisaged for each agenda item is provided to shareholders. In addition, the Company's website 

includes the English translation of all documents to be necessary for foreigner shareholders in order to inform them 

about the General Shareholders' Meeting and its agenda. 

 

Power of attorney samples for those to be represented by attorney are announced before the General Shareholders' 

Meeting and are provided for the use of shareholders on the Company's website.  

 

At the General Shareholders' Meeting, the issues on the agenda are conveyed impartially, in detail, clearly and in a 

comprehensible manner; and shareholders are given the opportunity to express their opinions and to ask questions 

under equal circumstances, and the opportunity is given to discuss the annual report and performance indicators of 

the Company.  

 

Minutes of General Shareholders' Meetings is disclosed to the public through PDP and can be also accessed from 

EGMS and the Company's website. Moreover, minutes is kept open for examination of the shareholders in the 

Company's headquarters and is delivered to those who demand it. 

 

In 2018, the Company held 1 General Shareholders' Meeting. The Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting was held 

on April 12th, 2018, during which the activities of the year 2017 were discussed, convened with an 85.77 percent 

quorum. 79 shareholders, including 7 real persons and 72 legal entities, registered themselves in the List of 

Attendants. Our General Shareholders' Meeting was held under the supervision of the Ministerial Representative 

appointed by Istanbul Provincial Directorate of Commerce of Istanbul Governorate of the Republic of Turkey. At 

the General Shareholders' Meeting, our shareholders exercised their rights to ask questions. The questions were 

replied by the Board Members and the General Manager depending on the subjects of the questions. The Company 

received no demand for the addition of an item to the agenda by the shareholders. A great majority of the questions 

received from our shareholders at the General Shareholders' Meeting were replied during the meeting and those 

questions requiring a certain study to reply them were replied within 15 days following the meeting date, sent by 

mail to the relevant investor, and published on our website on the same date. Information was provided at the 

General Shareholders' Meeting under an individual agenda item about the donations and aids made in 2017; the 

upper limit for donations to be made in 2018 was determined as TL 500,000, and no change was made in the 

donation policy. 

 

According to CMB regulations, in 2018, there was no transaction where the affirmative vote of the majority of the 

Independent Board Members was sought in order to make a decision at the Board of Directors but where the 

decision was left to the General Assembly due to the negative vote of the mentioned members. 

 

In 2018, it was not in question the performance of any material transaction, by the shareholders having management 

control, or the Board members, or the senior executives having administrative responsibility, and their spouses and 

second degree relatives by blood and marriage, which might cause conflict of interests with the Company or its 

affiliate companies, and/or the performance of any transaction in type of commercial business within the subject of 

the business of the Company or its affiliate companies by the same on behalf of them or on behalf of others, or their 

participation in another partnership, engaging in the same type of commercial businesses, with the title of unlimited 

partner. 

 

In 2018, there was no transaction, notified to the Board of Directors, made by the persons who have the opportunity 

to access the Company information in a privileged manner, on behalf of them within the scope of activities of our 

Company. 
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Voting Rights and Minority Rights 
 

In our Company, practices that make it difficult to exercise the voting rights are avoided, and each shareholder, even 

cross-border, is given the chance to exercise the voting right in a fair, easy and convenient way. With regards to the 

voting for agenda items during the General Shareholders' Meetings, open vote method by a show of hands is used, 

provided that the provisions for voting in electronic media are reserved. Each agenda item is individually voted 

during the meetings. 

 

There is not any privilege in our Articles of Association regarding the exercise of voting rights and each share has 

one voting right. In our Company, there is no regulation prescribing that a voting right is to be used after a while 

from the date of acquisition. In our Articles of Association, there is no provision which prevents a person, who is not 

a shareholder, from voting by proxy as a representative. Cumulative vote method is not applied.  

 

Our main partner and largest shareholder Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., which holds 50.62 percent of shares of our 

Company's capital and whose 37.28 percent of the capital is owned by our Company, votes at our General 

Shareholders' Meetings but our Company does not vote at the General Shareholders' Meetings of Eczacıbaşı 

Holding A.Ş. 

 

Our Articles of Association does not include any provision that prescribes or makes difficult the representation of 

minority in management, or that provides for the determination of minority in such a way that the minority would be 

less than one-twentieth of the capital. 

 

Transfer of Shares 
 

In our Articles of Association, there is not any provision restricting or making difficult the free transfer of shares. 

 

Dividend Right 
 

In accordance with the profit distribution policy of our Company, the annual profit distribution proposal of our 

Board of Directors is prepared in accordance with the profit distribution statement determined by CMB and is 

submitted for the information of our shareholders in PDP environment simultaneously with the decision of our 

Board of Directors. The mentioned proposal is available in our annual report and is submitted to the approval of the 

shareholders at the General Shareholders' Meetings. In addition, the profit distribution statement and the profit 

distribution history, as well as detailed information regarding capital increases are disclosed to the public on the 

Company's website. In 2018, a gross cash dividend at the rate of 20 percent was distributed to the shareholders. 

 

Profit Distribution Policy  
 

Within the scope of the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code, the Capital Market Legislation, Tax 

Legislation, other relevant legislation, and the article related to profit distribution in the Articles of Association; the 

Board of Directors decided during its meeting on March 29th, 2013 to apply a profit distribution policy within the 

framework of the following concept, and this decision was submitted to the approval of the shareholders and 

accepted by them during the Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting of 2012. 

 

 The principle was adopted to distribute dividend as cash and/or bonus share over the “distributable profit for the 

period”, calculated within the scope of the Capital Market Legislation and the other relevant legislation, based on 

the net profit for the year in the financial statements issued within the scope of the Capital Market Legislation 

and made be subject to independent audit. 

 In our Articles of Association, there is not a specific regulation envisaging the application of giving profit share 

to our employees and members of the Board of Directors together with preferred stock related to obtaining share 

from profit, and promoter’s dividend share. 

 The profit distribution proposals submitted by our Board of Directors to the approval of our General Assembly 

are issued by considering the current profitability of our Company and the delicate balances between the possible 

expectations of our shareholders and the projected growth strategies of our Company.   

 The attention is paid to make the profit share payments (cash and/or bonus share) within the legal periods and as 

soon as possible following the General Shareholders' Meetings so as to be until the end of the period envisaged 

within the legislation at the latest. 

 

This dividend policy is still applied and our Board of Directors has not made any change within this regard. 
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 Distributed profit share in previous years and its percentage 
 

The profit distribution information of the Company for the last five years is as follows:  

 

Year 

Profit 

Distribution 

Starting Date 

Amount 

(TL) 

Percentage  

(%) 

Form  

(%) 

Gross Net Cash Share 

2013 06.05.2014 52,627,968 9.6 8.16 9.6 - 

2014 05.05.2015 43,856,640 8 6.8 8 - 

2015 10.05.2016 219,283,200 40 34 40 - 

2016 08.05.2017 342,630,000 50 42.5 50 - 

2017 22.05.2018 137,052,000 20 17 20 - 
 

 

II. STAKEHOLDERS 

 

Informing the Stakeholders 
 

Information is provided to the stakeholders of our Company through General Assembly and by replying personal 

applications, by inviting them to meetings for matters concerning to them or by using the Group's website and 

electronic communication means where necessary, provided that it is within the scope of CMB legislation. 

Information to the public is provided both during press conferences held and statements made through media, and 

information is provided to employees during various organizations such as Strategic Planning, General Manager 

information and dissemination meetings (in such meetings, changes such as target sharing, salary, social benefits, 

and allowances are announced). Eczacıbaşı Group has a portal called "Port-e" accessed by the employees and it has 

been ensured that the employees can access any information and document to concern them, the significant 

announcements, changes in management, and press releases through this portal. In addition, the Corporate 

Communications Department within Eczacıbaşı Group publishes an internal periodic journal entitled "Yaşam" in 

order to increase the communication with the employees. 

 

Moreover, with our General Shareholders' Meetings open to all stakeholders, the information provided on the 

website of our Company, our annual reports, and our practices under our information policy based on transparency, 

it is aimed to inform not only the shareholders but also all stakeholders. 
 

The problems of Kanyon hirers, being our most important customers, are resolved with direct meetings and Kanyon 

Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş., providing management services of Kanyon complex, gives support to resolve 

such problems. The senior management of Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. informs the Board members 

at its meetings held monthly. Kanyon hirers are informed through financial activity reports issued both monthly and 

annually every March. Any and all wishes and suggestions of hirers, Kanyon visitors, and Kanyon office and 

residence habitants are received by Kanyon Customer Relations Department in person, via e-mail, telephone, 

WhatsApp line, and Sizi Dinliyoruz forms and replied in line with the contact preferences of them. The reports of 

the Customer Relations and the reports such as the number of visitor entrances are shared with hirers, who demand 

them, and their suggestions are received and action plans are prepared accordingly. The requests received through 

Kanyon social media accounts, Kanyon application, the website kanyon.com.tr, and the website şikayetvar.com are 

replied in line with the contact preferences of persons. Information about Kanyon is provided through Kanyon 

newspaper, Kanyon internal announcement channels (screens, posters, notice boards, and brochure holders), Kanyon 

social media accounts, other media purchasing tools (outdoor, newspaper & magazine advertisements), and its 

website. Information is shared during the meeting regularly held with business partners, subcontractors, and 

suppliers and suggestions received through this channel are assessed. 

 

The corporate governance structure of the Company gives the opportunity for all stakeholders including employees 

and representatives to convey their concerns regarding transactions not appropriate in terms of laws and ethics, 

through verbal-written and other means of communication. Stakeholders may submit those matters, which they 

believe do not comply with the legislation and are unethical, to the Compliance Board established within Eczacıbaşı 

Group via the communication form available at www.eis.com.tr or www.eczacibasi.com.tr and through the address 

uyum@eczacibasi.com.tr. The Code of Conduct booklet of Eczacıbaşı Group is published at the address 

https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/_Media/Upload/eczacibasi-toplulugu-davranis-kurallari.pdf. Such complaints may be 

communicated to the Audit Committee after being reviewed by the Audit Board of Eczacıbaşı Group. In addition, 

employees may submit those matters, which they believe do not comply with the issues on the Code of Conduct 

booklet of Eczacıbaşı Group and are unethical, to the Compliance Board established within Eczacıbaşı Group via the 

notification line on the corporate portal. 

http://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/
mailto:uyum@eczacibasi.com.tr
https://www.eczacibasi.com.tr/_Media/Upload/eczacibasi-toplulugu-davranis-kurallari.pdf
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Participation of Stakeholders in Management 
 

Models (surveys, interviews, etc.) supporting the participation of stakeholders, notably including employees, in the 

Company's management are carried out provided that the Company’s activities are not hindered. On the other hand, 

requests and suggestions made during meetings held with employees and other stakeholders are assessed by the 

managers, and policies and applications for these are realized. Within this framework, it is ensured that the 

stakeholders participate in the management with information provided at the General Shareholders' Meetings for 

shareholders and with information provided through various meetings, Corporate Portal ("Port-e"), and electronic 

mail for employees. In addition, the evaluations of employees regarding applications are collected through the 

Employee Loyalty questionnaires made throughout Eczacıbaşı Group every year, and the employee loyalty and 

satisfaction are measured. The improvement targets for questionnaire results are added to the performance cards of 

General Managers by also considering the Company's activities. 

 

Any and all suggestions, opinions, and ideas received in person, via e-mail, telephone, WhatsApp line, and Sizi 

Dinliyoruz forms from the SC and office building hirers and residence habitants during the evaluation meetings held 

by Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. with the business partners from which it gets services are taken into 

consideration and such opinions that can be applied are put into practice. Likewise, the requests received through 

Kanyon social media accounts, Kanyon application, the website kanyon.com.tr, and the website şikayetvar.com are 

also assessed. In order to ensure the sustainability and development of Kanyonca, the communication language of 

Kanyon, projects are developed and employees who contact customers are directed, trained, and developed. 

Accordingly, improvements are performed with the feedback received through the observation or witness of visitors' 

needs by the said Kanyonca personnel through the system of visitor's ear (Misafir Kulağı). During the meetings held 

with the hirers, their priorities such as the increase in turnover-number of visitors are determined, and an action plan 

is created and implemented. Projects are developed to ensure that new experiences are created by making 

contributions to differentiate services or that the existing experiences are improved. Information is obtained about 

opinions and choices of Kanyon visitors through the survey made with Ipsos research in October every year. 

Likewise, their opinions are obtained also through surveys via telephone in certain periods. 

 

 

III. BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

Structure and Composition of the Board of Directors 
 

In accordance with our Articles of Association, the activities and management of our Company are conducted by a 

board of directors comprised of minimum 5 members to be elected upon the decision of the General Assembly 

pursuant to the Turkish Commercial Code and the Capital Market Legislation. The authorities and responsibilities of 

members of the Board of Directors and managers are explicitly defined in the Articles of Association. The 

authorities are specified in the Company’s signature circular in detail. In our company, the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors and the General Manager are not the same person. 

 

Members of the Board of Directors are identified to allow them to carry out efficient and constructive studies, to 

take swift and rational decisions, to set up committees and to organize their studies effectively.  
 

Name-Surname Position 
Start Date of 

Taking Office (*) 

Status of 

Independency 

F. Bülent Eczacıbaşı Chairman of the Board of Directors 12 April 2018 - 

R. Faruk Eczacıbaşı Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 12 April 2018 - 

M. Sacit Basmacı Member 12 April 2018 - 

Atalay M. Gümrah Member 12 April 2018 - 

H. Toker Alban Member 12 April 2018 Independent Member 

Zühal Atanan Member 12 April 2018 Independent Member 
 

(*)  The Board of Directors was elected to be in charge for one year during the Ordinary General Assembly 

Meeting dated 12th April 2018, and will hold the office until the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting where 

operations of the year 2018 are to be discussed. 
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The committees in which the Board members take office and external commitments of the Board members are 

provided below: 
 

Name -

Surname 
External Commitments as of the Most Recent Situation Committees Taken Part in and Duties 

F. Bülent 
Eczacıbaşı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - Chairman of the Board of Directors  

Chairman of the Board of Presidents (Executive Board) of Eczacıbaşı Group  

Chairman and Member of the Boards of Directors at companies of Eczacıbaşı Group 

None. 

R. Faruk 
Eczacıbaşı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Vice Chairman of the Board of Presidents (Executive Board) of Eczacıbaşı Group 

Chairman and Member of the Boards of Directors at companies of Eczacıbaşı Group 

None. 

M. Sacit 

Basmacı 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - Chairman of the Audit Board 

Member of the Boards of Directors at companies of Eczacıbaşı Group 

Corporate Governance Committee -  

Member 

Atalay M. 

Gümrah 

Eczacıbaşı Group - CEO 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. - General Manager 

Member of the Boards of Directors at companies of Eczacıbaşı Group 

Committee of Early Detection of Risk - 

Member 

H. Toker 
Alban 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. -  
Independent Member of the Board of Directors 

Audit Committee - President 

Corporate Governance Committee - 

President 

Zühal 
Atanan 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. -  
Independent Member of the Board of Directors 

Audit Committee - Member 

Committee of Early Detection of Risk - 

President 

 

 The members of the Board of Directors did not take any action against the prohibition of competition within 

the period of January 1st - December 31st, 2018. 
 

 The curriculum vitae information of the members of the Board of Directors is included in the preamble section 

of the annual report. 
 

Upon the decision of the General Assembly dated 12th April 2018, our members of the Board of Directors were 

entitled to make transactions in accordance with articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish Commercial Code. Members of 

the Board of Directors can take office at companies affiliated with Eczacıbaşı Group, however, as a principle, they 

may not take office outside the Group.  
 

It is considered that having diversity in terms of knowledge, experience, and point of view in our Board of Directors 

will make a positive contribution to the Company's activities and to the effective working of the Board of Directors. 

Our assessment studies are ongoing to determine a target rate for female directors of the Board of Directors being an 

intermediary to ensure that different opinions are represented in the Board of Directors. Currently, Zühal Atanan is 

the female director of the Board of Directors in accordance with the Corporate Governance Principles, and the rate 

of female directors is 16.7%. 
 

During the Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting dated April 12th, 2018, 2 independent members capable of 

fulfilling their duties without being influenced by anything were elected among the Board members in accordance 

with the Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board. All of the Independent Members of the 

Board fully meet the "independency criteria" specified in the Communiqué. The candidates for Independent Member 

of the Board submitted their declarations of independence and their background information to the Corporate 

Governance Committee before the General Shareholders' Meeting and all of them were identified as independent 

members by the Board of Directors.  

 

The declarations of independence of our Independent Members of the Board are provided at the end of the report. 

 

Operation Principles of the Board of Directors 
 

The Board of Directors holds meetings as required by the Company businesses, as laid down in the Articles of 

Association of our Company. Agenda of meetings of the Board of Directors is determined upon notification of 

issues, explicitly ordered in our Company's Articles of Association to be submitted to the decision of the Board of 

Directors, by relevant departments to the Company's senior management and to the members of the Board of 

Directors. In addition, in the event that any one of the members of the Board of Directors proposes taking of a 

decision about a certain matter to Company's Senior Management, the agenda of the meeting may be determined 

accordingly. Attention is paid that the information and documents related to the agenda of a Board meeting are 

submitted in such periods of time that members can carry out necessary examinations and assessments. In 2018, our 
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Board of Directors held 18 meetings in total and the participation of members to such meetings was realized as 

85.8% on average. Meetings are held in the Company's headquarters and the invitation to meetings is made by 

telephone and/or e-mail. No electronic portal is used for activities of the Board of Directors. In the event that the 

Board members cannot participate in meetings, the can submit their opinions in writing. Material decisions of the 

Board of Directors are disclosed to the public through PDP and are published in Turkish and English at the website. 

 

Each member of the Board of Directors has one voting right. No prevailing voting right and veto right has been 

granted to members of the Board of Directors. The resolutions taken in the Board of Directors meetings were 

unanimously taken by those present, and there was no member of the Board opposing to the resolutions taken. As no 

such opposition or view was declared at the meetings of the Board of Directors held in 2018, no public disclosure 

was made in this regard.  

 

At the meetings of the Board of Directors, the issues on the agenda are discussed openly and in all respects. The 

Chairman of the Board of Directors makes his best efforts to guarantee active participation of non-executive 

members in the meetings of the Board of Directors. There is no Board member to whom authority was transferred 

upon allocation of duties. The Board of Directors holds an evaluation meeting to review whether it has duly 

discharged all its responsibilities. For the evaluation of 2018, independent experts were not employed.  

 

Our Company offers a "Directors and Officers liability insurance" to members of the Board of Directors and senior 

executives under the umbrella insurance of the Group.  

 

Number, Composition and Independence of Board Committees 
 

Our Company has committees to enable the Board of Directors to properly fulfill its duties and responsibilities, and 

the committees conduct their activities within the framework of the determined working principles. The members 

taking office in several committees ensure communication between the committees working for related issues and 

increase the opportunities for cooperation.  

 

The fields of duty and the working principles of the committees, as well as the members to form such committees 

are determined by the Board of Directors and announced to the public on the website of the Company. 

 

All the members of the Audit Committee and the presidents of the other committees are elected among the 

independent members of the Board of Directors. General Manager cannot take charge in committees. Considering 

the structure of our Company's Board of Directors, some members of the Board had to take office in several 

committees within the scope of the compulsion to establish three different committees pursuant to the Capital 

Market legislation. However, this does not cause any conflict of interest. 

 

The Board of Directors provides the committees with any resource and support required for the fulfillment of their 

duties. The committees can invite any person they deem required to their meetings and receive the opinion of such 

person. The committees make use of independent expert views on issues which they deem necessary in relation to 

their activities, and fees for consultancy services are borne by the Company. In 2018, the Board of Directors did not 

get any consultancy services from any independent person and/or organization. 

 

Audit Committee 
 

Established upon the decision made during the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 6 th May 2003, the Audit 

Committee fulfills the duties stipulated in the Capital Market Legislation and the Corporate Governance Principles. 

All the members of the Audit Committee are independent members of the Board of Directors. During the meeting of 

our Company's Board of Directors held on April 13th, 2018, it was resolved that the committee be composed of 2 

members and H. Toker Alban be appointed as the President and Zühal Atanan be appointed as member. The 

working principles of the Committee are announced on the website of the Company and the Committee holds 

regular meetings four times a year. Moreover, it submits its opinion, to the Board of Directors in writing, with 

regards to election of independent auditor and its opinion built regarding accuracy, authenticity and compliance of 

annual and interim financial statements, to be disclosed to public, with the accounting principles followed by the 

partnership also by considering the assessments of the responsible managers of the partnership and of the 

independent auditors. The Audit Committee held 8 meetings related to its activities in 2018. 
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The activities carried out by the Committee in 2018 are mainly as follows: 
 

- It prepared its proposal regarding the Independent Audit Firm it determined for the audit of the financial 

statements and the annual report issued in 2018 and the reports related to the Committee of Early Detection of 

Risk, and submitted it to Board of Directors for approval. 

- It made its own assessment regarding the accuracy, authenticity and compliance of the consolidated financial 

statements of 2018, disclosed to public, with the accounting principles followed by the Company by receiving 

opinions from the Company's responsible managers and also from the independent auditor in June and 

December, and submitted it to the Board of Directors for approval. 

- It obtained the necessary information about the internal control and internal audit activities of the Company from 

the Audit Board. 

 

Corporate Governance Committee 
 

It was established upon the decision of the Board of Directors dated May 31st, 2012 in order to monitor the 

Company’s compliance with the corporate governance principles, to perform improvement studies in this regard, 

and to make suggestions to the Board of Directors. During the meeting of our Company's Board of Directors dated 

April 13th, 2018, it was decided to form the Corporate Governance Committee by three members and to appoint H. 

Toker Alban, the independent member of the Board of Directors, as President and Mustafa Sacit Basmacı and 

Gülnur Günbey Kartal (Investor Relations Manager) as members. As individual Nomination Committee and 

Remuneration Committee could not be established due to the structure of the Board of Directors, it was decided 

upon the same decision that the Corporate Governance Committee would fulfill also the duties of these committees. 

 

The Corporate Governance Committee determines whether the corporate governance principles are applied in the 

Company, if not, the reason therefor, and the conflicts of interest arising from not fully observing these principles, 

and makes suggestions to the Board of Directors for improving the practices, and oversees the activities of the 

Investor Relations Department. 

 

The working principles of the Committee are announced on the website of the Company. The Corporate Governance 

Committee held 5 meetings related to its activities in 2018. 

 

Committee of Early Detection of Risk 
 

In accordance with the Communiqué, with series IV number 63, of CMB that entered into force after its publication 

on the volume of the Official Gazette number 28567 dated February 22nd, 2013; during its meeting held on May 17th, 

2013, our Board of Directors removed the risk issue, included within the duties and responsibilities of the Corporate 

Governance Committee, from the duties and responsibilities of this committee and decided to establish the 

"Committee of Early Detection of Risk" to work in this regard. During the meeting of our Company's Board of 

Directors held on April 13th, 2018, it was resolved that the committee be composed of 2 members and Zühal Atanan 

be appointed as the President and Atalay M. Gümrah be appointed as member. The working principles of the 

Committee are announced on the website of the Company. 

 

The Committee of Early Detection of Risk makes suggestions and recommendations to the Board of Directors for 

the issues related to the early determination and assessment of any strategic, operational, financial, legal and any 

other risks to endanger the existence, development, and continuance of the Company; the calculation of effects and 

possibilities of such risks; the management of such risks in accordance with the corporate risk taking profile of the 

Company; reporting of such risks; implementing the required precautions related to the determined risks; taking 

such precautions into consideration in the decision mechanisms; and creating effective internal control systems 

accordingly and the integration thereof, in order to comply both with the regulations of the Capital Markets Board 

on Corporate Governance and article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code number 6102. The duties and the 

working principles of the Committee of Early Detection of Risk have been determined within the framework of the 

Capital Market Legislation, the Company's Articles of Association, the Turkish Commercial Code and the 

regulations, provisions, and principles included in the "Corporate Governance Principles" of the Capital Markets 

Board. The Article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code stipulates that, with its bimonthly report to be submitted, 

the Committee will assess the relevant period regarding the risks that may affect the existence and the continuation 

of the Company, will refer hazards, if any, and will show solutions. Within this framework, the Committee of Early 

Detection of Risk held 7 meetings related to its activities in 2018. 
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Assessment of the Board of Directors Related to the Activities of the Committees 
 

Established by the Board of Directors, the committees discharged their duties and responsibilities set forth in their 

duty and working principles and took care to convene at frequencies deemed necessary for effective work. The 

committees informed the Board of Directors, verbally and in writing, about their works. 

 

Risk Management and Internal Control Mechanism  
 

At Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar, risk management is dealt with a holistic perspective. The strategic, 

operational, financial and all of the other issues considered posing a risk for the achievement by the Company of its 

short and long-term objectives are assessed at each level of the organization starting from the Board of Directors. 

 

As risk management cannot be considered separate from the management of business processes, the applications 

related to risk management are realized within the Company as much as possible and are not left to external sources 

and advisors. Accordingly, one of the important tasks of the process owners is to manage relevant risks. 

 

The Board of Directors creates internal control systems to include risk management, information systems, and 

processes that are able to minimize risks that may affect the Company's stakeholders, including, notably the 

shareholders, by also considering the views of the relevant committees of the Board of Directors. 

 

The primary risks incurred by the Company are monitored under two main titles as financial risks (foreign 

exchange, interest, liquidity, and credit) and nonfinancial risks (strategic and operational), and the Board of 

Directors is periodically informed about these risks. Detailed information related to risk management is available in 

the relevant section of the annual report. 

 

Strategic Targets of the Company 
 

The Board of Directors manages and represents the Company through strategic decisions by observing, in the first 

place, long-term interests of the Company, using a reasonable and cautious risk management approach that keeps the 

Company’s risk, growth and yield balance at the right level.  

 

The Board of Directors defines the strategic targets of the Company, determines the needed human and financial 

resources, and audits the performance of the management. 

 

The Board of Directors observes that the Company's activities are in compliance with the legislation, the Articles of 

Association, internal regulations, and the adopted policies. During the Board of Directors and Senior Management 

meetings held periodically, the Company's objectives and its activities realized are monitored so as to include the 

performances of the previous periods. The current situation of the Company is reviewed and new targets and 

strategies are developed where deemed necessary as a result of existing conditions. 

 

Financial Rights 
 

Our Company's "Compensation Policy for the Board of Directors and Senior Executives", including any rights and 

benefits provided to the members of the Board of Directors and Senior Executives, as well as the criteria to 

determine these and the compensation principles, was submitted for review of our shareholders on our website 

through the "Information Document" published three weeks before the Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting 

dated April 13th, 2018. 

 

According to the Articles of Association of our Company, the rights to be provided to the members of the Board of 

Directors are determined at the General Assembly. The Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors 

may be provided with a fee appropriate to their positions as a result of their service and provided that they are also 

employees. Regarding the compensation for the independent members of the Board of Directors, there is not any 

compensation system based on stock options or Company's performance. The independent members of the Board of 

Directors are paid with the fee determined in accordance with the decisions of the General Assembly.  

 

There is no transaction to cause a conflict of interest such as lending by the Company to the members of the Board 

of Directors or to senior executives having administrative responsibility, making loan available to them, making loan 

available to them by means of personal loan through a third person, or giving security on their behalf. 
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The Company collectively discloses to the public the total benefits provided to the senior executives in the marginal 

notes of its financial statements in parallel with the general applications as follows: 

 

Benefits provided to members of the Board of Directors and senior executives  

 

The Group has identified its senior management as the members of the Board of Directors, the heads and assistant 

heads of groups, and the general manager at the Company and subsidiaries of the Company. The amount of short-

term benefits provided to employees includes salary, premium, SSI employer's contribution and employer's 

contribution for unemployment, health insurance, leave, seniority incentive award. The long-term benefits provided 

to senior management include severance pay and/or service award paid to departing senior executives due to 

retirement and/or transfer. 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the breakdown of benefits provided to senior executives is as follows: 

 

Benefits provided to senior executives (Thousand TL)   2018 2017 
 

Short-term benefits provided to members of the Board of Directors and senior management  9,580 11,945 

Long-term benefits provided to members of the Board of Directors and senior management  228 1,309 
 

  9,808 13,254 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE INFORMATION FORM (CGIF) 

 

1. SHAREHOLDERS 

 1.1. Facilitating the Exercise of 

Shareholders' Rights 

The number of investor meetings (conference, seminar, etc.) 
organised by the company during the year 

0 

1.2. Right to Obtain and Examine Information  

The number of special audit request(s) 0 

The number of special audit requests that were accepted at the 

General Shareholders' Meeting 
0 

1.3. General Assembly  

Link to the PDP announcement that demonstrates the 
information requested by Principle 1.3.1. (a-d) 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669361 ; 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669953  

Whether the company provides materials for the General 

Shareholders' Meeting in English and Turkish at the same time 

The English and Turkish versions of materials were not provided at the same 
on PDP, but the English version was uploaded to the Company's website as 

soon as possible upon the announcement on PDP. 

The links to the PDP announcements associated with the 
transactions that are not approved by the majority of 

independent directors or by unanimous votes of present board 
members in the context of Principle 1.3.9 

There is no transaction in this regard. 

The links to the PDP announcements associated with related 
party transactions in the context of Article 9 of the 

Communique on Corporate Governance (II-17.1) 

There is no transaction in this regard. 

The links to the PDP announcements associated with common 

and continuous transactions in the context of Article 10 of the 

Communique on Corporate Governance (II-17.1) 

There is no transaction in this regard. 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 
demonstrates the donation policy of the company 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar / General 
Assembly / General Assembly Information Document 2018  p.15 

The relevant link to the PDP with minute of the General 
Shareholders' Meeting where the donation policy has been 

approved 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/676516  

The number of the provisions of the articles of association that 
discuss the participation of stakeholders to the General 

Shareholders' Meeting 

None. 

Identified stakeholder groups that participated in the General 

Shareholders' Meeting, if any 

The General Shareholders' Meetings are held open to the public and thus, it is 
possible for willing stakeholders to participate in meetings; no separate list was 

issued for participants other than shareholders. 

1.4. Voting Rights  

Whether the shares of the company have differential voting 

rights 
No. 

In case that there are voting privileges, indicate the owner and 
percentage of the voting majority of shares. 

 

The percentage of ownership of the largest shareholder 50.62%  

1.5. Minority Rights  

Whether the scope of minority rights enlarged (in terms of 

content or the ratio) in the articles of the association 
No. 

If yes, specify the relevant provision of the articles of 
association. 

 

1.6. Dividend Right  

The name of the section on the corporate website that 
describes the dividend distribution policy 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Profit Distribution Policy 

Minutes of the relevant agenda item in case the board of 

directors proposed to the general assembly not to distribute 

dividends, the reason for such proposal and information as to 
use of the dividend 

Our Board of Directors did not propose not to distribute dividends. 

PDP link to the related general shareholder meeting minutes in 
case the board of directors proposed to the general 

assembly not to distribute dividends 

 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669361
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669953
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/676516
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General Assembly Meetings 
 

General 

Meeting 

Date 

The number 

of 

information 

requests 

received by 

the company 

regarding the 

clarification 

of the agenda 

of the 

General 

Shareholders' 

Meeting 

Shareholder 

participation 

rate to the 

General 

Shareholders' 

Meeting 

Percentage 

of shares 

directly 

present at 

the GSM 

Percentage 

of shares 

represented 

by proxy 

Specify the name of the 

page of the corporate 

website that contains the 

General Shareholders' 

Meeting minutes, and 

also indicates for each 

resolution the voting 

levels for or against 

Specify the 

name of the 

page of the 

corporate 

website that 

contains all 

questions asked 

in the general 

assembly 

meeting and all 

responses to 

them 

The number 

of the 

relevant item 

or paragraph 

of General 

Shareholders' 

Meeting 

minutes in 

relation to 

related party 

transactions 

The number 

of 

declarations 

by insiders 

received by 

the board of 

directors 

The link to the related 

PDP general shareholder 

meeting notification  

12/04/2018 0 85.77%  0.21%  85.56%  

Investor Relations / 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar / 

General Assembly / 

General Assembly 

Minutes 

Investor 

Relations / 

Eczacıbaşı 

İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal 

Yatırımlar / 

General 

Assembly / 

General 

Assembly 

Minutes and 

Questions 

Replied in 

Writing 

Following the 

General 

Assembly 

None 0 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/

Bildirim/676516 

; 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/

Bildirim/677514 

 

 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/676516
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/676516
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/677514
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/677514
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2. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 
 

2.1. Corporate Website 

Specify the name of the sections of the website providing the 
information requested by the Principle 2.1.1. 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar / Financial 
Information / Announcements and Presentations / Corporate Governance / 

General Assembly / Contact 

If applicable, specify the name of the sections of the website 
providing the list of shareholders (ultimate beneficiaries) who 

directly or indirectly own more than 5% of the shares. 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Shareholding Structure 

List of languages for which the website is available Turkish and English 

2.2. Annual Report 

 The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the 

Annual Report that demonstrate the information requested 

by principle 2.2.2. 

a) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the  
Annual Report that demonstrate the information on the 

duties of the members of the board of directors and 
executives conducted out of the company and declarations 

on independence of board members 

The duties of the members of the Board of Directors conducted out of the 

Company are explained on Annual Report / Corporate Governance section, 
page 8; the duties of the executives conducted out of the Company are 

explained page 2 of the Annual Report; and the declarations on independence 

of Board members are explained on Annual Report / Corporate Governance 
section, pages 25 and 26. 

b) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the  

Annual Report that demonstrate the information on 
committees formed within the board structure 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section,  

pages 9 to 11. 

c) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the  

Annual Report that demonstrate the information on the 
number of board meetings in a year and the attendance of the 

members to these meetings 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section, page 9. 

ç) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the  

Annual Report that demonstrate the information on 

amendments in the legislation which may significantly affect 

the activities of the corporation 

It is explained on page 6 of the Annual Report. 

d) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the  
Annual Report that demonstrate the information on 

significant lawsuits filed against the corporation and the 
possible results thereof 

It is explained on page 6 of the Annual Report. 

e) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the  
Annual Report that demonstrate the information on the 

conflicts of interest of the corporation among the institutions 
that it purchases services on matters such as investment 

consulting and rating and the measures taken by the 

corporation in order to avoid from these conflicts of interest 

It is explained on page 6 of the Annual Report. 

f) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the  
Annual Report that demonstrate the information on the cross 

ownership subsidiaries that the direct contribution to the 

capital exceeds 5% 

It is explained on page 6 of the Annual Report. 

g) The page numbers and/or name of the sections in the    

Annual Report that demonstrate the information on social 
rights and professional training of the employees and 

activities of corporate social responsibility in respect of the 

corporate activities that arises social and environmental 
results 

The information on social rights and professional training of the employees is 

provided on page 3 of the Annual Report, and the information on activities of 
corporate social responsibility is provided on page 8 of the Annual Report. 
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3. STAKEHOLDERS 
 

3.1. Corporation’s Policy on Stakeholders 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 
demonstrates the employee remedy or severance policy 

The internal regulations do not include any written employee remedy or 
severance policy. 

The number of definitive convictions the company was subject to 

in relation to breach of employee rights 
0 

The position of the person responsible for the alert mechanism 

(i.e. whistleblowing mechanism) 
Compliance Board of Eczacıbaşı Group 

The contact detail of the company alert mechanism. 

E-mail address: uyum@eczacibasi.com.tr 

Telephone number: (0 212) 371 72 72  

Fax number: (0 212) 371 72 66 

3.2. Supporting the Participation of the Stakeholders in the 

Corporation’s Management 
 

Name of the section on the corporate website that demonstrates 
the internal regulation addressing the participation of employees 

on management bodies. 

None. 

Corporate bodies where employees are actually represented  

3.3. Human Resources Policy  

The role of the board on developing and ensuring that the 

company has a succession plan for the key management positions 

Developing a succession plan for the key management positions is 
determined by the Company's Human Resources Planning Board and 

monitored by the Group's Talents and Remuneration Committee. 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 
demonstrates the human resource policy covering equal 

opportunities and hiring principles. Also provide a summary of 

relevant parts of the human resource policy. 

The equal opportunities policy of Eczacıbaşı Group is published on 
Eczacıbaşı Group's website / Social Responsibility / Sustainability / Gender 

Equality, and the human resources policy covering hiring principles is 
published on Eczacıbaşı Group's website / Group / Human Resources / 

Talent Selection / Recruitment. 

Whether the company provides an employee stock ownership 
programme 

There isn't an employee stock ownership programme.  

The name of the section on the corporate website that 

demonstrates the human resource policy covering discrimination 
and mistreatments and the measures to prevent them. Also 

provide a summary of relevant parts of the human resource 

policy.  

Eczacıbaşı Group's policy covering discrimination and mistreatments        
and the measures to prevent them is published on                                         

Eczacıbaşı Group's website / Home / Code of Conduct.  

The number of definitive convictions the company is subject to 

in relation to health and safety measures 
0 

3.5. Ethical Rules and Social Responsibility  

The name of the section on the corporate website that 
demonstrates the code of ethics 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Work Ethics 

The name of the section on the company website that 

demonstrates the corporate social responsibility report. If such a 

report does not exist, provide the information about any measures 

taken on environmental, social and corporate governance issues. 

The activities carried out for corporate social responsibility issues in 
Eczacıbaşı Group are published on Eczacıbaşı Group's website /           

Social Responsibility.  

Any measures combating any kind of corruption including 
embezzlement and bribery 

The measures taken by Eczacıbaşı Group for combating corruption are 
included in the Code of Conduct booklet and published on Eczacıbaşı 

Group's website / Home / Code of Conduct. 

mailto:uyum@eczacibasi.com.tr
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4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS - I 
 

4.2. Activity of the Board of Directors 

Date of the last board evaluation conducted None 

Whether the board evaluation was externally facilitated No 

Whether all board members released from their duties at the GSM Yes 

Name(s) of the board member(s) with specific delegated duties and 

authorities, and descriptions of such duties 

There is no Board member to whom authority was transferred upon 
allocation of duties. Any two of members of the Board of Directors are 

authorized to jointly sign on behalf of the Company. 

Number of reports presented by internal auditors to the audit 
committee or any relevant committee to the board 

0 

Specify the name of the section or page number of the annual 

report that provides the summary of the review of the effectiveness 

of internal controls 

It is explained on page 4 of the Annual Report.  

Name of the Chairman Ferit Bülent Eczacıbaşı 

Name of the CEO Canan Bademlioğlu 

If the CEO and Chair functions are combined: provide the link to 
the relevant PDP announcement providing the rationale for such 

combined roles 

They are not the same person. 

Link to the PDP notification stating that any damage that may be 
caused by the members of the board of directors during the 

discharge of their duties is insured for an amount exceeding 25%  

of the company's capital 

Insurance was subscribed under the umbrella insurance of the Group and 
the sum insured is below 25% of the Company capital. 

The name of the section on the corporate website that demonstrates 
current diversity policy targeting women directors 

There is not a written diversity policy targeting women directors. 

The number and ratio of female directors within the Board of 

Directors 
Number: 1 ; Ratio: 16.7% 

 

 

Composition of Board of Directors 
 

Name, 
Surname of 

Board 

Member 

Whether 
Executive 

Director 

Or Not 

Whether 

Independent Director 
Or Not 

The First 
Election 

Date 

To Board  

Link to PDP Notification 
That Includes The 

Independency 

Declaration 

Whether the 

Independent 
Director 

Considered By 

The Nomination 
Committee 

Whether  
She/He is 

the Director 

Who Ceased to 
Satisfy The 

Independence or 

Not 

Whether The 

Director Has At 

Least 5 Years’ 
Experience On 

Audit, 

Accounting 
And/Or 

Finance Or Not 

Ferit 
Bülent 

Eczacıbaşı 

Nonexecutive 
Not independent 

director 
03/04/1981    Yes 

Rahmi 
Faruk 

Eczacıbaşı 

Nonexecutive 
Not independent 

director 
31/03/1993    Yes 

Mustafa 

Sacit 
Basmacı 

Nonexecutive 
Not independent 

director 
18/05/2004    Yes 

Atalay 
Muharrem 

Gümrah 

Nonexecutive 
Not independent 

director 
12/04/2018    Yes 

Hasan 
Toker 

Alban 

Nonexecutive Independent director 12/04/2018 
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/

Bildirim/669953 
Considered No Yes 

Zühal 
Atanan 

Nonexecutive Independent director 12/04/2018 
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/

Bildirim/669953 
Considered No Yes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669953
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669953
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669953
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669953
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4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS - II 
 

  4.4. Meeting Procedures of the Board of Directors 

Number of physical board meetings in the reporting period 
(meetings in person) 

18 

Director average attendance rate at board meetings 85.8%  

Whether the board uses an electronic portal to support its work 
or not 

No. 

Number of minimum days ahead of the board meeting to provide 

information to directors, as per the board charter 

There is not a written regulation; attention is paid that the information and 
documents related to the agenda of a Board meeting are submitted in such 

periods of time that members can carry out necessary examinations and 
assessments. 

The name of the section on the corporate website that 

demonstrates information about the board charter 

 There is not a written regulation, except for the Articles of Association. 
The principles regarding the meetings of the Board of Directors are set 

forth in article 11 of our Articles of Association. 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar / 

Corporate Governance / General Information / Articles of Association 
"Article 11 - Meetings of the Board of Directors" 

Number of maximum external commitments for board members 
as per the policy covering the number of external duties held by 

directors 

Members of the Board of Directors can take office at companies affiliated 
with Eczacıbaşı Group, however, as a principle, they may not take office 

outside the Group. 

4.5. Board Committees  

Page numbers or section names of the annual report where 
information about the board committees are presented. 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section, 
pages 9 to 11. 

Link(s) to the PDP announcement(s) with the board committee 
charters 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/207037 

 

 

Composition of Board Committees - I  
 

Names of The Board Committees 
Name of Committees 
Defined As "Other"  

In The First Column 

Name-Surname of 

Committee Members 

Whether 
Committee 

Chair or Not 

Whether Board 
Member  

or Not 

Audit Committee  Hasan Toker Alban Yes Board member  

Audit Committee  Zühal Atanan No  Board member 

Corporate Governance Committee  Hasan Toker Alban Yes  Board member 

Corporate Governance Committee  Mustafa Sacit Basmacı No Board member 

Corporate Governance Committee  Gülnur Günbey Kartal No  Not board member 

Committee of Early Detection of Risk  Zühal Atanan Yes  Board member 

Committee of Early Detection of Risk  Atalay Muharrem Gümrah No  Board member 
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4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS - III 
 

4.5. Board Committees - II 

Specify where the activities of the audit committee are presented 
in your annual report or website (Page number or section name in 

the annual report/website) 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section,    
pages 9 and 10.  

Specify where the activities of the corporate governance 
committee are presented in your annual report or website (Page 

number or section name in the annual report/website) 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section,    

page 10.  

Specify where the activities of the nomination committee are 
presented in your annual report or website (Page number or 
section name in the annual report/website) 

No separate nomination committee was established in accordance with 
article 4.5.1 of the Communiqué number II.171. 

Specify where the activities of the early detection of risk 
committee are presented in your annual report or website (Page 

number or section name in the annual report/website) 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section,    

page 10.  

Specify where the activities of the remuneration committee are 

presented in your annual report or website (Page number or 
section name in the annual report/website) 

No separate remuneration committee was established in accordance with 
article 4.5.1 of the Communiqué number II.171. 

4.6. Financial Rights  

Specify where the operational and financial targets and their 

achievement are presented in your annual report (Page number or 
section name in the annual report) 

It is explained on page 11 of the Annual Report. 

Specify the section of website where remuneration policy for 
executive and non-executive directors are presented. 

Investor Relations / Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar /  

Corporate Governance / Remuneration Policy 

Specify where the individual remuneration for board members 

and senior executives are presented in your annual report (Page 
number or section name in the annual report) 

It is explained on the Annual Report / Corporate Governance section,      
pages 11 and 12. 

 

 

Composition of Board Committees - II 
 

Names of The Board 
Committees 

Name of 
Committees 

Defined As 

"Other" In The 
First Column 

The Percentage 

of Non-
executive 

Directors 

The Percentage 

of Independent 
Directors In The 

Committee 

The Number of 

Meetings Held In 

Person 

The Number of Reports 

on its Activities Submitted 

to the Board  

Audit Committee  0% 100% 8 8 

Corporate Governance Committee   0% 33% 5 5 

Committee of Early Detection of Risk  0% 50% 7 7 
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempted 
Not 

applicable 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE            

COMPLIANCE REPORT (CRF) 

     

1.1. FACILITATING THE EXERCISE OF 

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS 

1.1.2 - Up-to-date information and disclosures which 
may affect the exercise of shareholder rights are 

available to investors at the corporate website. 

X      

1.2. RIGHT TO OBTAIN AND REVIEW 

INFORMATION 
     

1.2.1 - Management did not enter into any transaction 
that would complicate the conduct of special audit. 

X      

1.3. GENERAL ASSEMBLY      

1.3.2 - The company ensures the clarity of the General 
Assembly agenda, and that an item on the agenda does 

not cover multiple topics. 

X      

1.3.7 - Insiders with privileged information have 
informed the board of directors about transactions 

conducted on their behalf within the scope of the 
company's activities in order for these transactions to 

be presented at the General Shareholders' Meeting. 

    X  

1.3.8 - Members of the board of directors who are 
concerned with specific agenda items, auditors, and 

other related persons, as well as the officers who are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements were present at the General Shareholders' 

Meeting. 

X      

1.3.10 - The agenda of the General Shareholders' 
Meeting included a separate item detailing the amounts 

and beneficiaries of all donations and contributions. 

X     

The total amount of donations 

made within the year and their 

beneficiaries are one by one read at 
General Shareholder's Meetings. 

1.3.11 - The General Shareholders' Meeting was held 
open to the public, including the stakeholders, without 

having the right to speak. 

X     

The press was not invited 

specifically; the meetings are held 

open to the public and it is possible 
for all stakeholders and press to 

participate in meetings without 

having the right to speak. 

1.4. VOTING RIGHTS      

1.4.1 - There is no restriction preventing shareholders 

from exercising their shareholder rights. 
X      

1.4.2 - The company does not have shares that carry 
privileged voting rights. 

X      

1.4.3 - The company withholds from exercising its 
voting rights at the General Shareholders' Meeting of 

any company with which it has cross-ownership, in 
case such cross-ownership provides management 

control. 

X      

1.5. MINORITY RIGHTS      

1.5.1 - The company pays maximum diligence to the 
exercise of minority rights. 

X      

1.5.2 - The Articles of Association extend the use of 
minority rights to those who own less than one 

twentieth of the outstanding shares, and expand the 

scope of the minority rights. 

  X   
Our Company's Articles of 

Association does not include any 

regulation in this regard. 

1.6. DIVIDEND RIGHT      

1.6.1 - The dividend policy approved by the General 
Shareholders' Meeting is posted on the company 

website. 

X      
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempted 
Not 

applicable 
 

1.6.2 - The dividend distribution policy comprises the 
minimum information to ensure that the shareholders 

can have an opinion on the procedure and principles of 

dividend distributions in the future. 

X      

1.6.3 - The reasons for retaining earnings, and their 

allocations, are stated in the relevant agenda item. 
    X  

1.6.4 - The board reviewed whether the dividend policy 

balances the benefits of the shareholders and those of 
the company. 

X      

1.7. TRANSFER OF SHARES      

1.7.1 - There are no restrictions preventing shares from 
being transferred. 

X      

 
  

2.1. CORPORATE WEBSITE    

2.1.1 - The company website includes all elements listed 
in Corporate Governance Principle 2.1.1. 

X      

2.1.2 - The shareholding structure (names, privileges, 
number and ratio of shares, and beneficial owners of 

more than 5% of the issued share capital) is updated on 

the website at least every 6 months. 

X      

2.1.4 - The company website is prepared in other 
selected foreign languages, in a way to present exactly 

the same information with the Turkish content. 

X      

2.2. ANNUAL REPORT    

2.2.1 - The board of directors ensures that the annual 
report represents a true and complete view of the 

company's activities. 

X      

2.2.2 - The annual report includes all elements listed in 
Corporate Governance Principle 2.2.2. 

X      

    

3.1. CORPORATION’S POLICY ON 

STAKEHOLDERS 
   

3.1.1 - The rights of the stakeholders are protected 
pursuant to the relevant regulations, contracts and within 
the framework of bona fides principles. 

X      

3.1.3 - Policies or procedures addressing stakeholders' 
rights are published on the company's website. 

 X    

There is not a separate policy and 

procedure in this regard, and it is 
explained under the sections of the 

Work Ethics on our website. 

3.1.4 - A whistleblowing programme is in place for 

reporting legal and ethical issues. 
X      

3.1.5 - The company addresses conflicts of interest 
among stakeholders in a balanced manner. 

X      

3.2. SUPPORTING THE PARTICIPATION OF 

THE STAKEHOLDERS IN THE 

CORPORATION’S MANAGEMENT 

   

3.2.1 - The Articles of Association, or the internal 
regulations (terms of reference/manuals), regulate the 

participation of employees in management. 

  X   

The Articles of Association or the 

internal regulations do not regulate 

it. 

3.2.2 - Surveys/other research techniques, consultation, 
interviews, observation method etc. were conducted to 

obtain opinions from stakeholders on decisions that 
significantly affect them. 

X      
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempted 
Not 

applicable 
 

3.3. HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY    

3.3.1 - The company has adopted an employment policy 
ensuring equal opportunities, and a succession plan for 

all key managerial positions. 

X      

3.3.2 - Recruitment criteria are documented. X      

3.3.3 - The company has a policy on human resources 
development, and organises trainings for employees. 

X      

3.3.4 - Meetings have been organised to inform 

employees on the financial status of the company, 

remuneration, career planning, education and health. 

X      

3.3.5 - Employees, or their representatives, were notified 
of decisions impacting them. The opinion of the related 

trade unions was also taken. 

X      

3.3.6 - Job descriptions and performance criteria have 
been prepared for all employees, announced to them and 

taken into account to determine employee remuneration. 

X      

3.3.7 - Measures (procedures, trainings, raising 

awareness, goals, monitoring, complaint mechanisms) 
have been taken to prevent discrimination, and to protect 

employees against any physical, mental, and emotional 
mistreatment. 

X      

3.3.8 - The company ensures freedom of association and 
supports the right for collective bargaining. 

  X   

There are certain limitations in this 

regard in accordance with the 
Company procedures. 

3.3.9 - A safe working environment for employees is 

maintained. 
X      

3.4. RELATIONS WITH CUSTOMERS AND 

SUPPLIERS 
   

3.4.1 - The company measured its customer satisfaction, 
and operated to ensure full customer satisfaction. 

X      

3.4.2 - Customers are notified of any delays in handling 

their requests. 
X      

3.4.3 - The company complied with the quality standards 

with respect to its products and services. 
X      

3.4.4 - The company has in place adequate controls to 
protect the confidentiality of sensitive information and 

business secrets of its customers and suppliers. 

X      

3.5. ETHICAL RULES AND SOCIAL 

RESPONSIBILITY 
   

3.5.1 - The board of the corporation has adopted a code 

of ethics, disclosed on the corporate website. 
X      

3.5.2 - The company has been mindful of its social 

responsibility and has adopted measures to prevent 
corruption and bribery.  

X      
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempted 
Not 

applicable 
 

4.1. ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

4.1.1 - The board of directors has ensured strategy and 
risks do not threaten the long-term interests of the 

company, and that effective risk management is in place. 

X      

4.1.2 - The agenda and minutes of board meetings 

indicate that the board of directors discussed and 
approved strategy, ensured resources were adequately 

allocated, and monitored company and management 

performance. 

X      

4.2. ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS 
 

4.2.1 - The board of directors documented its meetings 
and reported its activities to the shareholders. 

 X    
The Board of Directors does not 

report to the shareholders. 

4.2.2 - Duties and authorities of the members of the 
board of directors are disclosed in the annual report. 

X      

4.2.3 - The board has ensured the company has an 
internal control framework adequate for its activities, 

size and complexity. 

X      

4.2.4 - Information on the functioning and effectiveness 
of the internal control system is provided in the annual 

report. 

X      

4.2.5 - The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer are separated and defined. 

X      

4.2.7 - The board of directors ensures that the Investor 

Relations department and the corporate governance 

committee work effectively. The board works closely 
with them when communicating and settling disputes 

with shareholders. 

X      

4.2.8 - The company has subscribed to a Directors and 

Officers liability insurance covering more than 25% of 
the capital. 

  X   

Insurance was subscribed under the 
umbrella insurance of Eczacıbaşı 

Group and the sum insured is below 
25% of the Company capital. 

4.3. STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS 
 

4.3.9 - The board of directors has approved the policy on 
its own composition, setting a minimal target of 25% for 

female directors. The board annually evaluates its 

composition and nominates directors so as to be 
compliant with the policy. 

  X   

A target rate and a target time have 
not been determined yet for the 

woman member rate in the Board of 

Directors and the assessment studies 
in this regard are ongoing. 

4.3.10 - At least one member of the audit committee has 
5 years of experience in audit/accounting and finance. 

X      

4.4. BOARD MEETING PROCEDURES 
 

4.4.1 - Each board member attended the majority of the 
board meetings in person. 

X      

4.4.2 - The board has formally approved a minimum 
time by which information and documents relevant to 

the agenda items should be supplied to all board 
members. 

  X   No minimum time has been defined. 

4.4.3 - The opinions of board members that could not 
attend the meeting, but did submit their opinion in 

written format, were presented to other members. 

    X  

4.4.4 - Each member of the board has one vote. X      
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Compliance Status Remarks 

Yes Partial No Exempted 
Not 

applicable 
 

4.4.5 - The board has a charter/written internal rules 
defining the meeting procedures of the board. 

  X   

There is not a written regulation, 

except for the Articles of 
Association. The principles 

regarding the meetings of the Board 

of Directors are set forth in article 
11 of our Company's Articles of 

Association. 

4.4.6 - Board minutes document that all items on the 
agenda are discussed, and board resolutions include 

director's dissenting opinions if any. 

X      

4.4.7 - There are limits to external commitments of 
board members. Shareholders are informed of board 

members' external commitments at the General 

Shareholders' Meeting. 

 X    

Members of the Board of Directors 

can take office at companies 

affiliated with Eczacıbaşı Group, 
however, as a principle, they may 

not take office outside the Group. 

The external commitments of Board 
members have not been included as 

an individual item on the agenda at 

the General Shareholder's Meetings. 
However, such information is 

provided in the annual report. 

4.5. BOARD COMMITTEES       

4.5.5 - Board members serve in only one of the Board's 

committees. 

  X   

Considering the existing structure of 

the Company's board of directors, 

some members of the Board had to 
take office in several committees 

within the scope of the compulsion 

to establish 3 different committees 
pursuant to the Capital Market 

legislation. 

4.5.6 - Committees have invited persons to the meetings 
as deemed necessary to obtain their views. 

X      

4.5.7 - If external consultancy services are used, the 
independence of the provider is stated in the annual 

report. 

    X  

4.5.8 - Minutes of all committee meetings are kept and 
reported to board members. 

X      

4.6. FINANCIAL RIGHTS  

4.6.1 - The board of directors has conducted a board 
performance evaluation to review whether it has 

discharged all its responsibilities effectively. 

 X    

Although our Board of Directors 

held a separate meeting in which it 

assessed its activities within the 

year, there is not any written 

performance evaluation system or 
performance evaluation report for 

the Board of Directors. 

 4.6.4 - The company did not extend any loans to its 
board directors or executives, nor extended their lending 

period or enhanced the amount of those loans, or 
improve conditions thereon, and did not extend loans 

under a personal credit title by third parties or provided 

guarantees such as surety in favour of them. 

X      

4.6.5 - The individual remuneration of board members 

and executives is disclosed in the annual report. 
 X    

The Company collectively disclosed 

it to the public in its annual report in 

parallel with the general 

applications. 
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE  

I hereby declare that within the framework of the legislation, the articles of association, and the criteria specified in 

the Corporate Governance Communiqué of the Capital Markets Board, I am a candidate for taking the office as an 

"independent member" in EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (Company), and within 

this scope; 

 

 That there has been no employment relation at manager level to undertake significant roles and responsibilities, 

that more than 5 percent of capital or voting rights or privileged shares has not been collectively or individually 

acquired or that no material commercial relationship has been established during the last five years between the 

Company, partnerships in which the Company has management control or material effect, partners having 

management control on the Company or having material effect on the Company, legal persons in which such 

partners have management control, and me, my spouse and my second degree relatives by blood and marriage; 

 That during the last five years, I have not taken office as a partner (5 percent and above), employee in capacity of 

manager to undertake significant roles and responsibilities or member of the board of directors in the companies 

from/to which the Company has considerably purchased/sold service or product, within framework of the 

agreements concluded including notably the Company's audit (including tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), 

rating and consultancy, for the period during which such service or product purchase or sales transactions have 

been performed; 

 That I have the professional education, knowledge, and experience to carry out properly the duties that I shall 

undertake as an independent member of the board of directors; 

 That I will not work as a full-time employee in public institutes and institutions, except for being a faculty 

member at a university and provided that it is consistent with the legislation, after being elected as a member; 

 That I am considered a resident of Turkey pursuant to the Income Tax Law; 

 That I possess strong ethic standards, professional reputation, and experience to make positive contributions to 

the Company's activities, to preserve my impartiality in any conflict of interest between the company and its 

shareholders, and to decide independently taking into account the interests of the stakeholders; 

 That I will spare time for works of the Company to such extent that I can track functioning of the Company's 

activities and completely fulfill the requirements of the duties I assume; 

 That I have not served as a board member at the Company’s board of directors for more than six years in the last 

ten years; 

 That I do not take office as an independent member of the board of directors in the Company and in more than 

three of the companies controlled by the partners having management control on the Company and, in total, in 

more than five of the companies being traded in the stock market; 

 And that I have not been registered and announced in the name of a legal entity that has been elected as a 

member of the board of directors. 

 

 

 

March 7th, 2018 
 

Zühal ATANAN 
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE 

I hereby declare that within the framework of the legislation, the articles of association, and the criteria specified in 

the Corporate Governance Communiqué of the Capital Markets Board, I am a candidate for taking the office as an 

"independent member" in EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (Company), and within 

this scope; 

  

 That there has been no employment relation at manager level to undertake significant roles and responsibilities, 

that more than 5 percent of capital or voting rights or privileged shares has not been collectively or individually 

acquired or that no material commercial relationship has been established during the last five years between the 

Company, partnerships in which the Company has management control or material effect, partners having 

management control on the Company or having material effect on the Company, legal persons in which such 

partners have management control, and me, my spouse and my second degree relatives by blood and marriage; 

 That during the last five years, I have not taken office as a partner (5 percent and above), employee in capacity of 

manager to undertake significant roles and responsibilities or member of the board of directors in the companies 

from/to which the Company has considerably purchased/sold service or product, within framework of the 

agreements concluded including notably the Company's audit (including tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), 

rating and consultancy, for the period during which such service or product purchase or sales transactions have 

been performed; 

 That I have the professional education, knowledge, and experience to carry out properly the duties that I shall 

undertake as an independent member of the board of directors; 

 That I will not work as a full-time employee in public institutes and institutions, except for being a faculty 

member at a university and provided that it is consistent with the legislation, after being elected as a member; 

 That I am considered a resident of Turkey pursuant to the Income Tax Law; 

 That I possess strong ethic standards, professional reputation, and experience to make positive contributions to 

the Company's activities, to preserve my impartiality in any conflict of interest between the company and its 

shareholders, and to decide independently taking into account the interests of the stakeholders; 

 That I will spare time for works of the Company to such extent that I can track functioning of the Company's 

activities and completely fulfill the requirements of the duties I assume; 

 That I have not served as a board member at the Company’s board of directors for more than six years in the last 

ten years; 

 That I do not take office as an independent member of the board of directors in the Company and in more than 

three of the companies controlled by the partners having management control on the Company and, in total, in 

more than five of the companies being traded in the stock market; 

 And that I have not been registered and announced in the name of a legal entity that has been elected as a 

member of the board of directors. 

 

 

 

March 7th, 2018 
 

Hasan Toker ALBAN 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the General Assembly of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

 

A.  Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

 

1. Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as 

the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and consolidated financial statement notes. 

 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”). 

 

2. Basis for Opinion  

 

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are 

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby 

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent 

Auditors (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent audit in regulations 

issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements. We have also fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and regulations. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis 

for our opinion.

http://www.pwc.com.tr/


 

 

 

3. Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters were addressed in 
the context of our independent audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Key Audit Matters 
 

 How audit matters are handled 

Financial Investments – Fair value 
measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 

  

 
As explained in Note 3.6 and Note 7, the Group 
has a 37% stake in its ultimate parent, 
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. and is accounted for at 
fair value and classified as long term available-
for-sale under financial investments in the 
accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As a result of the fair value study performed by 
the Group as of 31 December 2018, the Group 
recognized its shares in Eczacıbaşı Holding 
A.Ş. at a fair value of TL3,017,850 thousand in 
the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
We focused on this matter during our audit for 
the following reasons below:  
 
- Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. financial 

investment that is carried at fair value is 
material to the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements and the related fair 
value study requires specialist 
involvement. 
 

- The fair value model includes future 
management estimates (ie. weighted 
average cost of capital rate, growth rate 
and minority discount) where realization of 
such management estimates in the future 
includes inherent uncertainties. 

 

  
In summary, the following audit procedures 
are performed in the audit of fair value 
measurement study of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.: 
 
- Mathematical accuracy of the consistency 

of the information used in fair value study 
with the financial statements and related 
calculation are checked. 

 
- Valuation methods and technical data used 

are evaluated, with the support of our 
specialists, by conducting interviews with 
the expert and the Group management who 
carried out the related work. 

 
- The expertise of those, who carried out the 

valuation study, is assessed in accordance 
with SIA 500 “Audit Evidence”. 

 
- Data from external sources, such as 

“market value” and “similar acquisitions”, 
used in the valuation models are compared 
to the relevant independent data sources. 

 
- The reasonableness of the key management 

estimates used in the discounted cash flow 
models (ie. weighted average cost of capital 
rate, long term growth rates and minority 
discount) are evaluated with the support of 
our specialists and the sensitivity analysis 
performed are checked. In addition, the 
future revenue estimates used in modeling 
are compared to the prior period results 
and future budgets of related companies. 

 
- The compliance of the related disclosures 

with respect to financial investments with 
TFRS are checked. 
 

Based on the above procedures performed we 
had no material finding on the financial 
investments. 

  



 

 

 

4. Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the  

Consolidated Financial Statements  

 

The Group management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with TFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

5. Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Responsibilities of independent auditors in an independent audit are as follows: 

 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an independent auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance expressed as a result of an independent audit 

conducted in accordance with SIA is a high level of assurance but does not guarantee that a material 

misstatement will always be detected. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

 

As part of an independent audit conducted in accordance with SIA, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
  



 

 

 

5. Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Continued) 

 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control.  

 

- Assess the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  
 

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our independent auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.    

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

  



 

 

 

5. Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Continued) 

 

We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence.  We also communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.   

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.   

 

B. Other Responsibilities Arising From Regulatory Requirements 

 

1. No matter has come to our attention that is significant according to subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of 

Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and that causes us to believe that the Company’s 

bookkeeping activities concerning the period from 1 January to 31 December 2018 period are not in 

compliance with the TCC and provisions of the Company’s articles of association related to financial 

reporting. 

 

2. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, the Board of Directors submitted the 

necessary explanations to us and provided the documents required within the context of our audit. 

 

3. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 398 of the TCC, the auditor’s report on the early risk 

identification system and committee was submitted to the Company’s Board of Directors on  

27 February 2019.  

 

 

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 

Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 

 

 

 

 

Ediz Günsel, SMMM 

Partner 

 

Istanbul, 27 February 2019  
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 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

ASSETS 
 

Current assets 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 619,899 506,419 

Financial investments 

   - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 1,146 354 

Trade receivables 

   - Trade receivables from related parties 9 468 583 

   - Trade receivables from third parties 10 185,667 145,393 

Other receivables 

   - Other receivables from related parties 9 370 257 

   - Other receivables from third parties 11 120 126 

Derivative financial instruments  - 5,434 

Inventories 12 87,536 72,636 

Prepaid expenses 13 2,522 2,209 

Current income tax assets 14 13,810 63 

Other current assets 20 845 7,850 
 

Total current assets  912,383 741,324 

 

Non-current assets 

 

Other receivables 

   - Other receivables from related parties 9 331 263 

   - Other receivables from third parties 11 12 12 

Financial investments 

   - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 3,392 3,185 

   - Financial assets at fair value through 

      other comprehensive income 7 3,019,743 2,588,218 

Investments accounted for using equity method 4 123,873 101,820 

Investment properties 15 357,183 361,789 

Property, plant and equipment 16 6,048 6,066 

Intangible assets 17 14,396 10,620 

Prepaid expenses 13 1,136 1,192 

Deferred tax assets 28 5,777 6,744 

Other non-current assets 20 12,198 10,142 
 

Total non-current assets  3,544,089 3,090,051 
 

TOTAL ASSESTS  4,456,472 3,831,375 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

LIABILITIES 
 

Current liabilities 

 

Short term borrowings 

   - Short term borrowings to related parties 8 35,902 3,600 

Trade payables 

   - Trade payables from related parties 9 7,065 3,767 

   - Trade payables from third parties 10 186,616 132,203 

Employee benefit obligations 19 1,060 1,125 

Other payables 

   - Other payables from third parties 11 6,123 4,599 

Deferred income 13 450 782 

Current income tax liabilities 28 - 7,829 

Short term provisions 

   - Short term provisions for employee benefits 19 2,956 2,751 

   - Other short term provisions 18 1,453 894 

Short term liabilities due to investment accounted 

   for using the equity method 4 - 52,500 

Other current liabilities 20 112 96 
 

Total current liabilities  241,737 210,146 

 

Non-current liabilities 

 

Long term borrowings 

   - Long term borrowings to third parties 8 48,076 15,032 

Deferred income 13 19,498 - 

Long term provisions 

   - Long term provisions for employee benefits 19 4,079 2,953 

Deferred tax liabilities 28 145,238 122,589 
 

Total non-current liabilities  216,891 140,574 
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  458,628 350,720 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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   Revised 

   (Note 2) 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

EQUITY 

 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company  3,997,807 3,480,588 

 

Paid-in share capital 21 685,260 685,260 

Adjustments to share capital 21 105,777 105,777 

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss 

 - Defined benefit plans re-measurement gains / losses  (4,058) (3,874) 

   - Gains / losses on financial assets measured at 

 fair value through other comprehensive income (*)  2,746,184 2,332,744 

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss 

- Foreign currency conversion adjustments  10,010 10,010 

Restricted reserves 21 199,697 168,095 

Retained earnings  14,818 36,481 

Net income for the period  240,119 146,095 
 

Non-controlling interests  37 67 
 

TOTAL EQUITY  3,997,844 3,480,655 
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  4,456,472 3,831,375 
 

(*) “Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” is 

presented under “Other revaluatin on remeasurement gains” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 

Consolidated financials for the period between 1 January - 31 December 2018 were approved by the Board of 

Directors on February 27, 2019. However they will be finalized after they will be approved in general assembly 

meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  1 January - 1 January - 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Revenue 22 692,094 597,909 

Cost of sales (-) 22 (447,692) (363,476) 
 

GROSS PROFIT  244,402 234,433 
 

General administrative expenses (-) 23 (62,692) (62,074) 

Marketing expenses (-) 23 (128,665) (115,465) 

Other operating income 25 368,030 197,014 

Other operating expenses (-) 25 (212,712) (124,849) 
 

OPERATING PROFIT  208,363 129,059 
 

Income from investing activities 26 72,599 146,705 

Expenses from investing activities (-)  (4) (174) 

Share of (loss) / income of investments 

  accounted for using equity method 4 5,006 (115,824) 
 

Operating income before finance expense  285,964 159,766 
 

Financial income 27 26,999 17,087 

Financial expenses (-) 27 (17,712) (5,976) 
 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  295,251 170,877 
 

Tax expense from continuing operations  (55,162) (28,137) 
 

Income tax expense (-) 28 (53,075) (26,622) 

Deferred tax (expenses) / income 28 (2,087) (1,515) 
 

Profit from continuing operations  240,089 142,740 
 

Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations 30 - 6,791 
 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  240,089 149,531 

 

Attributable to 

 Non-controlling interests  (30) 3,436 

 Equity holders of the parent  240,119 146,095 
 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  240,089 149,531 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

   with face value of KR 1 each  68,526,000,000 68,526,000,000 

 

Basic earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share from continuous operations 29 0.3504  0.2080 

Basic earnings / (loss) per share 

   from discontinued operations 29 -  0.0051 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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   Revised 

   (Note 2) 

  1 January - 1 January - 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Profit for the period  240,089 149,531 
 

Items that not to be reclassified to profit or loss:    
 

Losses on remeasurements of defined benefit plans  (192) - 

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted  

  for using equity method that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    

- Gains on remeasurements of defined benefit plans 

      from investments accounted for using equity method 4 8 - 

- Share of other comprehensive income of investments 

      accounted for using equity method that will not be  

      reclassified to profit or loss 4 3,497 7,559 

Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value 

     through other comprehensive income (*)  431,516 435,254 

Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value 

     through other comprehensive income, tax effect (**) 28 (21,573) (21,763) 
 

Other comprehensive (expenses) / income  413,256 421,050 
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  653,345 570,581 

 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to: 

 

 Non-controlling interest  (30) 3,777 

 Equity holders of the parent  653,375 566,804 
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  653,345 570,581 

 

(*) “Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” is presented under 

“Other revaluatin on remeasurement gains” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 

(**) “Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, tax effect” 

is presented under “Other revaluatin on remeasurement gains, tax effect” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 Items that will Items that will 
 be reclassified not be reclassified  
 subsequently subsequently  
 to profit to profit  
          or loss                   or loss                             
           

  Gains on financial   Gains on financial       
  assets measured   assets measured               Retained earnings  
  at fair value Foreign Defined at fair value    Attributable  
 Paid in Adjustments through other currency benefit plans through other   Net profit to equity Non  
 Share to share comprehensive translation re-measurement comprehensive Restricted Retained for the holders of controlling Total 
 sermaye capital    income differences gains/(losses) income reserves earnings period company interest Equity 

 
As previously reported 
   at 1 January 2017 685,260 105,777 1,912,833 10,010 (4,228) - 277,913 78,387 184,803 3,250,755 (6,265) 3,244,490 
TFRS 9 policy change 
   transition effect (Note 2) - - (1,912,833) - - 1,912,833 - - - - - - 
As of 1 January 2017 
   (revised) 685,260 105,777 - 10,010 (4,228) 1,912,833 277,913 78,387 184,803 3,250,755 (6,265) 3,244,490 
Transfers - - - - - - 50,616 134,187 (184,803) - - - 
Dividend paid - - - - - - (160,434) (182,196) - (342,630) - (342,630) 
Acquisition / disposal effect  
   of subsidiary - - - - 354 (798) - 6,103 - 5,659 2,555 8,214 
Total comprehesive income / (expense) - - - - - 420,709 - - 146,095 566,804 3,777 570,581 
 

31 December 2017 (revised) 685,260 105,777 - 10,010 (3,874) 2,332,744 168,095 36,481 146,095 3,480,588 67 3,480,655 

 
As previously reported 
   at 1 January 2018 685,260 105,777 2,332,744 10,010 (3,874) - 168,095 36,481 146,095 3,480,588 67 3,480,655 
TFRS 9 policy change 
   transition effect (Note 2) - - (2,332,744) - - 2,332,744 - - - - - - 
As of 1 January 2018 
   (revised) 685,260 105,777 - 10,010 (3,874) 2,332,744 168,095 36,481 146,095 3,480,588 67 3,480,655 
Transfers - - - - - - 30,602 115,493 (146,095) - - - 
Dividend paid - - - - - - - (137,052) - (137,052) - (137,052) 
Disposal effect of subsidiary (*) - - - - - - - (104) - (104) - (104) 
Total comprehesive income / (expense) - - - - (184) 413,440 - - 240,119 653,375 (30) 653,345 
Other (**) - - - - - - 1,000 - - 1,000 - 1,000 
 

31 December 2018 685,260 105,777 - 10,010 (4,058) 2,746,184 199,697 14,818 240,119 3,997,807 37 3,997,844 

 
(*) The procedures related to the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd., registered in Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus and informally active, have been initiated on 31 January 2018, no. 89, no. 

11, dated June 11, 2018; Announcement was made in the V. Annex of Official Gazette and the termination procedure has been completed. The termination was announced on 4 July 2018 and it is approved by 
the Official Cabinet Office and the Register Office in Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. 

 

(**) In fiscal year 2018 the Group has taken the advantage of corporate tax deduction in the amount of TL 1,000 thousand. 
 

 The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  1 January - 1 January - 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

A. Cash flows from operating activities  175,271 79,141 
 

Profit for the period  240,089 149,531 
 

Adjustments for reconciliation of profit / loss for the period 
Adjustments for depreciation and amortisation 15, 16, 17 10,343 10,333 

Adjustments for employment termination benefits 19, 24 3,206 1,076 

Adjustments for litigations 18, 25 559 350 

Adjustments for impairments of receivables 10 1,109 159 

Provision for diminution in value of inventories, net 12 1,459 1,511 

Adjustments for earnings from 

disposal of subsidiaries income 26 (20) (47,302) 

Loss / (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment, net 26 (11) (6) 

Group’s share in the (profit) / loss of investments accounted for 

   using equity method 4 (21,331) (12,299) 

Adjustment for impairement 4 16,326 128,123 

Adjustments for interest incomes 25 (57,755) (33,261) 

Adjustments for interest expenses 25, 27 20,121 8,742 

Adjustments for income tax expense / (income) 28 55,162 28,137 

Adjustments for fair value losses (gains) of derivative 

   financial insturements 27 (15,999) (17,074) 

Adjustments for fair value losses of financial assets 26 (999) (61) 

Adjustments related to profit share income / (expenses) 9, 26 (71,569) (99,396) 

Adjustments for unrecognized foreign exchange differences  11,112 46,253 

Other adjustments related to non-cash items 

   expense / income accruals  718 (3,387) 

Adjustments related to discontinued operations, net 30 - 11,966 
 

  192,520 173,395 
 

Changes in working capital    

Adjustments for increase / decrease in trade receivables  (40,635) (86,090) 

Adjustments for increase / decrease in inventories  (21,296) 11,585 

Adjustments for increase / decrease in trade payables  57,723 69,554 

Adjustments for increase / decrease in other receivables 

   related to operations  (6,338) (35,491) 

Increase / decrease in prepaid expenses  (257) 456 

Increase / decrease in other payables related to operations  1,475 (1,000) 

Increase / decrease in deferred income  19,166 2,926 

Cash flows related to discontinued operations, net 30 - (47,461) 
 

  9,838 (85,521) 
 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Interest received  58,227 34,510 

Taxes returns / (payments)  (74,714) (36,922) 

Payments related with provisions for employee benefits 19 (1,867) (926) 

Interest paid  (8,733) (4,474) 

Cash flows related to discontinued operations, net 30 - (921) 
 

  (27,087) (8,733) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  1 January - 1 January - 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

B. Cash flows from investing activities  1,123 76,129 
 

Cash outflows from the purchase of tangible and 

   intangible assets 16, 17 (8,273) (6,169) 

Cash inflows from the sale of tangible and 

   intangible assets  52 31 

Cash inflows from sale of investment property 15 12,366 11,809 

Cash outflows from investment property purchases 15 (8,672) (1,768) 

Cash outflows from capital advance payments to joint 

   ventures and associates 4 (68,826) (75,623) 

Cash inflows from sale of tangible assets  124 49,847 

Dividends received  74,352 101,127 

Net cash flows related to discontinued operations 30 - (3,125) 
 

C. Cash flows from financing activities  (63,074) (310,521) 
 

Cash  (outflows) / inflows from bank borrowings  64,663 (1,958) 

Cash inflows from derivative financial instruments  21,433 18,152 

Dividends paid  (137,052) (342,630) 

Interest paid  (12,118) (4,551) 

Net cash flows related to discontinued operations 30 - 20,466 
 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  113,320 (155,251) 
 

D. Cash and cash equivalents at the 

     beginning of the period 6 505,251 660,502 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

   (A+B+C+D)  6 618,571 505,251 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP 

 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the “Company”) was established on  

24 October 1951. The Company has no production activity; but has a holding structure with its subsidiaries, joint 

ventures and associates. The Company directly operates in the real estate development industry and in health, 

personal care and cosmetics industries through its joint ventures, subsidiaries and associates. 

 

The Company’s registered address is as follows: 

 

Büyükdere Caddesi, Ali Kaya Sokak No: 5 Levent 34394, İstanbul. 

 

The Company is registered with the Capital Markets Board of Turkey (“CMB”) and its shares have been quoted on 

the Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“BIST”) (formerly named as İstanbul Menkul Kıymetler Borsası (“İMKB”)) since 1990. 

As of 31 December 2018, 19.70% (31 December 2017: 20.02%) of total shares are quoted on the BIST. The 

ultimate parent company of the Group is Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., which possesses 50.62% (31 December 2017: 

50.62%) shares of the Company (Note 21). The ultimate parent of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. is managed by 

Eczacıbaşı family. 

 

As of 31 December 2018, the personnel number of the Group is 397 (31 December 2017: 477). 

 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are referred to as the “Group” in these 

notes. The operations of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates included in the consolidation are stated 

below: 

 

Subsidiaries 

 

The Company’s subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”), the nature of businesses of the Subsidiaries and their business 

segments are as follows: 

 

Companies accounted by line consolidation: 
 

Subsidiaries Nature of business Segment 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. (“EİP”)  Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. (“EİT”) Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd. (“Eczacıbaşı Cyprus”) (*) Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 

   (“Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul”) Real estate development Construction 
 

(*) The procedures related to the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd., registered in Turkish Republic of 

Northern Cyprus and informally active, were initiated on 31 January 2018, no. 89, no. 11, dated June 11, 2018; 

Announcement was made in the V. Annex of Official Gazette and the termination procedure was completed. The 

termination was announced on 4 July 2018 and it is approved by the Official Cabinet Office and the Register Office in 

Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. All subsidiaries other than Eczacıbaşı Cyprus are registered in Turkey. 

 

Joint Ventures 

 

The Company’s joint ventures (the “Joint Ventures”) are listed below. All Joint Ventures are registered in 

Turkey. The nature of business of the Joint Ventures and their respective businesses segments for the purpose of 

the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

 

Joint Ventures Nature of business Partner Segment 
 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane 

     Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“EBX”) Serum production and sales Baxter S.A. Health 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi Radiopharmaceuticals Uğur Bozluolçay and  

     ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı-Monrol”) production and sales Şükrü Bozluolçay Health 
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP (Continued) 

 

Associates 
 

The associates of the Group (“Associates”) and their respective business segments are as follows: 

 

Associates Nature of business 
 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. (“Ekom”) Export services 

Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Vitra Karo”) Production of ceramic tiles 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“ESH”) (*) Special care and nursing services 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. (“OSGB”) (*) Occupational health and safety services 

Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri  

   Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı Shire”) Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals 
 

(*) Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. has decided to suspend its activities and operation within the scope 

of the Board of Directors' decision dated 15 March 2018 and the Law No. 6331 on Occupational Health and Safety 

Law. Within this respect; Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş has 

decided to merge, legal process of this merge has registered as of 31 October 2018. 

 

 

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

2.1 Basis of presentation 

 

2.1.1  Statement of compliance 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Turkish Financial 

Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) promulgated by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 

Authority (“POA”) that are set out in the 5th article of the communiqué numbered II-14.1 “Communiqué on the 

Principles of Financial Reporting In Capital Markets” (“the Communiqué”) announced by the Capital Markets 

Board (“CMB”) on 13 June 2013 and published in Official Gazette numbered 28676. 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the “Announcement 

regarding to TAS Taxonomy” which was published on 2 June 2016 by POA and the format and mandatory 

information recommended by CMB.  

 

With the decision law numbered 11/367 taken on 17 March 2005, the CMB announced that, effective from  

1 January 2005, for companies operating in Turkey and preparing their financial statements in accordance with 

CMB Financial Reporting Standards, the application of inflation accounting is no longer required. The 

accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law. 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the financial 

assets and liabilities which are expressed with their fair values. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value 

of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
2.1.2  Continuity concept 
 
Group’s consodilated financial statements prepared in accordance with continuity principle. 
 
2.1.3  Functional currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated 

financial statements are presented in TL, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 

currency of the Group. 
 
2.1.4  Basis of consolidation 
 
Subsidiaries: 
 
The proportion of voting power held by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total proportion of ownership 

interests at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are presented below: 
 
 Proportion of Proportion of Total Total 
 voting power held voting power held proportion of proportion of 
 by the Company and its Ecazcıbaşı Family voting power ownership 
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries (%) members (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

EİP 99.92 99.92 0.02 0.02 99.94 99.94 99.92 99.92 
EİT 99.88 99.88 - - 99.88 99.88 99.88 99.88 
Eczacıbaşı Cyprus (*) - 100.00 - - - 100.00 - 99.96 
Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul 99.49 99.49 0.02 0.02 99.51 99.51 99.49 99.49 
 
(*) The procedures related to the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd., registered in Turkish Republic of 

Northern Cyprus and informally active, were initiated on 31 January 2018, no. 89, no. 11, dated June 11, 2018; 
Announcement was made in the V. Annex of Official Gazette and the termination procedure was completed. The 
termination was announced on 4 July 2018 and it is approved by the Official Cabinet Office and the Register Office in 
Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. All subsidiaries other than Eczacıbaşı Cyprus are registered in Turkey. 

 

Subsidiaries are companies in which EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. has 

power to control the financial and operating policies for the benefit of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal 

Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. either through the power to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights 

relating to shares in the companies as a result of shares owned directly and indirectly by itself and / or by certain 

Eczacıbaşı Family members and companies whereby EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. exercises control over the voting rights of (but does not have the economic benefit of) the shares 

held by them or although not having the power to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights, through the 

exercise of actual dominant influence over the financial and operating policies. Proportion of ownership interest 

represents the effective shareholding of the Group through the shares held by EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and indirectly by its Subsidiaries. 

 

Control is achieved when the Company: 
 

 has power over the investee; 

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
2.1.4  Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 
Subsidiaries (continued): 
 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the 
voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an 
investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 
 

 the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 
other vote holders; 

 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 
at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into 
line with the Group’s accounting policies. 
 
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries: 
 
Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 

subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-

controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 

between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 

received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

If the Group loses control in a subsidiary, the profit / (loss) after-sales is calculated as the difference between the sale 

price and the fair value of the remaining share, and the difference between the assets (including goodwill) and 

liabilities and the previous carrying amounts of non-controlling interests. In other comprehensive income, the amounts 

previously accounted for in relation to the subsidiary and collected in equity are recognized according to the 

accounting method that will be used on the assumption that the Company has sold the related assets (eg transfer to 

profit / loss or transfer directly to prior years' profits according to the relevant TMS standards).  
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
2.1.4  Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Joint Ventures: 

 

The proportion of voting power held on joint ventures by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total 

proportion of ownership interests at 31 December are presented below: 

 

  Proportion of   

 Proportion of voting  Total 

 voting power held power held by Total proportion proportion of 

 by the Company and Eczacıbaşı Family of voting power ownership 

Joint Ventures its Subsidiaries (%) members (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

EBX 50.00 50.00 - - 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (*) 50.00 50.00 - - 50.00 50.00 84.00 84.00 
 

(*) With the additional agreement protocol entered into force on 30 October 2017, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal 

Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş and Bozluolçay Holding A.Ş. have not participated in capital increase in Eczacıbaşı 

Monrol at the same rate, but Bozluolçay Holding A.Ş. has committed to participate in mentioned capital increase in 

following next 5 years. However, the controls on both sides on Eczacıbaşı - Monrol remain equal. 
 

The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş are presented below: 

 

  Direct and Total proportion 

  indirect control of ownership interests 

  of Eczacıbaşı - of Eczacıbaşı -  

  Monrol (%) Monrol (%) 

 Country 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

Monrol Poland LTD (*) Polond - 100.00 - 100.00 

Monrol Europe SRL  Romania 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC Egypt 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E.) Egypt 75.00 75.00 75.00 75.00 

Monrol Bulgaria LTD Bulgaria 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nuclear Products 

   Industry & Trade Co - Jordan Jordan 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol MENA LTD Dubai 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

HSM Consulting LTD Dubai 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol Gulf DMCC Dubai 80.00 80.00 80.00 80.00 
 

(*) Sold on 26 March 2018 to Synektik S.A. 

 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 

the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 

which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 

control.  
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
2.1.4  Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Associates: 

 

The proportion of voting power held by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı family members and the total proportion of ownership 

interests in Associates accounted for using the equity method at 31 December are presented below: 

 

 Proportion of Proportion of   

 voting power voting power   

 held by the held by  Total 

 Company and Eczacıbaşı Family Total proportion proportion of 

 its subsidiaries members of voting power ownership 

Associates (%) (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

ESH (*) 45.35 45.35 0.10 0.10 45.45 45.45 45.31 45.31 

Ekom 26.36 26.36 1.72 1.72 28.08 28.08 26.36 26.36 

OSGB (*) - 45.35 - - - 45.35 - 45.31 

Vitra Karo (**) 25.00 25.00 0.92 0.92 25.92 25.92 25.00 25.00 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 50.00 50.00 - - 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 
 

(*) Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. has decided to suspend its activities and operation 

within the scope of the Board of Directors' decision dated 15 March 2018 and the Law No. 6331 on 

Occupational Health and Safety Law. Within this respect; Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. and 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş has decided to merge, legal process of this merge has 

registered as of 31 October 2018. 

 
(**) The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Vitra Karo are as follows: 

 
  Direct or indirect control 

 Country   of Vitra Karo (%) 

      2018 2017 
 

Vitra Fliesen GmbH & Co. KG Germany 100.00 100.00 

Engers Keramik Verwaltungs GmbH Germany 100.00 100.00 

Vitra Tiles Llc. Russia 100.00 100.00 

Vitra Ireland Ltd. Ireland 93.41 93.41 

Villeroy & Boch Fliesen GmbH Germany 97.71 97.71 

ZAO Vitra Bath and Tiles JSC Russia 50.00 50.00 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 

those policies. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 

 

2.1.4  Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as 

held for sale. Under the equity method, an investment in associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in the 

consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or a joint venture. When the Group's share of losses 

of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or a joint venture (which includes any 

long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or a joint venture), the 

Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that 

the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or a joint 

venture. 

 

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 

the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint 

venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 

assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the 

investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 

cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 

investment is acquired.  

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or 

a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the 

former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained 

interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance 

with TFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity 

method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part 

interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the 

associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that 

associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income by  that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to 

profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to 

profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.  

 

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 

transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 

to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 

 

Significant changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively and prior period financial statements are 

restated. Group’s significant accounting policies that are used for the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 are consistent with accounting policies presented in the 

consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2017, except for accounting policies related to the first 

transition to TFRS 15 "Revenue from contracts with customers" and TFRS 9, “Financial instruments” standards 

as set out in Note 2.2.1 and Note 2.2.2. 

 

2.2.1 TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” standard 

 

Revenue recognition 

 

In accordance with TFRS 15 "Revenue Standard from Contracts with Customers", which is effective as of  

1 January 2018, Group accounts in the financial statements of the revenue consignment in accordance with the 

following five-tiered model. 

 

 Identification of customer contracts 

 Identification of performance obligations 

 Determination of transaction price in the contract 

 Allocation of price to performance obligations 

 Recognition of revenue 
 

The Group assesses the goods or services undertaken by each contract made with the customers and sets each 

commitment to transfer such goods or services as a separate performance obligation.. 

 

For each performance obligation, at the beginning of the contract, the obligation to fulfill the obligation is to be 

delivered in time or at a certain time. When the control of a good or service is over time and the Group fulfills its 

performance obligations related to sales in a timely manner, the Group takes the financial statements in the 

console at the expiration time by measuring the progress towards fulfillment of the fulfillment obligations. 

 

When Group fulfills the obligation to perform the obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the 

customer, it records the transaction value corresponding to the obligation as revenue in the consolidated financial 

statements. When the control of the goods or services is overtaken by the customers (or as they pass) the goods 

or services are transferred. 

 

When Group evaluates the transfer of the customer for the control of the goods or services sold, 

 

a) Group owns the right to collect the goods or services,, 

b) Owns legal ownership of the goods or services,  

c) The transfer of the possession of the goods or services, 

d) Ownership of the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property of the customer, 

e) Takes into consideration the conditions under which the customer accepts goods or services. 

 

Group does not make any adjustments to the effect of a significant financing component at the commitment price  

if the contract at the outset suggests that the period between the transfer date of the goods or services undertaken 

by the customer and the date the customer pays the price of the goods or services is one year or less. If the other 

party has significant financing within the revenue, the revenue value is determined by discounting future 

collections with the interest rate included in the financing element. The difference is recorded in the related 

periods as Other income from the main operations on the accrual basis. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.2.1 TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” standard (continued) 

 

Transition to TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” 

 

Group recognizes rental income on an accrual basis. The effective interest method is used in accounting of 

interest income. Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive dividends is established. 

 

Group has applied TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”, which has replaced TAS 18, by using 

cumulative effect method on the transition date, 1 January 2018. With this method, Group made evaluation 

studies to determine the cumulative effect of the transition to the TFRS 15 standard and concluded that no 

changes should be made to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

2.2.2  TFRS 9 “Financial assets” standard 

 

Classification and measurement 

 

Group classified its financial assets in three categories; financial assets carried at amortized cost, financial assets 

carried at fair value though profit of loss, financial assets carried at fair value though other comprehensive 

income. Classification is performed in accordance with the business model determined based on the purpose of 

benefits from financial assets and expected cash flows. Management performs the classification of financial 

assets at the acquisition date. 

 

a) Assets recognized at amortized cost 

 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of 

principal and interest, whose payments are fixed or predetermined, which are not actively traded and which are 

not derivative instruments are measured at amortized cost. They are included in current assets, except for 

maturities more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. Those with maturities more than 12 months are 

classified as non-current assets. The Group’s financial assets carried at amortized cost comprise “trade 

receivables" and "cash and cash equivalents” in the statement of financial position. In addition, with recourse 

factoring receivables classified in trade receivables are classified as financial assets carried at amortized cost 

since collection risk for those receivables are not transferred to counterparty. 

 

Impairment 

 

Group has applied simplified approach and used impairment matrix for the calculation of impairment on its 

receivables carried at amortized cost, since they do not comprise of any significant finance component. In 

accordance with this method, if any provision provided to the trade receivables as a result of a specific events, 

Group measures expected credit loss from these receivables by the life-time expected credit loss. The calculation 

of expected credit loss is performed based on the past experience of the Group and its expectations for the future 

indications. 

 

b) Financial assets carried at fair value 

 

Assets that are held by the management for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial 

assets are measured at their fair value. If the management do not plan to dispose these assets in 12 months after 

the balance sheet date, they are classified as non-current assets. Group make a choice for the equity instruments 

during the initial recognition and elect profit or loss or other comprehensive income for the presentation of fair 

value gain and loss. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.2  TFRS 9 “Financial assets” standard (continued) 
 
b) Financial assets carried at fair value (continued) 
 

i) Financial assets carried  at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss comprise of “derivative instruments” in the statement 

of financial position. Derivative instruments are recognized as asset when the fair value of the instrument is 

positive, as liability when the fair value of the instrument is negative. Group’s financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss consist of forward contracts, currency swaps and cross currency fixed interest rate swap. 

 

ii) Financial assets carried at value through other comprehensive income 

 

Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise of “financial assets” in the 

statement of financial position. In addition, trade receivables collected from factoring companies due to without 

recourse factoring activities are classified as financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive 

income since the collection risk of these receivables are transferred to the factoring companies and 

management’s business plan for them is “hold to sell”. When the financial assets carried at fair value through 

other comprehensive income are sold, fair value gain or loss classified in other comprehensive income is 

classified to retained earnings. 

 

Transition to TFRS 9 “Financial assets” standard 

 

The Group has applied TFRS 9 “Financial Instruments ”as the first application date as of 1 January 2018, 

replacing TAS 39. It includes requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and 

liabilities, as well as the expected credit risk model to replace the currently used impairment model. The Group 

has carried out evaluations to determine the cumulative impact of the first transition, the transition effect of the 

policy change is explained within the note “Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial 

statements” (Note: 2.3.1). 
 
Changes in the classification of financial assets and liabilities under TFRS 9 are summarized below: 
 
 Previous classification New classification 

Financial assets according to TAS 39 according to TFRS 9 
 

Cash and cash equivalents Borrowings and receivables Amortized cost 
Trade receivables Borrowings and receivables Amortized cost 
Derivative financial instruments Financial assets at fair value Financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss through profit or loss 
Financial investments Financial investments Financial assets at fair value 
 available for sale through other comprehensive income 
 
 Previous classification New classification 

Financial liabilities according to TAS 39 according to TFRS 9 
 

Derivative financial intruments Financial assets at fair value  Financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss through profit or los 
Bank borrowings Amortised cost Amortized cos 
Financial lease payables Amortised cost Amortized cos 
Factoring payables Amortised cost Amortized cos 
Trade payables Amortised cost Amortized cos 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.2.3  TFRS 16 “Lease operations” standard 

 

KGK has issued TFRS 16 ”Leases TF standard in April 2018. The new standard eliminates the leasing of 

operating leases and leasing, and requires many leases for leasing companies to be included in the balance sheet 

under a single model. For leasing companies, the recognition has not changed substantially and the difference 

between operating leases and financial leasing continues. TFRS 16 replaces TAS 17 and TAS 17 and is effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

 

Tenants have the exception of not applying this standard to short-term rentals (leases with a rental period of 12 

months or less) or to leases where the underlying asset is of low value (eg personal computers, some office 

equipment, etc.). At the date when the leasing is actually started, the lessee measures the leasing liability on the 

present value of the lease payments that were not paid at that date (leasing liability) and depreciates the existence 

of the right of use related to the same date as the same date. Lease payments are discounted using this rate if the 

implied interest rate in the lease can be easily determined. If the ratio is not easily determined, the lessee shall 

use the tenant's alternative borrowing interest rate. The lessee should record the interest expense on the lease 

liability and the depreciation expense of the right to use separately. 

 

In the certain situations, the lessee shall re-measure the lease obligation (eg changes in the lease term, future 

lease payments vary due to changes in a certain index or rate, etc.). In this case, the lessee shall record the 

restatement effect of the lease obligation as a correction on the right to use. 

 

The Group is still analyzing the impact of the standard on financial position or performance of the Group.  

The preliminary analyzes are as follows: 

 

Transition to TFRS 16 “Lease operations” standard 

 

The Group plans to implement TFRS 16 with a simplified retrospective approach. The Group will prefer to apply 

this Standard on the agreements defined as lease according to TMS 17 “Lease Operations” and  

TFRS Interpretation 4 “Determining whether an Agreement includes a Lease Agreement”. For this reason, the 

Group will not apply this Standard to the contracts previously defined by TAS 17 and TFRS Comment 4. 

 

In 2018, the Group carried out a detailed impact analysis to determine the transition effects to TFRS 16. The 

effects of transition to TFRS 16 are expected to be summarized as follows: 

 

Effects on the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018 (increase / (decrease): 

 

Assets 

Prepaid expenses TL (3) thousand  

Tangible assets (right of use asset)  TL 18,790 thousand 

 

Liabilities  

Lease libilities TL 18,787 thousand 

 

Due to the transition to TFRS 16, there will be an improvement in the Group's main operating profit; there will 

be an increase in financing expenses. This is due to the change in the accounting of leases that were accounted 

for as operating leases in the previous periods. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.3 Changes in the accounting estimates and errors 
 

If changes in estimates are for only one period, changes are applied to the current year but if changes in estimates 

are for the following periods, changes are applied both to the current and following years prospectively. The Group 

did not have any major changes in the accounting estimates during the current year. 

 

Significant accounting errors are corrected retrospectively, by restating the prior period consolidated financial 

statements. 
 

2.3.1  Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial statements 
 

Consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared comparatively with the prior period in order 

to give accurate trend analysis regarding financial position and performance. In order to maintain consistency 

with current year consolidated financial statements, comparative information is reclassified and significant 

changes are disclosed where necessary. 

 

Except the following amendments, the Group has applied consistent accounting policies in the consolidated 

financial statements for the period presented and has no material changes in the accounting policies and estimates 

in the current period. 
 

- In consolidated financial statement of equity, "Gains on financial assets measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income", which used to classified to "Other comprehensive income to be reclassified 

to profit or loss", amounting to TL 2,332,744 thousand; has been classified to “Other comprehensive 

income not to be reclassified to profit or loss “ in accordance to transition to TFRS 9 “Financial 

Instruments” standards as of 31 December 2017. The Group has applied the transition to TFRS 9 

retrospectively, and in accordance with TMS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 

and Errors” standard changes has been applied as of 1 January 2017. Transition effects has shown in the 

equity movement table. The correction made is only the classification difference in equity and has no 

effect on other balance sheet items, income statement and cash flow statement. The effect of this change 

is shown in the opening balance of the equity movement table on 1 January 2017. Therefore, the balance 

sheet as of 31 December 2016 is not required to be presented. 
 

- In Note 15 of consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2017, in the movement table of 

investment properties, the amount of TL 14,662 thousand in “additions” column has been transferred to 

“transfers” column. In the consolidated statement of cash flows, classifications are made for investment 

properties and inventories. 
 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards 
 

The accounting policies of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been 

applied consistently to those used in the prior year except for the new and amended IFRS standards and TFRYK 

interpretations as of 1 January 2018. 
 

a) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards as of 31 December 2018: 
 

- TFRS 9, “Financial instruments”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2018. This standard replaces the guidance in TMS 39. It includes requirements on the 

classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities; it also includes an expected credit losses 

model that replaces the current incurred loss impairment model. 
 

- TFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”; effective from annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2018. TFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ is a converged standard from 

the IASB and FASB on revenue recognition. The standard will improve the financial reporting of revenue 

and improve comparability of the top line in financial statements globally. The amendments will not have 

significant effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards (continued) 

 

a) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards as of 31 December 2018 

(continued): 

 

- Ammendment to TFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”; effective from annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018. These amendments comprise clarifications of the guidance on 

identifying performance obligations, accounting for licences of intellectual property and the principal 

versus agent assessment (gross versus net revenue presentation). New and amended illustrative examples 

have been added for each of those areas of guidance. The IASB has also included additional practical 

expedients related to transition to the new revenue standard. The amendments did not have significant 

effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

- Ammendments to TFRS 4, “Insurance contracts”; regarding the implementation of IFRS 9, ‘Financial 

Instruments’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. These amendments 

introduce two approaches: an overlay approach and a deferral approach. The amended standard will 
  

 give all companies that issue insurance contracts the option to recognise in other comprehensive income, 

rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when IFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance 

contracts standard is issued; and  

 give companies whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance an optional temporary 

exemption from applying IFRS 9 until 2021. The entities that defer the application of IFRS 9 will 

continue to apply the existing financial instruments standard IAS 39. The amendments did not have 

significant effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

- Amendments to TAS 40, “Investment properties”; Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2018. These amendments to the classification of investment properties clarify the classifications 

made from investment properties or real estate in case of a change in the purpose of use. If the use of a 

real estate changes, it is necessary to evaluate whether this real estate meets the definitions of up 

investment real estate uy. This change should be supported by evidence. The amendments did not have an 

impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. 

 

- Amendments to TFRS 2, “Share based payments”; on clarifying how to account for certain types of 

share-based payment transactions; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

This amendment clarifies the measurement basis for cash-settled, share-based payments and the 

accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. It also introduces 

an exception to the principles in IFRS 2 that will require an award to be treated as if it was wholly equity-

settled, where an employer is obliged to withhold an amount for the employee’s tax obligation associated 

with a share-based payment and pay that amount to the tax authority. The amendments did not have 

significant effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

Annual improvements 2014 - 2016; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

 

 TFRS 1, ‘First time adoption of TFRS’, regarding the deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time 

adopters regarding TFRS 7, TAS 19 and TFRS 10, 

 TAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint venture’ regarding measuring an associate or joint venture at 

fair value, 

 

These improvements are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial position and performance of 

the Company. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards (continued) 

 

a) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards as of 31 December 2018 

(continued): 

 

- IFRIC 22, “Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration”; effective from annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018. This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of 

transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The 

interpretation provides guidance for when a single payment / receipt is made as well as for situations 

where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. The 

amendments did not have significant effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued as of 31 December 2018 that are not yet 

effective: 
 

- Amendment to TFRS 9, “Financial instruments”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2019. This amendment confirm that when a financial liability measured at amortised cost is 

modified without this resulting in de-recognition, a gain or loss should be recognised immediately in 

profit or loss. The gain or loss is calculated as the difference between the original contractual cash flows 

and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. This means that the 

difference cannot be spread over the remaining life of the instrument which may be a change in practice 

from IAS 39.   

 

- Amendment to TAS 28, “Investments in associates and joint venture”; effective from annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These amendments clarify that companies account for long-term 

interests in associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied using TFRS 9.  

 

- TFRS 16, “Leases”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier 

application permitted if TFRS 15‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ is also applied. This standard 

replaces the current guidance in TAS 17 and is a far reaching change in accounting by lessees in 

particular. Under TAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction between a finance lease (on balance 

sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). TFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease 

liability reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right of use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. The 

IASB has included an optional exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets; 

however, this exemption can only be applied by lessees. For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. 

However, as the IASB has updated the guidance on the definition of a lease (as well as the guidance on 

the combination and separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected by the new standard. At the 

very least, the new accounting model for lessees is expected to impact negotiations between lessors and 

lessees. Under TFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the 

use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 

- IFRIC 23, “Uncertainty over income tax tratments”; effective from annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019. This IFRIC clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of TAS 12 

‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The TFRS IC had 

clarified previously that TAS 12, not TAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, 

applies to accounting for uncertain income tax treatments. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and 

measure deferred and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax 

treatment.  
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards (continued) 

 

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued as of 31 December 2018 that are not yet effective 

(continued): 
 

An uncertain tax treatment is any tax treatment applied by an entity where there is uncertainty over 

whether that treatment will be accepted by the tax authority. For example, a decision to claim a deduction 

for a specific expense or not to include a specific item of income in a tax return is an uncertain tax 

treatment if its acceptability is uncertain under tax law. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income tax 

accounting where there is an uncertainty regarding the treatment of an item, including taxable profit or 

loss, the tax bases of assets and liabilities, tax losses and credits and tax rates. 
 

- TFRS 17, “Insurance contracts”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. 

This standard replaces TFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of practices in accounting for 

insurance contracts. TFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting by all entities that issue insurance 

contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features.  
 

Annual improvements 2015 - 2017; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These 

amendments include minor changes to: 

 

 TFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’, - a company remeasures its previously held interest in a joint operation 

when it obtains control of the business. 

 TFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, - a company does not remeasure its previously held interest in a joint 

operation when it obtains joint control of the business. 

 TAS 12, ‘Income taxes’ - a company accounts for all income tax consequences of dividend payments in 

the same way. 

 TAS 23, ‘Borrowing costs’ - a company treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally 

made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended use or sale. 
 

Ammenments to TAS 19 “Employee benefits”, on plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; effective 

from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These amendments require an entity to: 

 

 Use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the reminder of the period 

after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and  

 Recognise in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any reduction in a 

surplus, even if that surplus was not previously recognised because of the impact of the asset ceiling, 

 

Amendments to TAS 1 and TAS 8 on the definition of material; effective from Annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2020. These amendments to TAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’,and TAS 8, 

‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’, and consequential amendments to other 

IFRSs: 

 

i) use a consistent definition of materiality throughout TFRS and the Conceptual Framework for Financial 

Reporting; 

ii) clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and 

iii) incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information. 
 

Amendments to IFRS 3 - definition of a business; effective from Annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2020. This amendment revises the definition of a business. According to feedback received by the IASB, 

application of the current guidance is commonly thought to be too complex, and it results in too many 

transactions qualifying as business combinations. 

 

These standards, changes and improvements are assessed on the financial position of the Group and its possible 

impact on performance. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Except for the consolidation principles explained in Note 2.1, the significant accounting policies applied in the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements are summarized below: 

 

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents and statement of cash flows 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank deposits and short-term investments, which can easily be 

converted into cash for a known amount, and which have high liquidity and insignificant conversion risk with 

maturities of three months or less (Note 6). Cash flow statements as an integral part of other financial statements are 

prepared to inform financial statement users about changes in group net assets, financial structure and capability to 

direct the amount and timing of cash flows in accordance with changing conditions. 

 

3.2 Trade receivables and provision for doubtful receivables 

 

Trade receivables that are originated by the Group by way of providing goods or services directly to a debtor are 

carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short-term trade receivables with no stated interest 

rate are measured at original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest is significant (Note 10). 

 

A credit risk provision for trade receivables is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 

able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the provision is the difference between the recorded value of the 

receipt and the possible amount of receivable. The recoverable amount, being the present value of all cash flows, 

including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective interest 

rate of the originated receivables at inception. 

 

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down, the 

release of the provision is credited to other operating income. 

 

3.3 Deferred finance income / expenses 

 

Credit finance income / expenses represent imputed finance income / expenses on credit sales and purchases. 

Such income / expenses are calculated over the period of credit sales and purchases by the effective interest rate 

method and included under other operating income and expenses. 

 

3.4 Related parties 

 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements (Note 9). 

 

a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person: 

 

i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or  

iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the 

reporting entity. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.4 Related parties (continued) 

 

b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 

 

i) The entity and the company are members of the same group (each parent, subsidiary and fellow 

subsidiary is associated with others).  

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity. 

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting 

entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 

sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.  

vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).  

vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties, regardless of 

whether a price is charged. 

 

3.5 Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of 

fixed and variable general production expenses, are assigned to inventories held by the method most appropriate 

to the particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a weighted average out basis. Net 

realizable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary 

to make a sale. When the net realizable value of inventory is less than cost, inventory is written down to net 

realizable value and expense is included in statement of income / (loss) in the period in which the write-down or 

loss occurred. When circumstances that previously caused inventories discounted to net realizable value no 

longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in net realizable value because of the changes in 

economic circumstances, the amount of the write-down is reversed. The reversal amount is limited to the amount 

of the initial write-down (Note 12). 

 

3.6 Financial assets 

 

As of 31 December 2017, the Group has accounted its financial investments in accordance with TAS 39 and has 

reclassified TAS 39 to TFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018. The impact of policy changes is explained in detail in  

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments note (Note 2.2.2). 

 

The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets arising from the ownership of publicly traded companies is 

calculated on the stock market raider. If the financial asset is not traded in an active market, the Group 

establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include discounted cash flow 

analyzes that take into account current market conditions or substantially similar other investment instruments 

and taking into account the specific conditions of the company invested in (Note 7). 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.7 Investment properties 

 

Buildings and land held to earn rent or for capital appreciation or both rather than for use in the production or 

supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes or sale in the ordinary course of business are classified as 

investment property (Note 15). Investment properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Investment 

properties (except land) are depreciated on a straight-line basis. 

 

In the Kanyon complex, different useful lives are assigned for each part of the complex (includes building, lift, 

escalator, parking lot equipment’s, heat and cooling system and many other property, plant and equipment) and 

each part of the complex is depreciated separately. 

 

The depreciation periods for investment properties, which approximate the useful lives of the Kanyon complex 

concerned, are as follows: 

 

Buildings 50 years 

Machinery, plant and equipment 4 - 15 years 

Furniture and fixtures 4 - 15 years 

 

Investment properties are reviewed for possible impairment losses and when the carrying amount of the investment 

property is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount of the investment property is the higher of the asset’s net selling price or value in use. 

 

3.8 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation 

 

Property, plant and equipment acquired prior to 31 December 2004 are carried at acquisition costs adjusted for 

inflation; whereas those purchased after 2004 are carried at acquisition costs less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets  

(Note 16). 

 

The depreciation periods for property, plant and equipment, which approximate the useful lives of assets 

concerned, are as follows: 

 

Land improvements 5 - 50 years 

Buildings 10 - 50 years 

Machinery, plant and equipment 3 - 20 years 

Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years 

Furniture and fixtures 3 - 20 years 

Leasehold improvements 5 - 10 years 

Other tangible assets 2 - 20 years 

 

Land is not depreciated due to having infinite useful life. 

 

Gains or losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment determined by comparing proceeds with carrying 

amounts are included in the related income and expense accounts, as appropriate. 

 

Where the carrying amount of the asset is greater than its recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its 

recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. 

 

The normal maintenance and repair costs incurred in the tangible asset are accounted as expense. Expenditure on 

property, which increases the future utility of the asset by expanding the capacity of the tangible asset, is added to 

the cost of the property, plant and equipment. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.9 Intangible assets and amortisation 
 

Intangible assets comprise acquired computer software, intellectual property, capitalised development costs and 

other identifiable rights. These are recorded at their acquisition costs and amortised using the straight-line method 

over their estimated useful lives for a period not exceeding 5 years from the date of acquisition. When the carrying 

amount of any intangible asset is greater than its recoverable amount, it is immediately written down to its 

recoverable amount (Note 17). 

 

3.10 Taxes 

 

Tax provision for the period consists of current year tax and deferred tax provisions. Current year tax liability 

includes tax liability calculated over taxable income for the period with the tax rate at the balance sheet date and 

corrections on tax liabilities of previous periods. 

 

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax base of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates are 

used to determine deferred taxes at the balance sheet date. 

 

The principal temporary differences result from carried forward tax losses, provision for employment 

termination benefits, the differences between the tax base and the carrying amounts of property, plant and 

equipment, investment properties, inventories and available-for-sale financial assets, deferred finance income 

and expenses on credit sales and purchases. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, whereas deferred tax assets resulting 

from deductible temporary differences are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 

will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised (Note 28). 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, related to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, are 

offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 

 

3.11 Financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent 

periods, financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference 

between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements of 

income over the period of the financial liabilities (Note 8). 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has the unconditional right to defer the 

corresponding payment for 12 months since balance sheet date. 

 

3.12 Leases 

 

Finance leases 

 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group substantially assumes all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are included in the property, plant and equipment at the 

inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum 

lease payments.Financing costs arising from leases are spreading throughout the lease period, creating a constant 

interest rate throughout the lease term. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are 

depreciated over the useful life of the asset. An impairment loss is recognized when a decrease in the carrying 

amount of the leased property is identified. Interest expenses and foreign exchange losses related to the finance 

lease liabilities are accounted in the income statement. Lease payments are deducted from finance lease 

liabilities. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.12 Leases (continued) 

 

Operational leases 

 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 

classified as operational leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 

lessor) are charged to the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

 

There is no legal decision regarding the renewals in operational leasing contracts or escalation of buying options. 

 

In operating leases, leased assets are classified under property, plant and equipment in the consolidated statement 

of financial position. The rental income is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the lease term. 

 

3.13 Employment termination benefits 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits is provided as a requirement of Turkish Labour Law to each 

employee who has completed one year of service and retires, whose employment is terminated without due 

cause, who is called up for military service, or who dies; and represents the present value of the estimated total 

reserve of the future probable obligation of the Group (Note 19). 

 

3.14 Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency transactions during the year have been translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange 

rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of monetary 

assets and liabilities are reflected in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 25). 

 

Assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are expressed in TL using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the financial statement date on the consolidated financial statements.Income and expense items are translated at the 

average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case 

the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as 

equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss 

in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of. 

 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

 

3.15 Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue recognition is explained in detail in, TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” standard note 

(Note: 2.2.1).  

 

Rent and royalty income earned by the Group are recognized on an accrual basis. Interest income is recognized 

using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized when the right to collect the dividend is 

established. 

 

3.16 Share capital and dividends 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as capital. Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognized as an 

appropriation of the profit in the period in which they are declared. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.17 Borrowing costs 

 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, one 

that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of 

that asset in the period in which the asset is prepared for its intended use or sale. Borrowing costs that are not in this 

scope are recognized directly in the income statement (Note 27). 

 

3.18 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities 

 

Provisions are recognized at the present value of the obligation when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that on outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation, and of the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. 

 

Possible assets or obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company 

are not included in financial statements and treated as contingent assets or liabilities (Note 18). 

 

3.19 Government grants 

 

Investment incentives can only be utilised when the Group’s application for incentives is approved by the related 

authorities. 

 

3.20 Segment reporting 

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments. The category “Undistributed” generally consists of assets like cash and 

cash equivalents, financial investments, which are attributable to the parent and utilizable for all segments, and 

assets and liabilities of the other sectors, which do not meet the required quantitative thresholds to be a reportable 

segment. 

 

For an operating segment to be identified as a reportable segment, its reported revenue, including both sales to 

external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and 

external, of all operating segments; the absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the 

combined profit or loss or its assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments. Operating 

segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and separately 

disclosed, if the management believes that information regarding the segment would be useful to users of the 

financial statements (Note 5). 

 

3.21 Earnings per share 

 

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated statements of income are determined by dividing net profit for 

the period by the weighted average number of shares that have been outstanding during the period. In Turkey, 

companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus shares”) to 

existing shareholders from retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such bonus 

shares are regarded as issued shares. Accordingly, when calculating the weighted average number of shares to be 

used in earnings per share computations, the retroactive effect of such bonus shares is taken into consideration 

for comparative purposes (Note 29). 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.22 Events after the balance sheet date 

 

Events after the balance sheet date represent events that have occurred in favour or in opposition of the Group 

between the balance sheet date and the date financial statements were approved. The Group adjusts the 

consolidated financial statements when there is evidence of events existing at or after the balance sheet date that 

necessitate the adjusting of the consolidated financial statements. If events after the balance sheet date do not 

necessitate the adjusting of the consolidated financial statements, the Group explains the events in a 

corresponding note to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

3.23 Derivative financial instruments 

 

Derivatives, primarily options and foreign currency forward contracts, are initially recognized at acquisition cost 

including the transaction fees on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured 

at their fair value. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined based on the comparison of 

the original forward rate with the forward rate calculated in reference to the market interest rates of the related 

currency for the remaining period of the contract. All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is 

positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives at fair value 

through profit or loss are included in the consolidated income statement (Note 27). 

 

3.24 Impairment of assets 

 

The Group reviews assets, except goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by 

which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount in the consolidated statements of income. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of 

assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 

flows (cash generating units). Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated income statements (Note 25). 

 

3.25 Management’s estimates 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions regarding the amounts 

for the assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date, explanations for the contingent assets and liabilities as well 

as the amounts of income and expenses realised in the reporting period. Although these estimates and 

assumptions are based on the best information held by the Group management, actual results may differ from 

these. 

 

In the next financial reporting period, the predictions and assumptions likely to cause significant adjustments on the 

recorded values on the assets and liabilities are stated below: 

 

Fair values of the available for sale financial assets 

 

The Group estimates the fair values of financial assets which are not traded in an active market by referencing to 

similar undisputed transactions, fair values of similar financial instruments and using discounted cash flow analysis. 

As a result, the estimates used in the analysis, may not be indicative for the value that the Group may obtain in a 

current market transaction and actual values may significantly deviate from those estimates (Notes 3.6 and 7). 
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NOTE 4 - SHARES IN OTHER COMPANIES 

 

Shares in associates and joint ventures 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Associates 

Vitra Karo - - 

Ekom 30,432 25,868 

ESH - - 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 54,913 44,903 
 

Joint Ventures 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol - - 

EBX 38,528 31,049 
 

 123,873 101,820 

 

Cumulative share of loss of an associate that not included in consolidated financiat statements 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Vitra Karo (152,460) (114,829) 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (22,054) (32,202) 

ESH 74 (3,970) 

 

 (174,440) (151,001) 

 

Short term liabilities due to investment accounted for using the equity method 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Capital commitments to associates (*) - 52,500 

 

 - 52,500 

 

(*) Capital commitments to associates consist of the unpaid portion of the Company's share of the capital increase of 

Vitra Karo (TL 17,813 thousand) and Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (TL 34,687 thousand). As of 31 December 2018, the related 

amounts have been fully paid. 
 

The movement of the shares of associates and joint ventures during the period is as follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
 

As of 1 January 101,820 83,693 

The Group’s share in the profits of investments accounted 

   for using equity method 21,331 12,299 

Capital payments 16,326 75,623 

Differences from actuarial gain / (loss) 8 - 

Fair value changes of equity-based financial investments 3,497 7,559 

Dividends paid / accrued (2,783) (1,731) 

Capital payments to impaired joint ventures (*) (16,326) (75,623) 
 

As of 31 December 123,873 101,820 

 

(*) As of 31 December 2018, the total amount is the payment of the capital increase for ESH and the amount is 

considered as loss in the income statement (As of 31 December 2017, the amount consist of the capital commitments 

to associates are composed of Vitra Karo and Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's unpaid portion of the Company's share of the capital 

increase. The total amount That amount is considered as a loss in the income statement). 
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NOTE 4 - SHARES IN OTHER COMPANIES (Continued) 
 

Assets and liabilities of the Group's investments accounted for by the equity method as of 31 December 2018 and 

31 December 2017 and net sales for the years ended 31 December are as follows: 

 
  31 December 2018  

    Net Total 

  Goodwill  profit / (loss) proportion of 

  attributable to  for the ownership 

 Assets Liabilities equity holders Net sales period interests (%) 

 

Ekom 2,736,053 2,620,616 - 19,742 3,841 26.36 

Vitra Karo (*) 1,442,721 2,052,562 - 1,329,737 (37,435) 25.00 

ESH (*) 4,769 4,605 - 28,897 (5,549) 45.31 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (*) 206,098 232,356 - 135,524 (26,747) 84.00 

EBX 79,469 2,406 - - 7,481 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 218,162 108,337 - 388,959 10,009 50.00 

       

     (48,400)  

 
  31 December 2017  

    Net Total 

  Goodwill  profit / (loss) proportion of 

  attributable to  for the ownership 

 Assets Liabilities equity holders Net sales period interests (%) 

 

Ekom 2,275,323 2,177,186 - 13,665 3,059 26.36 

Vitra Karo (*) 1,168,981 1,628,297 - 556,623 (18,338) 25.00 

ESH (*) 10,346 19,107 - 21,106 (2,163) 45.31 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (*) 324,935 363,271 - 85,922 (4,010) 84.00 

EBX 64,140 2,042 - - 2,411 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 209,329 119,524 - 305,394 6,829 50.00 

  

     (12,212)  

 

(*) Net period losses related to the Group's investments accounted for using the equity method are not reflected in the 

consolidated financial statements due to impairment. 

 

The Group's share of net profit from investments accounted for using the equity method for the period ended  

31 December is as follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
 

Ekom 3,841 3,059 

EBX 7,481 2,411 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 10,009 6,829 
 

 21,331 12,299 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

The Group determined its operating segments based upon the reports reviewed and used by the Board of 

Directors while giving strategic decisions. 

 

During evaluations made for the requirements of TFRS 8 “Operating Segments” effective as of 1 January 2009, 

the Group decided that operating segments shown below in the disclosures prepared in line with CMB 

requirements are compatible with the reports presented to Decision Making Authorities related to current 

operations and that there is no new reportable segment. 

 

The Group continues to operate primarily in two reportable segments as of 31 December 2018  

(31 December 2017: 2 segments). 

 

1. Health: 
 

Production and sale of human health and veterinary medicine. 

 

2. Real estate development: 
 

Kanyon 

 

The sale and lease of the real estate constructed with a 50% - 50% partnership with İş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 

Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“İŞ GYO”) located on Büyükdere Caddesi, in the Şişli district of Istanbul. The lease regards to 

half of the shopping mall and whole of the office building. 

 

Ormanada 

 

The Company acquired 50% and Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. acquired 50% of the 22 pieces of land with a total area 

of 196,409.74 m² in Yorgancı Çiftliği Mevkii, Uskumru Mahallesi, Sarıyer district in Istanbul. The size of 

houses varies between 170 and 700 square meters with sales price range from TL 7.2 million to TL 10.4 million 

in Ormanada. 

 

Ayazağa facilities 

 

Lease is related to serum facilities located in Ayazağa, Sarıyer district of Istanbul. 

 

Lands 

 

In addition to the aforementioned lands of Ayazağa facilities, in 2015, the Company acquired all the shares of 

Yeni Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. who owns a land plot in Ayazağa Cendere Valley, Urban Transformation Area as well 

as merged with it by facilitated merging transaction method on 7 December 2015. 

 

The summary table of the Company’s other investments in real estate is as follows; 

  

Purchase date Location Parcel Surface area (m²) Purchasing cost 
 

29 June 2015 Silivri 21 plantation  265,930 16,425 

1 December 2015 Silivri No. 308  8,500 765 

1 March 2016 Silivri No. 1985  5,250 484 

7 June 2016 Silivri No. 2007  685,026 67,995 
 

   964,706 85,669 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul 

 

Providing consulting services regarding land development and project management to Eczacıbaşı Group 

companies which are operating in real estate development sector. 

 

Undistributed: 

 

Segment assets consist of cash and cash equivalents (except the cash and cash equivalents of the parent 

company), trade and other receivables, inventories, tangible and intangible assets and other current and non-

current assets. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets available for sale and deferred 

tax assets are excluded from segment assets. 

 

Segment liabilities consist of liabilities related to operations. Current and deferred tax liabilities, financial 

liabilities and financial liabilities provided by related parties are excluded from segment liabilities. 

 

Capital expenditures consist of purchases of tangible and intangible assets, investment property and goodwill 

arisen as a result of acquisitions in the current year. 

 

Financial information has not been reported in geographical segments since primary sales and purchases of the 

Group are performed in Turkey and the majority of the assets of the Group are in Turkey. 

 

Segment assets and liabilities as of 31 December: 

 

  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 
 

Health 308,961 (278,011) 225,656 (154,088) 

Real estate development 390,008 (29,203) 411,252 (9,194) 

Undistributed 3,757,503 (151,414) 3,194,467 (187,438) 
 

Total 4,456,472 (458,628) 3,831,375 (350,720) 

 

Capital expenditures and non-cash expenses of segments as of 31 December: 

 

  Real estate  

1 January 2018 - 31 December 2018 Health development Undistributed Total 

 

Capital expenditures (Notes 15, 16 ve 17) 7,847 9,098 - 16,945 

 

Non-cash expenses: 
- Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 15, 16 ve 17) 4,079 6,264 - 10,343 

- Provision for diminution in value  

    of inventories (Note 12) 1,459 - - 1,459 

- Provision for employment termination benefits 

   and actuarial gain / loss (Note 19) 2,471 89 118 2,678 

- Provision for accrued vacation (Note 19) 449 47 32 528 

- Provision for litigations (Note 18)  559 - - 559 

- Provisions for doubtful receivables (Note 10) 1,133 - 4 1,137 

- Expense accruals (Note 10) 703 - 15 718 
 

 10,853 6,400 169 17,422 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

Capital expenditures and non-cash expenses of segments as of 31 December (continued): 

 

  Real estate  

1 January 2017 - 31 December 2017 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Capital expenditures (Notes 15, 16 ve 17) 6,083 1,854 - 7,937 

 

Non-cash expenses: 
- Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 15, 16 ve 17) 4,245 6,088 - 10,333 
- Provision for diminution in value 
    of inventories (Note 12) 1,728 - - 1,728 
- Provision for employment termination benefits 

   and actuarial gain / loss (Note 19) - 115 - 115 
- Provision for accrued vacation (Note 19) 805 156 - 961 
- Provision for litigations (Note 18)  36 314 - 350 
- Provisions for doubtful receivables (Note 10) 159 - - 159 
- Expense accruals (Note 10) 936 7 - 943 
 

 7,909 6,680 - 14,589 

 
  Real estate   

1 January 2018 - 31 December 2018 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Total sales 553,458 141,080 - 694,538 
Elimination of sales within the Group (-) - (2,444) - (2,444) 
 

Sales to third parties 553,458 138,636 - 692,094 
Cost of sales (-) (418,362) (29,330) - (447,692) 
 

Gross profit 135,096 109,306 - 244,402 
 

General administrative expenses (-) (43,549) (13,249) (5,894) (62,692) 
Marketing expenses (-) (114,876) (13,789) - (128,665) 
Other operating income 32,529 502 334,999 368,030 
Other operating expenses (-) (46,251) (311) (166,150) (212,712) 
 

Operating (loss) / profit (37,051) 82,459 162,955 208,363 

 
  Real estate   

1 January 2017 - 31 December 2017 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Total sales 468,793 130,579 - 599,372 
Elimination of sales within the Group (-) - (1,463) - (1,463) 
 

Sales to third parties 468,793 129,116 - 597,909 
Cost of sales (-) (327,490) (35,986) - (363,476) 
 

Gross profit 141,303 93,130 - 234,433 
 

General administrative expenses (-) (43,079) (13,355) (5,640) (62,074) 
Marketing expenses (-) (102,647) (12,818) - (115,465) 
Other operating income 23,575 687 172,752 197,014 
Other operating expenses (-) (24,835) (358) (99,656) (124,849) 
 

Operating (loss) / profit (5,683) 67,286 67,456 129,059 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 
Reconciliation of operating profits related to operating segments with profit before tax: 
 

 1 January - 1 January - 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Operating profits related to operating segments 45,408 61,603 
 

Non-distributed income 162,955 67,456 

Income from investing activities 72,599 146,705 

Expenses from investing activities (-) (4) (174) 

Shares from participation losses (-) 5,006 (115,824) 

Financial income 26,999 17,087 

Financial expenses (-) (17,712) (5,976) 
 

Profit before tax 295,251 170,877 

 
 
NOTE 6 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Cash in hand 14 11 
Banks 619,885 506,408 
- Demand deposits 3,101 1,513 
- Time deposits 616,784 504,895 
 

 619,899 506,419 

 
The annual interest rates applied to the Turkish Lira denominated time deposits range between 23.90% and 24% 
(31 December 2017: 15.05% and 15.50%), and the maturity date is between 2 January 2019 and 18 January 2019. 
The maturity dates for foreign currency time deposits are between 2.05% and 5.50% (31 December 2017: 1.75% to 
4.20%), and between 2 January 2019 and 25 January 2019. The weighted annual interest rates of TL, USD and Euro 
denominated bank deposits are 23.92%, 5.20% and 2.31% respectively. (31 December 2017: 15.20%, 4% and 
1.90%). 
 
The details of the Group's time deposits as of 31 December are as follows: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
TL denominated time deposits 62,700 100,093 
TL Equivalent of USD denominated time deposits 190,984 208,258 
TL Equivalent of EUR denominated time deposits 363,100 196,544 
 

 616,784 504,895 

 
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the periods ended  
31 December are presented below: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 619,899 506,419 
Interest accruals (-) (1,328) (1,168) 
 

 618,571 505,251 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

The details of financial investments included in current assets as of 31 December are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,146 354 
 

Financial investments, current 1,146 354 

 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,019,743 2,588,218 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 3,392 3,185 
 

Financial investments, non-current 3,023,135 2,591,403 

 

TFRS 13 defines the classifications of valuation techniques. 

 

The classification of financial instruments at fair value is shown as following: 

 

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); 

 

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
According to the observability of the data used in fair value measurement, the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s 
financial assets at fair value is shown as follows: 

 

31 December 2018  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 1,146 - 1,146 
 

Financial investments, current - 1,146 - 1,146 

 

Financial assets at fair value through 

   other comprehensive income 30,874 1,199,933 1,788,936 3,019,743 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 3,392 - 3,392 
 

Financial investments, non-current 30,874 1,203,325 1,788,936 3,023,135 

 

 

31 December 2017  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 354 - 354 
 

Financial investments, current - 354 - 354 

 

Financial assets at fair value through 

   other comprehensive income 29,221 1,068,367 1,490,630 2,588,218 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 3,185 - 3,185 
 

Financial investments, non-current 29,221 1,071,552 1,490,630 2,591,403 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

Reconciliation of period beginning and period end for the assets measured at fair value based on 3rd level is as 

follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 

As of 1 January 1,490,631 945,838 

Total income / (loss) accounted in other comprehensive income 287,070 554,313 

Disposals for the period (-) - (1,554) 

Effect of share purchases and rate changes 11,235 (7,966) 
 

As of 31 December 1,788,936 1,490,631 

 

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

 

Financial assets at fair value related to income statements portfolio consist of international financial investment 

instruments and national liquid funds. 

 

The Company management has decided to transfer the assets in portfolio accounts considering their maturities 

and liquidity, to banks in Turkey in the second half of 2008. As of 31 December 2009, a significant portion of the 

funds have been transferred to banks in Turkey and transfer of remaining part of the funds is in progress. Total 

fair value of funds not yet transferred is TL 4,538 thousand as of 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: TL 

3,539 thousand). As of 31 December 2018, Group estimates to transfer TL 1,146 thousand (31 December 2017: 

TL 354 thousand) of these funds within one year and the remaining TL 3,392 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 

3,185 thousand) in long term. TL 4,538 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 3,539 thousand) of the aforementioned 

funds are in the funds in North America. 

 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income 

 

Long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income 

 

The list of long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income as of 31 December are as 

follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 

As of 1 January 2,588,218 2,157,822 

Total income / (loss) accounted in other comprehensive income 431,525 434,556 

Disposals during the period - (4,160) 
 

As of 31 December 3,019,743 2,588,218 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (continued) 

 

The list of long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income as of 31 December is as follows: 

  

 31 December 2018 (%) 31 December 2017 (%) 
 

Publicly traded  
 

Türkiye İş Bankası A.Ş. (*) 93 <1 25 <1 

Ak Enerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. (*) (**) - <1 - <1 
 

 93  25  

 

Not publicly traded 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (*****) 3,017,850 37 2,587,399 37 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (****) 1,774 14 768 14 

Other (***) 26 <1 26 <1 
 

 3,019,650  2,588,193  
 

 3,019,743  2,588,218  

 

(*) Fair values of financial assets in listed companies are calculated based on current market prices.  

 

(**) As of 31 December 2018, the market price of Ak Enerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. is TL 63 (31 December 

2017: TL 92). 

 

(***)     These financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are carried at their acquisition 

costs since they are not listed and fair values cannot be reliably measured. 

 

(****) For financial assets in unlisted companies, the Group determines fair values using valuation 

techniques. These valuation techniques include the use of recent arm’s length transactions or 

references to other instruments that are substantially the same and discounted cash flow analysis 

considering the specific conditions of the company invested in. Adjustments to fair values are 

accounted for in “Financial assets fair value reserve” under shareholders’ equity. 

 

(*****) As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 the acquisition cost of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. shares including 

the restatement effect due to inflation accounting is TL 153,320 thousand. In fair value determination 

(Fair Value Measurement Methods (I); 

 

i) Rent income; discounted cash flows (Level 3), 

ii) Real estates; current transaction cost, arm’s length price and expertise values (Level 2 and 3), 

iii) Net asset values of remaining assets and liabilities in cash (Level 3), 

iv) Net asset values of remaining assets and liabilities in cash (Level 3), 

iv) The multiplication of ownership interest rates of Eczacıbaşı Holding with the fair values of all 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.  
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (continued) 

 

The methods used in fair value measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding are as follows: 

 

Fair Value Measurement Methods Code 
 

Market price (II) 

Discounted cash flows (III) 

Net asset value (IV) 

Net book value (V) 

 
 Proportion of Fair value   

 power held by measurement  

 Eczacıbaşı Holding (%) (**) method  
 

Name 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 100.00 100.00 (I) (I) (I) (I) 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 74.82 73.48 (I) (I) (I) (I) 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malz. Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 77.38 77.81 (II) (II) Level 1 Level 1 

Eczacıbaşı Yapı Gereçleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 98.10 96.47 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Esan Eczacıbaşı Endüstriyel Hammaddeler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 99.69 99.69 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Vitra Karo San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 92.79 92.45 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 100.00 100.00 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 74.82 73.48 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Kaynak Tekniği San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 46.62 46.04 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

E-Kart Elektronik Kart Sistemleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 44.23 43.09 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.  37.41 36.74 (IV) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. 4.92 4.92 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Havacılık A.Ş. 91.33 91.33 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 88.48 87.88 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 74.92 73.60 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 74.83 73.50 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 81.57 77.92 (V) (V) Level 2 Level 2 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 50.00 50.00 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Toplu Konut Holding A.Ş. 27.00 27.00 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 89.73 89.38 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 62.85 61.73 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Villeroy & Boch Fliesen GmbH 90.66 90.34 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ür. San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 37.41 36.74 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 96.59 96.41 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Vitra Plitka 92.79 92.23 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (*) - 40.40 - (IV) - Level 2 
 

(*) As of 9 April 2018, the Company has been sold. 

 

(**) Proportion of ownership interest represents the effective shareholding of Eczacıbaşı Holding directly through the shares 

held in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and indirectly by these companies. 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (continued) 

 

(I) In the fair value measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding, for the stand-alone fair value of EİS Eczacıbaşı 

İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., the effect of the cross ownership with 

Eczacıbaşı Holding has been taken into consideration. The following have been taken into account in 

the related stand-alone fair value determination: 

 

i) Kanyon Shopping Mall and Office Building; discounted cash flows of rent income (Level 3), 

ii) Financial assets; current transaction cost (Level 2) and current market prices (Level 1),  

iii) Real estates; current transaction cost, imputed cost and expertise values (Level 2 and 3), 

iv) Net asset value of remaining assets in cash (Level 2) and liabilities in cash (Level 3). 

 

In this context, the fair value has been calculated as TL 2,033,183 thousand as of 31 December 2018 (31 

December 2017: TL 1,745,379 thousand). As of 31 December 2018, market / stock value of EİS 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. amounts to TL 1,870,060 thousand 

(31 December 2017: TL 3,021,997 thousand). 

 

(II) The securities measured at market values are valued by the strike prices as at 31 December 2018 and 31 

December 2017 on BIST. As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 there are no financial 

instruments listed in another stock exchange market. 

 

(III) The discount rates used in discounted cash-flow method are determined for each entity separately taking 

into consideration the following factors: 

 

i) The countries in which each entity is located and the risk premiums of these countries, 

ii) The market risk premiums for each entity and 

iii) The industry risk premiums for the sectors in which each entity operates 

 

Comparable risk premiums (in line with observable market data) are used in the determination of 

discount rates. 

 

For the calculation of discount rates used for companies valuated with discounted cash flow method cost 

of equity and cost of capital have been evaluated considering to risk free return rate and risk premiums. 

Accordingly weighted average capital cost (WACC) rates are calculated with regards to sustainable debt 

to equity ratios of each industry of related company. As of 31 December 2018 if WACC would be 100 

base point higher / lower, fair value of asset held for sale would be TL 41,701 thousand lower / TL 

300,656 thousand higher. 

 

In this context, the WACCs used in companies with functional currency TL in the baseline scenario 

vary between 20% - 26% (31 December 2017: 16% - 19.2%) while the discount rate used in companies 

with functional currencies in USD is 7.2%. (31 December 2017: 10.1%). 

 

(IV) Current transaction price consists of the financial instruments of which fair values are measured by 

comparable costs of current transactions as of the balance sheet date. 

 

(V,VI) The fair values of these companies are determined by net asset values and net book values. The net asset 

value is calculated by deducting liabilities from monetary assets, whereas net book values are calculated 

by their cost values. 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (continued) 
 

The fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding has been calculated by multiplying the proportion of ownership interest of 
Eczacıbaşı Holding with the fair values calculated, using the methods explained above, for each company. The 
calculation summary of the amount shown in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December is as 
follows: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Total fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding (*) 7,296,298 6,298,677 
The share of the Group within the total 
   fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding (**) 2,720,136 2,348,212 
The effect of cross ownership 1,052,176 886,037 
 

Fair value before miniority discount 3,772,312 3,234,249 
 
Miniority discount (-) (754,462) (646,850) 

 
Fair value of the Group in consolidated financials 3,017,850 2,587,399 
 
(*) Reflects the amount multiplied with the total proportion of ownership interests. 
 
(**) As of 31 December 2018, the Company has been taken into consideration in the share of the Company's shares in 

Eczacıbaşı Holding. 
 

As presented in the table above, the share of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret 
A.Ş. in the fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding before miniority discount amounting to TL 7,296,298 thousand  
(31 December 2017: TL 6,298,677 thousand) has been calculated by using the fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding 
amounting to TL 2,720,136  thousand (31 December 2017: TL 2,348,212 thousand) by multiplying this fair value 
with EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s proportion of ownership interest 
in Eczacıbaşı Holding equalling 37.28% and amounting to 31 December 2018 TL 1,052,176 thousand  
(31 December 2017: TL 886,037 thousand) and adding the effect of cross ownership between EİS Eczacıbaşı 
İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Holding amounting to TL 3,772,312 
thousand (31 December 2017: TL 3,234,249 thousand). The fair value presented in consolidated financial 
statements amounting to TL 3,017,850 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 2,587,399 thousand) has been 
calculated by deducting the miniority discount at the rate of 20% from this amount. 
 

The effect of a 100 base point change in miniority discount rate on the fair value of the financial instruments 
valued by discounted cash-flow method is calculated as TL 37,723 thousand as of 31 December 2018 (31 
December 2017: TL 31,911 thousand). 
 
 

NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  

 Effective  Effective  

 interest rate  interest rate  

 per annum (%) (*) TL per annum (%) (*) TL 
 

TL denominated bank borrowings (*) 14.95 - 15.40 35,870 13.85 - 14.95 3,244 

Finance lease payables  32 14 356 
 

Short-term bank borrowings  35,902  3,600 
 

TL denominated bank borrowings 21.05 - 24.20 48,076 13.85 - 14.95 15,000 

Finance lease payables  - 14 32 
 

Long-term bank borrowings  48,076  15,032 
 

Total financial liabilities  83,978  18,632 
 

(*) Annual weighted average interest rate of TL denominated short-term bank borrowings is 15.18% 

(31 December 2017: 14.75%). 
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NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 

 

The redemption schedule of long-term borrowings at 31 December is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

1 year 35,902 3,600 

1-2 years 48,076 15,032 
 

Total 83,978 18,632 

 

 

NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

a) Balances with related parties at 31 December: 

 

Short-term trade receivables from related parties 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Due from shareholders 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 446 553 
 

 446 553 

 

Due from Associates 
 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 5 - 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 1 - 
 

 6 - 
 

Due from other related parties 
 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş.    7 - 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. - 29 

Other 9 1 
 

 16 30 
 

Short-term due from related parties 468 583 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s receivables from related parties is 30 days (31 December 2017: 14 days) and is 

amortised at 21.51%  per annum (31 December 2017: 14.99%). 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Short-term other payables from related parties 

 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 370 257 
 

Short-term other payables from related parties 370 257 

 

Long-term other payables from related parties  

 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 331 263 
 

Long-term other payables from related parties 331 263 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 

a) Balances with related parties at 31 December (continued): 

 

Short-term trade payables to related parties 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Due to shareholders   
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 4,161 2,498 
 

 4,161 2,498 

 

Due to Joint Ventures  
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 19 - 
 

 19 - 

 

Due to Associataes  
 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 4 13 
 

 4 13 

 

Due to other related parties  
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 1,532 664 

Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü Derneği 600 275 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 366 302 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 278 - 

Other 108 15 
 

 2,884 1,256 
 

 7,068 3,767 
 

Deferred credit finance expenses (-) (3) - 
 

Short-term due to related parties 7,065 3,767 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s payables to related parties is 30 days (31 December 2017: 47 days) and is 

amortised at 21.11% per annum (31 December 2017: 14.99%). 

 

Deferred income from related parties 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri 

   Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (Note 13) 19,498 - 
 

Deferred income from related parties 19,498 - 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 
 

b) Other transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December: 
 

 2018 2017 

Product sales 
 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 108 - 

Other 32 - 
 

 140 - 

 

Service sales  
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 2,850 1,050 

Other - 47 
 

 2,850 1,097 

 

Product purchases 
 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 5 16 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1 101 
 

 6 117 

 

Service purchases 
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 6,660 5,318 

Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü Derneği 2,454 2,502 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,236 691 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 94 - 

Other 24 150 
 

 10,468 8,661 

 

Dividend income from related parties  
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 71,468 99,261 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 100 135 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acentalığı A.Ş. 1 - 
 

 71,569 99,396 
 

The Group purchases computer hardware, computer by products and related consumable products from 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.; sanitary ware and related consumable products from İntema İnşaat ve 

Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. and various raw materials, finished goods and merchandise from 

other group companies. 
 

The Group renders services related to administration of Kanyon complex from Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve 

Pazarlama A.Ş.; IT consultancy services and technical services related to maintenance, operation, update, 

breakdown and system support from Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.; financial audit and consultancy, 

human resources, social affairs, finance, budget, corporate communication, legal, IT systems, communication, 

technical training etc. services from Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.; advertisement services from Eczacıbaşı Spor 

Kulübü; health services from Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş.; and various other services from other group 

companies. 
 

Within the scope of Ormanada project which is jointly carried out within the scope of real estate activities, the 

Group provides supervision, monitoring and sub-contracting services to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 
 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group does not have any contingent assets or liabilities arising from 

transactions with related parties. 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 

c) Other transactions with related parties for year ended 31 December: 

 

Rent income received from related parties 2018 2017 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 5,078 4,339 

İntema Yaşam Ev ve Mutfak Ürünleri Pazarlama Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 466 468 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş 264 226 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 13 12 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 10 9 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 10 28 

Other 46 121 
 

 5,887 5,203 

 

The Group obtains rental income from the Kanyon office block and the properties in Ayazağa. 

 

Other income received from related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 45 - 
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (*) 16 34,996 

Other 3 - 
 

 64 34,996 

 

(*) The amount at 31 December 2017 has generated for the sale of the subsidiary Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama 

Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. of Group which was realised on 4 July 2017. 

 

Rent expenses paid to related parties  
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 3,606 3,263 
 

 3,606 3,263 

 

Other expenses paid to related parties  
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 846 659 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 437 731 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 35 171 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. - 303 

Other 9 176 
 

 1,327 2,040 

 

Management and royalty fees paid to related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (*) 8,068 6,345 
 

 8,068 6,345 

 

(*) Management fees paid to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. comprise law, financial corporate identity, budget planning, audit 

and human resource services received from Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.. These expenses are billed for relevant services 

in proportion to the time spent by the relevant department of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 

c) Other transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December (continued): 

 

 2018 2017 

Fixed asset purchases from related parties  

 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,074 1,500 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 500 8 
 

 1,574 1,508 

 

Benefits provided to top management: 
 

The Company has determined key management personnel as board members, group presidents, vice-presidents 

and general manager the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

Short term benefits provided to key management personnel consists of salaries, premiums, social insurance 

related payments, health insurance and seniority incentive award. Long term benefits provided to key 

management personnel consists of employee termination benefits paid to discharged key management personnel 

due to retirement and / or transfer and service award payments. 

 

Details of compensation provided to key management personnel for the year ending as of 31 December 2018 and 

31 December 2017 are as follows: 

 

Benefits provided to top management 2018 2017 
 

Short term benefits provided to key management personnel 9,580 11,945 

Long term benefits provided to key management personnel 228 1,309 
 

 9,808 13,254 

 

 

NOTE 10 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 

 

a) Trade receivables 

 

Short-term trade receivables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Trade receivables 128,558 111,047 

Notes receivables 45,150 39,284 

Income accruals 17,396 22 
 

 191,104 150,353 
 

Deferred credit finance income (-) (1,970) (2,602) 

Provision for doubtful receivables (-) (3,467) (2,358) 
 

Short-term trade receivables, net 185,667 145,393 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s receivables is 41 days (31 December 2017: 88 days) and TL denominated trade 

receivables are amortised at 21.11% per annum (31 December 2017: 14.91%). 
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NOTE 10 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued) 

 

a) Trade receivables (continued) 

 

Movement of provision for doubtful receivables is presented below: 
 

 2018 2017 
 

As of 1 January 2,358 8,349 

Current year additions 1,137 159 

Reversal of provisions (-) (28) - 

Provisions related to discontinued operations - 101 

Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (Note 30) (-) - (6,251) 
 

As of 31 December 3,467 2,358 

 

Maximum credit risk and aging analysis related to trade receivables are included in Note 31. 

 

b) Trade payables 

 

Short-term trade payables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Trade payables 186,352 131,927 

Expense accruals 1,660 943 

Deferred credit finance expenses (-) (1,396) (667) 
 

Kısa vadeli ticari borçlar, net 186,616 132,203 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s payables is 64 days (31 December 2017: 76 days) and TL denominated trade 

payables are amortised at 21.02% per annum (31 December 2017: 14.91%), EUR denominated trade payables 

are amortised at 0.0% per annum (31 December 2017: 0.08%) and USD denominated payables are amortised at 

2.12% per annum (31 December 2017: 0.25%). 

 

 

NOTE 11 - OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Other current assets 
 

Receivables from tax office - 123 

Deposits and collaterals given - 3 

Other 120 - 
 

Other current assets,net 120 126 

 

Other non-current assets   
 

Deposits and collaterals given 12 12 
 

Other non-current assets,net 12 12 

 

Short-term other liabilities   
 

Deposits and collaterals received 3,826 2,934 

Taxes payable 2,233 1,601 

Other 64 64 
 

Short-term other liabilities, net 6,123 4,599 
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NOTE 12 - INVENTORIES 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Raw materials and supplies 11,895 9,248 

Work in progress 30,192 18,354 

Finished goods 14,947 9,922 

Trade goods 18,319 8,122 

Other inventories 2,603 1,749 

Lands and houses (*) , (**) 13,076 27,278 
 

 91,032 74,673 
 

Provision for diminution in value of inventories (-) (3,496) (2,037) 
 

 87,536 72,636 
 

(*) Lands and houses contains undelivered houses cost of land of purchased by the Group in Zekeriyaköy as part of real 

estate development activities and project development costs incurred. 

 

(**) Residencies given to rent amounting to TL 4,937 thousand are classified as investment property. (31 December 2017: 

TL 14,662 thousand) 

 

The movements in the provision for impairment of inventories during the period are as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 

As of 1 January 2,037 12,195 

Provisions during the period 1,459 1,728 

Reversal of provisions (-) - (3,239) 

Reversal of provisions related from discontinued operations (-) - (2,044) 

Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (-) - (6,603) 
 

As of 31 December 3,496 2,037 

 

 

NOTE 13 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Short-term prepaid expenses  
 
Prepaid expenses 2,202 2,078 

Advances given 320 131 
 

  2,522 2,209 

 

Long-term prepaid expenses   

 
Prepaid expenses 964 1,020 

Advances given to subcontractors 172 172 
 

 1,136 1,192 
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NOTE 13 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME (Continued) 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Short-term deferred income   

 

Advances received 332 599 

Unearned revenue 118 183 
 

 450 782 

 

Long-term deferred income   

 

Deferred income from related parties (Note 9) (*) 19,498 - 
 

 19,498 - 

 

(*) EBX has decided the distribution of advance on liquidation to the shareholders at the extraordinary general assembly 

meeting dated 18 June 2018 in the court decision of 8 May 2018. Since the liquidation process of EBX has not 

completed yet, the distributed advance on liquidation has shown under deferred revenue. 

 

 

NOTE 14 - CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS 
 

Current income tax assets 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Prepaid taxes and withholding taxes 13,810 63 
 

 13,810 63 

 

 

NOTE 15 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

 1 January 2018 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2018 
 

Cost 
Kanyon 230,475 7,093 - - 237,568 

Buildings (*) 61,690 1,029 4,937 (12,803) 54,853 

Lands and land improvements 152,544 550 - - 153,094 
 

 444,709 8,672 4,937 (12,803) 445,515 

 

Accumulated depreciation: 
Kanyon 60,988 5,172 - - 66,160 

Buildings 21,492 677 - (437) 21,732 

Lands and land improvements 440 - - - 440 
 

 82,920 5,849 - (437) 88,332 
 

Carrying amount 361,789    357,183 

 

(*) Residencies given to rent amounting to TL 4,937 thousand are classified from invetory. 
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NOTE 15 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 

 
 1 January 2017 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2017 
 

Cost 
Kanyon 229,675 800 - - 230,475 
Buildings (*) 59,424 313 14,662 (12,709) 61,690 
Lands and land improvements 151,889 655 - - 152,544 
 

 440,988 1,768 14,662 (12,709) 444,709 

 
Accumulated depreciation: 
Kanyon 55,828 5,160 - - 60,988 
Buildings 21,703 497 - (708) 21,492 
Lands and land improvements 440 - - - 440 
 

 77,971 5,657 - (708) 82,920 
 

Carrying amount 363,017    361,789 

 

(*) Residencies given to rent amounting to TL 14,662 thousand are classified from invetory. 

 

For the periods ending at 31 December 2018, total rent income of Kanyon shopping centre and office complex is 

amounted to TL 83,663 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 75,537 thousand) and repair and maintenance expense 

of the related period is amounted to TL 126  thousand (31 December 2017: TL 1,416 thousand). 

 

Total rent income from other investment properties is amounting to TL 6,895 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 

6,098 thousand) for the year ended at 31 December 2018. 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, there are no pledges or liens on Group’s investment property.  

 

Fair Value 

 

As of 31 December 2018, fair value of Kanyon is approximately TL 847,373 thousand which consist of fair 

value of Kanyon shopping centre amounting TL 350,583 thousand and fair value of Kanyon Office complex 

amounting TL 496,790 thousand which is calculated from net present value of estimated rent income of Kanyon 

shopping centre and office complex by the Group Management (31 December 2017: Fair value of Kanyon is TL 

709 million which consist of fair value of Kanyon shopping centre amounting TL 287 million and fair value of 

Kanyon Office complex amounting TL 422 million, which is calculated from net present value of estimated rent 

income of Kanyon shopping centre and office complex). 

 

Other 

 

As of 31 December 2018,  fair value of other investment properties is amounting to TL 579,908 thousand (31 

December 2017: TL 527,922 thousand). Aforementioned fair values are determined for properties that generating 

rent income from the net present value “of anticipated rent income by the Company Management, whereas they 

are estimated for lands, which are purchased in current period by an independent evaluation company. This 

evaluation company that authorised by CMB, provides real estate valuation services pursuant to capital market 

legislation and has adequate experience and demonstrable knowledge in valuation of relevant areas. Upon 

valuation report, fair value of acquired properties is determined by comparing the imputed values that is reflected 

the actual transaction values of similar properties. 
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NOTE 16 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 1 January 2018 Additions Disposals Transfers 31 December 2018 
 

Cost 

Machinery, plant and equipment  9,791 132 (3) - 9,920 

Motor vehicles  485 127 - - 612 

Furniture and fixtures 4,605 347 (30) - 4,922 

Construction in progress - 90 - - 90 

Leasehold improvements 1,971 89 - - 2,060 

Other tangible assets 11,549 1,288 (11) - 12,826 
 

 28,401 2,073 (44) - 30,430 

 

Accumulated depreciation 

Machinery, plant and equipment 9,702 30 - - 9,732 

Motor vehicles 184 3 - - 187 

Furniture and fixtures 2,403 774 (17) - 3,160 

Leasehold improvements 1,595 293 - - 1,888 

Other tangible assets 8,451 970 (6) - 9,415 
 

 22,335 2,070 (23) - 24,382 
 

Carrying amount 6,066    6,048 

 

Allocation of depreciation and amortisation expenses for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows: TL 6,002 thousand in cost of goods sold, TL 1,418 thousand in 

general and administrative expenses, TL 2,923 thousand in marketing.  
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NOTE 16 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

    Additions related Disposals related Transfers to 

    to assets held to assets held assets held 

 1 January 2017 Additions Disposals  for sale for sale for sale 31 December 2017 
 

Cost 
Land and land improvements 19,286 - - 51 - (19,337) - 

Buildings 71,800 - - 1,554 - (73,354) - 

Machinery, plant and equipment 45,015 27 (3) 502 - (35,750) 9,791 

Motor vehicles 425 - - 299 - (239) 485 

Furniture and fixtures 21,630 582 (419) 228 (118) (17,298) 4,605 

Construction in progress 245 - - 776 - (1,021) - 

Leasehold improvements 3,661 97 - 63 - (1,850) 1,971 

Other tangible assets 21,220 1,119 (16) 229 (1,006) (9,997) 11,549 
 

 183,282 1,825 (438) 3,702 (1,124) (158,846) 28,401 

 

Accumulated depreciation        

Land improvements 166 - - 86 - (252) - 

Buildings 4,259 - - 737 - (4,996) - 

Machinery, plant and equipment 27,294 16 (3) 856 - (18,461) 9,702 

Motor vehicles 385 6 - 8 - (215) 184 

Furniture and fixtures 14,351 696 (397) 897 (118) (13,026) 2,403 

Leasehold improvements  1,962 264 - 74 - (705) 1,595 

Other tangible assets 12,477 810 (13) 769 (782) (4,810) 8,451 
 

 60,894 1,792 (413) 3,427 (900) (42,465) 22,335 
 

Carrying amount 122,388         6,066 

 

Allocation of depreciation and amortisation expenses for the year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows: TL 6,069 thousand in cost of goods sold, TL 1,244 thousand in 

general and administrative expenses, TL 3,020 thousand in marketing.  
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NOTE 17 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

 1 January 2018 Additions Disposals Transfers 31 December 2018 
 

Cost 

Rights 7,037 694 - 501 8,232 

Computer software 6,414 677 - 84 7,175 

Construction in progress 5,299 4,773 - (585) 9,487 

Other intangible assets 226 56 - - 282 
  

 18,976 6,200 - - 25,176 

 

Accumulated amortisation 

Rights 3,092 1,502 - - 4,594 

Computer software 5,074 881 - - 5,955 

Other intangible assets 190 41 - - 231 
 

 8,356 2,424 - - 10,780 
 

Carrying amount 10,620    14,396 
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NOTE 17 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 

 

    Additions related Disposals related Transfers to 

    to assets held to assets held assets held 

 1 January 2017 Additions Disposals  for sale for sale for sale 31 December 2017 
 

Cost 
Customer relations, licences and royalty 20,370 - - - - (20,370) - 

Rights 19,766 633 - 14 217 (13,593) 7,037 

Computer software 19,184 1,411 (109) 161 74 (14,307) 6,414 

Construction in progress 3,437 2,300 - (175) - (263) 5,299 

Other intangible assets 226 - - - - - 226 
 

 62,983 4,344 (109) - 291 (48,533) 18,976 

 

Accumulated amortisation        

Customer relations, licences and royalty 5,432 - - - 679 (6,111) - 

Rights 9,057 2,125 - - 320 (8,410) 3,092 

Computer software 13,269 728 (109) - 1,223 (10,037) 5,074 

Other intangible assets 159 31 - - - - 190 
 

 27,917 2,884 (109) - 2,222 (24,558) 8,356 
 

Carrying amount 35,066      10,620 
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NOTE 18 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

a) Provisions 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Provision for litigations 1,453 894 
 

 1,453 894 

 

Provision for litigations: 
 

The Group has provided provision for the lawsuits filed against the Group in the amount of TL 1,453 thousand 

(31 December 2017: TL 894 thousand) based on the legal opinions taken on juridical, labour, commercial and 

administrative litigations and the assessment of similar litigations’ consequences in the past. Movement of the 

provision for litigations are stated below: 

  

 2018 2017 
 

As of 1 January 894 3,578 

Charge for the period (Note 25) 559 350 

Reversal of provisions (-) - - 

Provisions related to discontinuous operations - 650 

Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (-) - (3,684) 
 

As of 31 December 1,453 894 

 

b) Contingent assets 
 

Appeal for return of tax penalty paid: 
 

The Competition Authority decided to conduct an inquiry for 8 companies, including EİP, regarding tender of the 

Training Hospitals. As a result of the inquiry, a decision was made by the Competition Board at 19 January 2007 

and announced to the parties. With this decision, an administrative penalty amounting to TL 1,211 thousand, 

equivalent of 7.5% of the net sales of 2001, has been imposed on EİP. Regarding the penalty mentioned a reduced 

payment of TL 908 thousand has been made for early payment; there are no additional liabilities attributable to the 

penalty. The Group has applied to the Council of State for the refund of the penalty. 
 

On 20 August 2014, as a result of an investigation initiated by the Competition Board, 2 companies, including EİP 

were fined amounting to TL 930 thousand, based on the grounds that the Company violated competition rules. The 

Company benefited from the early payment option in 2015 and paid TL 698 thousand. 
 

There are no additional liabilities attributable to the penalty. The Company filed a lawsuit for the cancellation of the 

Competition Board’s decision and the reimbursement of the aforementioned amount. 
 

c) Contingent liabilities 
 

I- Tax and tax related penalties of the Company 
 

Tax penalty notified as at 7 April 2011 
 

On 29 December 2011, a VAT report is prepared by tax inspectors of Ministry of Finance in connection with tax 

inspection report related to 2006 which was resulted in favour of the Company. Based on that report, TL 3,113 

thousand regarding the tax and TL 3,113 thousand regarding the penalty have been levied against the Company by 

the Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration. 
 

Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration has applied to the Council of State for the appeal of this lawsuit. The 

Company responded to the petition of the defendant and sent to the State Council. The lawsuit is still in progress in 

Council of State. There has been no changes in current period. 
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NOTE 18 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 (Continued) 
 

c) Contingent liabilities (continued) 
 

II- Tax and tax related penalties of the Group’s joint venture EBX 
 

With respect to inspection reports on VAT refund of services purchased by EBX, the Company’s joint venture, 

based on the inspections performed by tax auditors of Ministry of Finance: 
 

i) In accordance with the inspection reports conducted by the Ministry of Finance Revenue Inspectors for 

Company's business partners EBX regarding the VAT return related with services they have purchased 

under the VAT recall, the tax cases in respect of the tax principal and penalties were lost and the lawsuits 

filed by the Council of State appeal to the applicant on 24 July 2012. Regarding these cases that have been 

lost in the tax court; a provision amounting to TL 17,764 thousand has been set aside for the EBX which 

has been condensated according to the equity method with a 50% share from TL 35,528 thousand 

considering the default interest and this amount has been paid in full.  
 

ii) Corporate tax for the year 2006/6, VAT for the period 2006/6 and the unfair tax return (VAT) for the 

period 2007/3, Taxation withholding tax for the 3rd, 6th and 9th periods of 2006 and with hold corporate 

tax for the 12th period of 2006, 2006 Appeals were filed against the Council of State for 5 different cases 

related to the 1st, 2nd and 3rd period corporate temporary tax and the 4th term corporate temporary tax of 

2006 and for the appeal cases against EBX, the Administrative Judgment Procedure Law ( "İYUK") 54th 

article of "Adjustment of the Decision" within the legal periods of the lawsuits were opened, four of these 

cases were lost to the decision of the Supreme Administrative Court and the legal process was completed. 
The last one of these lawsuits (VAT case) was concluded against the EBX center and the file was 

completed in legal processes.  
 

iii) Request of the taxpayer to stop the executive in the Tax Court regarding the payment of TL4,104 

thousand which is not accepted as an offset request in 2012 due to the declared amount of VAT that 

should be returned due to the taxpayers of the Grand Taxpayers Tax Office related to 2010. The lawsuit 

filed against the company's business partnership. Both the appeals and the remedies in the Council of 

State were concluded against the Company's joint venture and the legal process was completed and the 

file was completed. 
 

III- Tax and tax related penalties and litigation of the Group’s subsidiary EİP 
 

Tax penalty notified as at 3 August 2012 
 

Within the scope of inspections of companies in pharmaceuticals industry by the Tax Auditors of the Ministry of 

Finance, a limited investigation has been conducted for EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. and EIP has been 

notified for tax penalties consisting of TL 570 thousand regarding VAT and TL 855 thousand for its activities of the 

2010 - 2011 periods. Based on on-going inspection process, tax penalties for TL 282 thousand of Corporate Tax, 

TL 365 thousand VAT and TL 917 thousand penalty have been notified for financial year 2010. 

 

EIP filed lawsuits for the related tax and tax penalties since no settlement was reached in Büyük Mükellefler 

Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration. The lawsuits amounting to TL 570 thousand VAT, TL 855 thousand 

penalty and TL 365 thousand VAT, TL 635 thousand penalty have concluded in favour of EIP. Both the appeals 

and the remedies in the Council of State were concluded against the Company's joint venture and the legal 

process was completed and the file was completed. 
 

The lawsuit related to TL 282 thousand attributable to corporate tax and TL 282 thousand attributable to tax 

penalty was concluded against EIP despite other lawsuits concluded in favour of EIP. EIP has applied to the 

council of State and the lawsuit is still in progress. The lawsuit related to TL 282 thousand attributable to 

corporate tax and TL 282 thousand attributable to tax penalty was concluded against EIP despite other lawsuits 

concluded in favour of EIP. EIP has applied to the Council of State and the lawsuit is concluded in favour of EIP. 

However, Tax Court insisted on their decision by not accepting the decision of the Council of State. EİP has 

applied to the Plenary Session of the Tax Law Chamber of the Council of State for the appeal of this decision.
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NOTE 18 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 (Continued) 

 

c) Contingent liabilities (continued) 

 

III- Tax and tax related penalties and litigation of the Group’s subsidiary EİP (continued) 

 

The appeal of EİP has accepted by the Plenary Session of the Tax Law Chamber of the council of State; also 

decided to reversal insistent decision by a majority vote to re-decide after more detailed study has been made on 

the side of Tax Court. 

 

The court file was sent back to Istanbul 8.Tax Court, Tax Court demanded additional information and documents 

from EİP and reassessed the case. Council of State accepted the resolution of general assembly of Tax Court Office 

and canceled the tax assessment with penalty. Tax Court cancelled the tax assessment based on the decision of 

reversal, but the decision was appealed by the Tax Office. This request for appeal was re-discussed at the General 

Assembly of the Tax Law Offices of the Council of State and the request of the tax administration was rejected and 

the tax court approved the decision and the legal process was completed. 

 

The lawsuit related to price differences from market values 

 

Various public hospitals governed by Turkish Ministry of Health (“MoH”) claimed approximately  

TL1,749 thousand for the refund of price differences determined between the prices of medical supplies at which 

the Group sold to these public hospitals and the market values which were determined by Market Value Settlement 

Committee established by Social Security Institution Health Administration Department based on the vesting deed 

given by the Group in 1998. The Group faced lawsuits filed against it by the MoH for the collection of these claims 

amounting to approximately TL403 thousand; preliminary hearings and discovery proceedings in these lawsuits are 

in progress. Considering the continuing legal process and uncertainty regarding the ultimate outcome of the matter, 

no provision has been provided in the consolidated financial statements. There has been no changes in current 

period. 

 

d) Guarantees given and taken 

 

    31 December 2018  
 

 USD EUR TL Total 
 

Guarantees given 
 

Letters of guarantee - - 1,639 1,639 
 

 - - 1,639 1,639 

 

Guarantees received 
 

Letters of guarantee 9,671 - 45,301 54,972 

Guarantee bill 773 - 290 1,063 
 

 10,444 - 45,591 56,035 
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NOTE 18 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 (Continued) 
 

d) Guarantees given and taken (continued) 

 

    31 December 2017  
 

 USD EUR TL Total 

 

Guarantees given 
 

Letters of guarantee - - 12,030 12,030 
 

 - - 12,030 12,030 

 

Letters of guarantee     
 

Letters of guarantee 9,025 243 25,076 34,344 

Guaranteed bills of exchange 554 - 172 726 
 

 9,579 243 25,248 35,070 

 

Letters and guaranteed bills of exchange were given to suppliers and government institutions. Mortgages, cheques 

and guaranteed bills of exchange were taken from customer for trade receivables of the Group. 

 

Collateral / pledge / mortgage (“CPM”) position of the Group. as of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is 

as follows: 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

A.  CPMs given for Company’s own legal personality  189 189 

- Collateral (Fully denominated in TL) 189 189 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

B.  CPMs given on behalf of fully consolidated companies - - 

- Collateral - - 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

C.  CPMs given in the normal course of business activities on behalf of - - 

     third parties - - 

D.  Total amount of other CPMs - - 

i.  Total amount of CPMs given on behalf of the parent - - 

- Collateral - - 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

ii.  Total amount of CPMs given to on behalf of other Group companies - - 

      which are not in scope of B and C - - 

 iii. Total amount of CPMs given on behalf of third parties - - 

       which are not in scope of C - - 
 

 189 189 

 

Proportion of other CPMs given to the Group’s equity as of 31 December 2018 is 0% (31 December 2017: 0%). 
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NOTE 19 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Employee benefit obligations 

 

Social security premiums payable 941 1,054 

Wages payable to employees 119 71 
 

 1,060 1,125 

 

Short term provisions for employee benefits 

 

Provision for unused vacations 2,956 2,751 
 

 2,956 2,751 

 

Provision for unused vacations: 

 
Movements in the provision for unused vacation are as follows as of 31 December: 
 

 2018 2017 
 
As of 1 January 2,751 5,928 

Charge for the period (Note 23, 24) 528 961 
Payments during the period (-) (323) (242) 
Provisions related to discontinuous operations - 35 
Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (-) - (3,931) 
 

As of 31 December 2,956 2,751 

 

Long term provisions for employee benefits 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits: 
 
Under Turkish Labour Law, the Company and its Turkish Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures are required to pay 
termination benefits to each employee who has completed one year of service and whose employment is 
terminated without due cause, who is called up for military service, dies or retires after completing 25 years of 
service (20 years for women) and reaches the retirement age (58 for women and 60 for men). Some transition 
provisions related to the pre-retirement service term were excluded from the law since the related law was 
amended as of 23 May 2002. 

 
As of 31 December 2018, the amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of TL 
5,434.42 (31 December 2017: TL 4,732.48) for each year of service. As of 31 December 2018 calculation of 
provision for employee termination benefit has been performed considering one month’s salary limited to a 
maximum of TL 6,017.60 which is valid from 1 January 2019 (31 December 2017: TL 5,001.76). 

 
The liability is not funded as there is no funding requirement. The provision has been calculated by estimating 
the present value of the future probable obligation of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.Ş. and its subsidiaries and joint ventures registered in Turkey arising from the retirement of employees. 

 
TAS 19 “Employee Benefits” published by POA require actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate 
the enterprise’s obligation under defined benefit plans.  
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NOTE 19 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Provision for employment termination benefits (continued): 

 
Accordingly the following actuarial assumptions were used in the calculation of the total liability:: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Discount rate (%) 4.78 4.11 
Turnover rate to estimate the probability of retirement (%) (*) 93 - 98 93 - 98 
 

(*) For the estimation of the probability of retirement, the turnover rate was used for employees with services up to 15 
years, and for employees with 16 years of service and over, it was taken as 100%. 

 
The principal assumption is that the maximum liability for each year of service will increase in line with 
inflation. The discount rate thus applied represents the expected rate of actual inflation.  
 
Movements in the provision for employment termination benefits are as follows as of 31 December: 
 
 2018 2017 
 
As of 1 January 2,953 7,774 
Charge for the period (Note 23, 24) 2,678 115 
Payments during the period (-) (1,544) (684) 
Actuarial gain / (loss) (8) - 
Additions related to subsidiary sold - 592 
Payments related to subsidiary sold (-) - (1,084) 
Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (-) - (3,760) 
 

As of 31 December 4,079 2,953 

 
 
NOTE 20 - OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Other current assets 
 
VAT receivables 815 7,731 
Advances given to personnel 30 119 
 

 845 7,850 

 
Other non-current assets 
 
VAT receivables 12,198 10,142 
 

 12,198 10,142 

 
Other current liabilities 
 
Other 112 96 
 

 112 96 
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NOTE 21 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS  
 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. adopted the registered share capital system 

available to companies registered with the CMB and set a limit on its registered share capital representing registered 

type shares with a nominal value of Kr 1. There are no privileged shares, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s 

subscribed, historical and authorised share capital for the years ended at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are 

as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Limit on registered share capital (historical value) 1,920,000 1,920,000 

Authorised share capital approved with nominal value 685,260 685,260 

 

Companies in Turkey may exceed the limit on their registered share capital if they distribute bonus shares to their 

shareholders. 

 

At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the shareholders of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and their proportion of ownership interests in historical share capital are as follows: 

 

Shareholders (%) 31 December 2018 (%) 31 December 2017 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 50.62 346,845 50.62 346,845 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 29.67 203,295 29.35 201,117 

Other (Listed) (*) 19.72 135,120 20.03 137,298 
 

Total 100.00 685,260 100.00 685,260 
 

Adjustment to share capital  105,777  105,777 
 

Total authorised share capital  791,037  791,037 

 

(*)  Within the framework of Capital Markets Board’s decision, dated 23 July 2010 and numbered 21/655, actual rates of 

the shares in circulation of the listed companies in BIST are announced on a weekly basis starting from the period 

ended 30 September 2010, became effective as of 1 October 2010 by the Central Registry Agency (“CRA”). 

According to the report published by CRA on 31 December 2018, 19.70% (31 December 2017: 20.02%) of the 

Group’s shares in circulation are presented in the other group. 

 

Adjustment to share capital represents the difference between the cash contributions adjusted for inflation and the cash 

contributions prior to adjustment for inflation. 

 

Retained earnings in statutory accounts can be distributed except jurisdiction stated below related to legal reserves. 

 

The legal reserves consist of first and second reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code 

(“TCC”). The TCC stipulates that the first legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits at the rate of 5% per 

annum, until the total reserve reaches 20% of the Company’s paid-in / authorised share capital. The second legal 

reserve is appropriated at the rate of 10% per annum of all cash distributions in excess of 5% of the paid-in / authorised 

share capital. Under the TCC, the legal reserves can only be used to offset losses and are not available for any other 

usage unless they exceed 50% of paid-in / authorised share capital. Total amount of legal reserves of the Company is 

TL 149,854 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 128,727 thousand). 
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NOTE 21 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (Continued) 
 

The aforementioned legal reserves and special reserves shall be classified in “Restricted reserves” in accordance 

with POA Financial Reporting Standards. Details of the restricted reserves as of 31 December 2018 and 31 

December 2017 are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Legal reserves 149,854 128,727 

Gain on sale of shares of associates 48,843 39,368 

Corporate tax deduction 1,000 - 
 

 199,697 168,095 

 

Retained earnings 

 

In accordance with the CMB regulations effective previously, the inflation adjustment differences arising at the 

initial application of inflation accounting which were recorded under “accumulated losses” could be netted off 

from the profit to be distributed based on CMB profit distribution regulations. In addition, the aforementioned 

amount recorded under “accumulated losses” could be netted off with net income for the period and if any, 

undistributed prior period profits and inflation adjustment differences of extraordinary reserves, legal reserves 

and capital, respectively. 

 

On the same basis, in accordance with the CMB regulations effective until 1 January 2008, “Capital, Share 

Premiums, Legal Reserves, Special Reserves and Extraordinary Reserves” were recorded at their statutory 

carrying amounts and the inflation adjustment differences related to such accounts were recorded under 

“inflation adjustment differences” at the initial application of inflation accounting. “Equity inflation adjustment 

differences” could have been utilised by issuing bonus shares and offsetting accumulated losses, carrying amount 

of extraordinary reserves could have been utilised in issuing bonus shares, cash dividend distribution and 

offsetting accumulated losses. 

 

In accordance with Communiqué Serial: XI, No: 29 and related announcements of the CMB, effective from 1 

January 2008, “Share capital”, “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premiums” shall be carried at their statutory 

amounts. The valuation differences shall be classified as follows: 

 

- the difference arising from the “Paid-in Capital” and not been transferred to capital yet, shall be classified 

under the “Inflation Adjustment to Share Capital”; 

- the difference due to the inflation adjustment of “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premium” and the 

amount that has not been utilised in dividend distribution or capital increase yet, shall be classified under 

“Prior years’ income”.  
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NOTE 21 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (Continued) 
 

Dividend Distribution 
 

Listed companies are subject to dividend requirements regulated by the CMB as follows: 

 

According to the Article 19 of the Capital Market Law, numbered 6362 and effective from 30 December 2012, 

and Dividend Communiqué of CMB, numbered II-19.1 and effective from 1 February 2014, listed companies 

shall distribute their profits within the framework of the profit distribution policies to be determined by their 

general assemblies and in accordance with the prevailing regulations. Regarding the profit distribution policies of 

the listed companies, CMB may set different principles on companies with similar qualifications. 

 

In accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code, unless the required reserves and the dividend for shareholders 

as determined in the Articles of Association or in the dividend distribution policy of the company are set aside; 

no decision may be taken to set up other reserves, to transfer profits to the subsequent year or to distribute 

dividends to the holders of usufruct shares, to the members of the board of directors or to the employees; and no 

dividend can be distributed to these people unless the determined dividend for shareholders is paid in cash. 

 

For the listed companies, dividend distribution is made evenly to all existing shares as of the date of dividend 

distribution without considering the dates of issuance and acquisition of the shares. Companies shall distribute 

their profits through general assembly decisions in accordance with the profit distribution policies to be 

determined by their general assemblies as well as the related provisions of the prevailing regulations. A 

minimum distribution rate has not been determined in these regulations. The companies pay dividends as 

determined in their articles of associations or profit distribution policies. Furthermore, dividends may be paid in 

instalments with same or different amounts and profit share advances may be distributed over the profit in the 

interim financial statements. 

 

In accordance with Article 26 of the Company’s Articles of Association, decision to be taken by the General 

Assembly, the dividends are distributed after the first legal reserves set aside over income before tax, financial 

obligations and first level dividends based on Capital Markets Board legislation. As of 31 December 2018, the 

distributable profit of the Company is TL 249,371 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 206,117 thousand) and 

available distributable resources amount to TL 236,107 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 186,796 thousand) 

according to the statutory financial statements. 

 

 

NOTE 22 - REVENUE 

 2018 2017 

 

Domestic sales 841,111 727,176 

Exports 707 483 
 

Gross sales 841,818 727,659 
 

Sales returns (-) (6,368) (3,380) 

Sales discounts (-) (143,356) (126,370) 
 

Net sales 692,094 597,909 
 

Cost of sales (-) (447,692) (363,476) 
 

Gross profit 244,402 234,433 
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NOTE 23 - GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, MARKETNG EXPENSES 

 

 2018 2017 

Marketing expenses 
 

Personnel expenses 59,526 50,532 

Advertisement, presentation and promotion expenses 37,271 38,065 

Transportation, distribution and warehousing expenses 8,236 6,314 

Rent expenses 7,693 5,373 

Fuel, energy and water expenses 3,685 3,157 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Note 15,16 and 17) 2,923 3,020 

Education expenses 2,064 2,550 

Travelling expenses 2,362 2,511 

Technical support, license and know-how expenses 1,768 1,290 

Other 3,137 2,653 
 

 128,665 115,465 

 

General administrative expenses 
 

Personnel expenses 26,239 26,464 

Consultancy expenses 11,875 12,178 

Rent expenses 5,487 4,866 

Miscellaneous taxes 4,902 3,931 

Advertisement, presentation and promotion expenses 3,029 2,898 

Provision expense for doubtful receivables (Note 19) 2,678 115 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Note 15, 16 and 17) 1,418 1,244 

Research expense 1,168 1,308 

Repair and maintenance expenses 1,149 2,200 

Office expenses 996 901 

Provision for unpaid vacation (Note 19) 528 961 

Other 3,223 5,008 
 

 62,692 62,074 

 

 

NOTE 24 - EXPENSES BY NATURE 

 

 2018 2017 

 

Purchase and consumption of inventories 407,530 328,964 

Personnel expenses 85,765 76,996 

Advertisement and promotion expenses 40,300 40,963 

Rent expenses 13,180 10,239 

Consultancy expense 11,875 12,178 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Note 15, 16 ve 17) 10,343 10,333 

Changes in commercial inventories 10,197 863 

Transportation, distribution and warehousing expenses 8,236 6,314 

Expense of provision for employment termination benefits (Note 19) 2,678 115 

Research expense 1,168 1,308 

Office expenses 996 901 

Contract manufacturing expense 745 512 

Provision for employment termination benefits (Note 19) 528 961 

Other 45,508 50,368 
 

 639,049 541,015 
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NOTE 25 - OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

 2018 2017 

Other operating income 
 

Foreign exchange gains from bank deposits 301,959 152,013 

Interest income from bank deposits 33,875 21,021 

Foreign exchange gains from trade receivables and payables 23,880 12,240 

Credit finance income 6,587 6,729 

Other 1,729 5,011 
 

 368,030 197,014 

 

Other operating expenses 
 

Foreign exchange losses from bank deposits 161,954 99,007 

Foreign exchange losses from trade receivables and payables 39,790 13,482 

Credit finance expenses 8,003 4,191 

Provision expense for legal case (Note 18) 559 350 

Donation expenses 280 276 

Other 2,126 7,543 
 

 212,712 124,849 

 

 

NOTE 26 - INCOME FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
 

 2018 2017 

Income from investment activities 
 

Dividend income 71,569 99,396 

Earnings from disposal of subsidiaries 20 47,302 

Earnings from disposal of fixed assets 11 6 

Other 999 1 
 

 72,599 146,705 

 

 

NOTE 27 - FINANCIAL INCOME / EXPENSES 
 

 2018 2017 

Financial income 
 

Derivative transactions income 15,999 17,087 

Foreign currency differences income 11,000 - 
 

 26,999 17,087 
 

Financial expenses 
 

Interest expense from bank borrowings 12,118 4,551 

Foreign exchange losses 4,786 3 

Commissions of letter of guarantees 523 321 

Derivative transactions expenses - 13 

Other 285 1,088 
 

 17,712 5,976 
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NOTE 28 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

 

a) Current income tax on profits 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Corporate and income taxes payable (Company) 53,075 26,622 

Prepaid taxes (-) (Company) (64,949) (18,793) 
 

 (11,874) 7,829 
 

Corporate and income taxes payable (Subsidiary) - - 

Prepaid taxes (-) (Subsidiary) (1,936) (63) 
 

 (1,936) (63) 
 

Current income tax liabilities, (net) (13,810) 7,766 

 

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates to file 

a consolidated tax return. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in these consolidated financial statements, 

have been calculated on a separate-entity basis. 

 

Corporate Tax Law is changed with Law No, 5520 dated 13 June 2006, and most of the articles of mentioned law 

have become effective as of 1 January 2006. Accordingly, corporate tax rate in Turkey is 22% for 2018 (2017: 

20%). Corporation tax is payable on the total income of the Company after adjusting for certain disallowable 

expenses, corporate income tax exemptions (participation exemption, investment incentive allowance, etc.) and 

corporate income tax deductions (like research and development expenditures deduction). No further tax is payable 

unless the profit is distributed except withholding tax at the rate of 19.8% on the investment incentive allowance 

utilised within the scope of the Income Tax Law transitional Article 61. 

 

Dividends paid to non-resident corporations, which have a place of business in Turkey, or resident corporations are 

not subject to withholding tax. Otherwise, dividends paid are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 15%. An 

increase in capital via issuing bonus shares is not considered as a profit distribution and thus does not incur 

withholding tax. 

 

Corporations are required to pay advance corporation tax quarterly at the rate of 22% on their corporate income by 

preparing tax declaration within the period of two months and 14 days subsequent to the corresponding quarter. 

Advance tax is payable by the 17th of the second month following each calendar quarter end. Advance tax paid by 

corporations is credited against the annual corporation tax liability. The balance of the advance tax paid may be 

refunded or used to set off against other liabilities to the government. 

 

In accordance with Tax Law No, 5024 “Law Related to Changes in Tax Procedural Law, Income Tax Law and 

Corporate Tax Law” that was published on the Official Gazette on 30 December 2003 to amend the tax base for 

non-monetary assets and liabilities, effective from 1 January 2004, income and corporate taxpayers will prepare the 

statutory financial statements by adjusting the non-monetary assets and liabilities for the changes in the general 

purchasing power of Turkish Lira. In accordance with the aforementioned law provisions, in order to apply inflation 

adjustment, cumulative inflation rate (SIS-WPI) over last 36 months and 12 months must exceed 100% and 10%, 

respectively. Inflation adjustment was not applied as these conditions were not fulfilled in the year ended 2018 and 

2017. 

 

Under the Turkish taxation system, tax losses can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income for up 

to five years. Tax losses cannot be carried back to offset profits from previous periods. 
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NOTE 28 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 

 

a) Current income tax on profits (continued) 

 

Turkish Corporate Tax Law No, 5422 on “Exemption of real estate and investment sales gains” has been amended 

by Law No: 5520 effective from 1 January 2006. A 75% portion of the gains derived from the sale of preferential 

rights, usufruct shares and founding shares from investment equity and real property which has remained in assets 

for more than two full years is exempt from corporate tax. 

 

In accordance with Article 32/A4 added with the New Corporate Tax Law No. 5838 Article 9, the discounted rate is 

applied to the earnings derived from capacity expansion investment, when these earnings could be accounted 

separately in the books of a company. When these earnings could not be accounted separately in the books, the 

earnings, to which the discounted rate will be applied, is determined by using the percentage of the amount of 

capacity expansion investment to the carrying amount of registered total tangible asset (including amounts relating 

to construction in progress) that company at period end. For this calculation, the carrying amount of registered total 

tangible asset in the company assets is taken into consideration with their revalued amounts. The application of the 

discounted rate commences in the advance tax period in which the investment partly or fully starts to its operations. 

 

The taxes on income reflected to the consolidated income statement of the year ended 31 December are 

summarized below: 

 2018 2017 

 

Current income tax expenses (53,075) (26,622) 

Deferred tax expenses (2,087) (1,515) 
 

Total tax expense (-) (55,162) (28,137) 

 

The reconciliation as of 31 December corporation tax expense included in the consolidated statement of income 

to the tax expense calculated with the current tax rate on the consolidated income before taxes is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Profit before tax 295,251 170,877 

 

Current year corporation tax expense (64,955) (34,175) 

Tax effect of disallowable expenses (71) (857) 

Exemption of dividend and other tax-exempt income 15,745 19,879 

Tax losses disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax assets   

   in the previous periods and recognised in the current period 1,623 2,783 

Tax losses disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax (8,783) - 

Items disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax - 6,289 

Equity method accounting 1,101 (23,195) 

Other 178 1,139 
 

Total tax expense (-) (55,162) (28,137) 

 

b) Deferred tax 

 

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between the 

financial statements prepared in accordance with TAS / TFRS and the tax financial statements. Such temporary 

differences generally arise due to revenues and expenses being recognised in different fiscal periods in accordance 

with tax regulations and TAS / TFRS. The tax rate used for deferred tax assets and liabilities is 22%  

(31 December 2017: 20%). 
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NOTE 28 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 

 

b) Deferred tax (continued) 

 

In accordance with the regulation numbered 7061, published in Official Gazette on 5 December 2017," Law on the 

Amendment of Some Tax Acts and Some Other Laws”, corporate tax rate for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020 has 

increased from 20% to 22%. Therefore, deferred tax assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2018 are calculated 

with 22% tax rate for the temporary differences which will be realized in 2019 and 2020, and with 20% tax for 

those which will be realized after 2021 and onwards, however since the effect of change in tax rate on financial 

statements is immaterial, calculated amount is not accunted in financial statements as of 31 December 2018. 

 

The breakdown of cumulative temporary differences and the resulting deferred tax assets and liabilities provided 

at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 using the enacted tax rates is as follows: 

 

  Deferred tax 

 Cumulative temporary assets /  

  differences   (liabilities)  

 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

Difference between the tax base and 

   carrying amount of investment property 

   plant and equipment and intangible assets (10,701) (13,439) 2,356 2,688 

Carry forward tax losses (7,379) (6,509) 1,623 1,302 

Provision for employment termination benefits (4,079) (2,953) 897 591 

Provision for doubtful receivables (2,873) (1,764) 632 353 

Difference between the tax base and carrying 

   amount of inventories (3,496) (2,037) 769 407 

Deferred revenue (1,970) (2,602) 433 520 

Provision for litigations (1,453) (894) 320 179 

Provision for unused vacation (2,956) (2,751) 650 550 

Other -  (770) - 154 
 

Deferred tax assests (**) (34,907) (33,719) 7,680 6,744 
 

Fair value differences of available 

 for-sale financial assets (*) 2,863,679 2,432,224 (143,184) (121,611) 

Deferred credit finance expenses 17,986 1,585 (3,957) (316) 

Income / (expense) accruals for  

 derivative financial instruments - 3,310 - (662) 
 

Deferred tax liabilities (-) (**) 2,881,665 2,437,119 (147,141) (122,589) 
 

Deferred tax liabilities, net   (139,461) (115,845) 
 

(*)  Difference between fair value and book value amounts to TL 2,863,679 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 2,432,224 

thousand) and based on the 75% exemption from the corporate tax denoted in Article 5, subsection (1), clause (e) of 

Corporate Tax Law No, 5520, deferred tax is calculated by applying 5% effective tax rate. 

 

(**)  Since deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in the schedule above are summarized by nature of the temporary 

differences subject to deferred tax, they express the offset of deferred tax asset amounting to TL 147,141 thousand  

(31 December 2017: TL 122,589 thousand) and deferred tax liability amounting to TL 7,679 thousand  

(31 December 2017: TL 6,744 thousand) presented in the financial statements, which are calculated on a separate 

entity basis for all companies included in the scope of consolidation. 
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NOTE 28 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 

 
b) Deferred tax (continued) 
 
As a result of the evaluations made, it is probable that the Group will be able to deduct the temporary differences 

that can be deducted from the deductible temporary differences amounting to TL 4,931 thousand  

(31 December 2017: TL 3,927 thousand) as of 31 December 2018 from the deductible temporary differences 

amounting to TL 986 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 785 thousand) have not been recognized in the deferred 

tax asset. 

 

The expiry date of the right to use deferred tax assets for which no deferred tax asset is allocated is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Ends in 2018 - 42 

Ends in 2019  - 24 

Ends in 2020  1,183 886 

Ends in 2021  1,634 1,964 

Ends in 2022  2,114 1,011 
 

 4,931 3,927 

 

Since each of the Subsidiaries is taxpayers separately, a net deferred tax asset or liability is calculated for each 

taxpayer, but these amounts are not offset in the statement of financial position. 

 

The movement of deferred tax liabilities in the period is as follows: 

 2018 2017 

 

As of 1 January (115,845) (81,317) 

Current year deferred tax (expense) / income (2,087) (1,515) 

Deferred tax liability accounted under equity resulting from 

increase in value of available-for-sale financial assets (*) (21,573) (21,763) 

Other 44 - 

Deferred tax expense discontinued operations - (2,566) 

Disposals related to sale of subsidiary - (8,684) 
 

As of 31 December (139,461) (115,845) 
 

(*) It consists of tax that is recognized directly in shareholders' equity. In shareholders' equity, no tax is transferred to the 

profit and loss account 
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NOTE 29 - EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Net gain attributable to equity holders of the Company 240,119 145,941 
 

Profit from continuous operations 240,119 142,419 

Profit from discontinued operations - 3,522 

   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares with 

   face value of Kr 1 each 68,526,000,000 68,526,000,000 

 

Earning per share (Kr) 0.3504 0.2130 
 

Basic earnings per share from continuous operations 0.3504 0.2080 

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations - 0.0051 

 

 

NOTE 30 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

 

At the Board Of Director’s meeting held on 28 April 2017, it was resolved to sale of the Group’s share in 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim which contribute 48.13% of total shares to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş and at the extraordinary 

general assembly meeting held on 3 July 2017, it was approved to sale of the Group’s share and the shares has 

been transferred on 4 July 2017. In the prior periods, the subsidiary and Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel Ürün ve Hizmetler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş which own 100% ownership 

with the related subsidary which are consolidated with full consolidation method, is shown in the discontinued 

operations. The financial information of the transaction up to the sale date of the subsidiray is disclosed below 

 

a) Cash flows from discounted operations 

  4 July 2017 

 

Cash flows from operating activities  (36,416) 

Cash flows from investment activities  (3,125) 

Cash flows from financing activities  20,466 
 

Total cash flows  (19,075) 

 

b) Assets related to sold subsidiary 

 4 July 2017 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,755 

Trade receivables 385,781 

Other receivables 10,003 

Inventories 42,727 

Prepaid expenses 6,867 

Current income tax assets 68 

Other current assets 2,353 

Available for sale financial investments 4,851 

Tangible fixed assets 116,381 

Goodwill 24,117 

Intangible fixed assets 23,978 

Other non-current assets 414 

Deferred tax assets 11,538 
 

Toplam 630,833 
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NOTE 30 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 

 

c) Liabilities related to sold subsidiary 

 4 July 2017 
 

Borrowings 239,769 

Trade payables 363,152 

Employee benefit obligations 1,196 

Other payables 15,253 

Deferred income 450 

Short term provisions 8,527 

Other short term payables 777 

Long term provisions 3,760 

Deferred tax liabilities 2,853 
 

Total 635,737 

 

The results of the discontinued operations are as follows: 

 4 July 2017 
 

Income 536,510 

Expense (527,153) 

Profit before tax from discontinued operations 9,357 

Tax (2,566) 
 

Net profit from discontinued operations 6,791 

 
The detail of sale of the subsidiary is as follows; 
  4 Temmuz 2017 
 

Cash from sale of subsidiary  37,541 
Net asset of subsidiary sold (-)  4,904 
 

Total  42,445 
 

Current period profit from discontinued operations (-)  (6,791) 

Other comprehensive income from discontinued operations  (658) 
 

Net income from sale of subsidiary  34,996 

 

 

NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Group is exposed to variety of financial risks due to its operations. These risks include credit risk, market 

risk (foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management 

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 

on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management is carried out by the Subsidiaries and Joint 

Ventures of the Group under policies approved by their own Boards of Directors. 

 

a) Credit risk 

 

The ownership of financial assets is exposed to the risk that the counterparty complies with contractual terms. 

These risks are managed by credit evaluation and distribution of the total risk of a single counterparty. Credit 

risk is distributed via the number of institutes that form the customer database and their different fields of 

business activities. The Group collects its receivables before their maturity with factoring practices, as may be 

required. This is an application parallel to irreversible risk management.  
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Details of credit and receivable risk as of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are as follows: 

 

    Receivables  

    Trade receivables   Other receivables  

 Related  Related  Deposit in 

Credit risks exposed by types of financial instruments parties Other parties Other banks Other (*) 
 

Maximum credit risk exposed as of 31 December 2018 468 185,667 701 132 619,885 4,538 

   (A+B+C+D) (**)       
 

- Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees (-) - 64,870 - - - - 
 

A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due not impaired 468 180,988 701 132 619,885 4,538 
 

B. Carrying value of financial asstes that are past due but not impaired (***) - 4,679 - - - -      
 

C. Net book value of the impaired assets       

- Past due (gross carrying amount) - 3,467 - - - - 

- Impairment (-) - (3,467) - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - - - - - - 

- Not overdue (gross amount) - - - - - - 

- Impairment (-) - - - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - - - - - - 
 

D. Off-balance sheet items include credit risk - - - - - - 

 
(*) Item contains the financial assets measured at fair value and attributable to income statements. 

(**) The area implies the sum of A, B, C, and D. Amounts showing the maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date by excluding guarantees in hand and other factors that increase the 

credit quality. 

(***) As of 31 December 2018, the aging explanations related with past due but not impaired assets indicated in the aging table of “Past due but not impaired trade receivables”. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

    Receivables  

    Trade receivables   Other receivables  

 Related  Related  Deposit in 

Credit risks exposed by types of financial instruments parties Other parties Otherf banks Other (*) 
 

Maximum credit risk exposed as of 31 December 2017 583 145,393 520 138 506,408 3,539 

   (A+B+C+D) (**) 
 

- Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees (-) - 47,438 - - - - 
 

A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due not impaired 583 141,361 520 138 506,408 3,539 
 

B. Carrying value of financial assets that are past due but not impaired (***) -  4,032 -  - - - 
 

C. Net book value of the impaired assets 

- Past due  (gross carrying amount) - 2,358 - - - - 

- Impairment (-) - (2,358) - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees etc. - - - - - - 

- Not overdue (gross amount) - - - - - - 

- Impariment (-) - - - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees etc. - - - - - - 
 

D. Off balance sheet items include credit risk - - - - - - 

 
(*) Item contains the financial assets measured at fair value and attributable to income statements. 

(**) The area implies the sum of A, B, C, and D. Amounts showing the maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date by excluding guarantees in hand and other factors that increase the 

credit quality. 

(***) As of 31 December 2017, the aging explanations related with past due but not impaired assets indicated in the aging table of “Past due but not impaired trade receivables. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Details of the past due but not impaired receivables for the years ended at 31 December 2018 and  

31 December 2017 are as follows: 

    Trade receivables from  

31 December 2018 Related parties Other Other 
 

Past due up to 30 days - 2,169 - 

Past due 1 - 3 months - 576 - 

Past due 3 - 12 months - 80 - 

Past due 1 - 5 year (*) - 1,854 - 
 

  - 4,679 - 

 

    Trade receivables from  

31 December 2017 Related parties Other Other 
 

Past due up to 30 days - 1,476 - 

Past due 1 - 3 months - 300 - 

Past due 3 - 12 months - 506 - 

Past due 1 - 5 year (*) - 1,750 - 
 

  - 4,032 - 
 

(*) The most of past due 1 - 5 year receivables consist of the legal authorities and the Group does not expect any 

recoverability risk on receivables. 

 

b) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk management consists of the holding sufficient cash and cash equivalents, funding via loans and 

capability to close short positions. Additionally, the Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining 

the availability of committed credit lines. 

 

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities is as follows: 

 

  31 December 2018  
       

   Total    More 

  contactual Up to  3 - 12 1 - 5 than 

Non-derivative Carrying cash outflow 3 months months months 5 years 

   financial liabilities value (I+II+III+IV) (I) (II) (III) (IV) 
 

Other financial liabilities 83,978 108,565 23,679 21,218 63,668 - 

Trade payables due to related parties 7,065 7,068 7,068 - - - 

Other trade payables 186,616 188,012 188,012 - - - 

Other payables and liabilities 7,295 7,295 - 7,295 - - 
 

Total non-derivative 

   financial liabilities 284,954 310,940 218,759 28,513 63,668 - 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

  31 December 2017  
       

   Total    More 

  contractual Up to 3-12 1-5 than 

Non-derivative Carrying cash outflow 3 months months years 5 years 

   financial liabilities value (I+II+III+IV) (I) (II) (III) (IV) 
 

Other financial liabilities 18,632 18,874 3,600 - 15,274 - 

Trade payables due to related parties 3,767 3,767 3,767 - -  - 

Other trade payables 132,203 132,869 132,869 - - - 

Other payables and liabilities 57,099 57,099 - 57,099 - - 
 

Total non-derivative 

   financial liabilities 211,701 212,609 140,236 57,099 15,274 - 

 

c) Market risk 

 

i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing liabilities and 

assets, these exposures are managed by offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities and using derivative 

instruments when considered necessary.  

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through floating interest rates bank borrowings. The Group is also 

exposed to fair value interest risk through fixed rate bank borrowings. As of 2018 and 2017, the Group’s 

financial liabilities with floating interest rates are TL, USD and EUR denominated. 

 

Financial instruments with fixed interest rates 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Financial assets   
 

Cash and cash equivalents 619,899 506,419 

 

Financial liabilities   
 

Financial liabilities 83,978 18,632 

 

As disclosed above the Group’s financial instruments have fixed interest rates. However as indicated in Note 6 and 

Note 8, related financial instruments maturities are 1 months or shorter and the maturities of financial liabilities are 

2 years or shorter. Therefore those financial instruments are interest sensitive and the impact on the profit or loss of 

100 basis points change in the interest rates is as follows.  

 

At 31 December 2018, if interest rates at contractual re-pricing dates of TL denominated financial liabilities with 

variable interest rates has strengthened / weakened by 100 basis points (1%) against TL with all other variables 

held constant, profit before tax would have been TL 54 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 73 thousand) higher / 

lower as a result of interest expenses. 

 

Sensitivity analysis of fair value miniority discount rates used for financial investments and rates used for 

discounted cash flows are presented in Note 7. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk through conversion of liabilities to functional currency. The risks 

get under control via analysing foreign exchange positions. 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk for EUR and USD, in this context, the exchange risk analysis 

related with main foreign currencies as follows: 

 

         31 December 2018  

        Profit / Loss         Equity  
 

 Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation 

 of foreign of foreign of foreign of foreign 

 currency currency currency currency 
 

In case of 20% change in USD against TL: 
 

USD net asset / (liability) 22,834 (22,834) 22,834 (22,834) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

USD net effect 22,834 (22,834) 22,834 (22,834) 

 

In case of 20% change in EUR against TL: 
 

EUR net asset / (liability) 65,570 (65,570) 65,570 (65,570) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

EUR net effect 65,570 (65,570) 65,570 (65,570) 

 

In case of 20% change in other foreign 

   exchange rates against TL: 
 

Other foreign currency net asset / (liability) (1,049) 1,049 (1,049) 1,049 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

Other foreign currencies net effect (1,049) 1,049 (1,049) 1,049 
 

Total 87,355 (87,355) 87,355 (87,355) 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

         31 December 2017  

        Profit / Loss         Equity  
 

 Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation 

 of foreign of foreign of foreign of foreign 

 currency currency currency currency 
 

In case of 20% change in USD against TL: 
 

USD net asset / (liability) 30,305 (30,305) 30,305 (30,305) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

USD net effect 30,305 (30,305) 30,305 (30,305) 

 

In case of 20% change in EUR against TL: 
 

EUR net asset / (liability) 37,124 (37,124) 37,124 (37,124) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

EUR net effect 37,124 (37,124) 37,124 (37,124) 

 

In case of 20% change in other foreign 

   exchange rates against TL: 
 

Other foreign currency net asset / (liability) (789) 789 (789) 789 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

Other foreign currencies net effect (789) 789 (789) 789 
 

Total 66,640 (66,640) 66,640 (66,640) 

 

TL equivalents of assets and liabilities held by the Group denominated in foreign currency at 31 December 2018 

and 2017 in consideration of foreign exchange rates are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

USD 5.2609  3.7719 

EUR 6.0280  4.5155 

GBP 6.6528  5.0803 

CHF 5.3352  3.8548 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

The amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in original and foreign currencies and their TL equivalents as 

of 31 December 2018 were as follows:  

  31 December 2018  

  Original amounts  

 Total   

 TL equivalent USD EUR CHF 
 

Trade receivables 142 - 24 - 

Monetary financial assets 555,603 36,581 60,244 - 

Other - - - - 
 

Current Assets 555,745 36,581 60,268 - 
 

Monetary financial assets 3,392 645 - - 
 

Non-current Assets 3,392 645 - - 
 

Total Assets 559,137 37,226 60,268 - 

 

Trade payables 99,413 14,187 3,241 983 

Monetary financial assets 3,449 656 - - 
 

Short Term Liabilities 102,862 14,843 3,241 983 
 

Financial assets - - - - 

Monetary financial liabilities 19,498 682 2,640 - 
 

Long Term Liabilities 19,498 682 2,640 - 
 

Total Liabilities 122,360 15,525 5,881 983 
 

Net asset / (liability) position of 

   derivative financial assets (A-B) - - - - 

A.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

derivative financial assets - - -  

B.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

derivative financial liabilities - - - - 
 

Net foreign currency  

   asset / (liability) position 436,777 21,701 54,387 (983) 
 

Net foreign currency asset / (liability) 

   position of monetary items 436,777 21,701 54,387 (983) 
 

Export 18 - 3 - 

Import 248,739 28,864 16,073 -  
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

The amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in original and foreign currencies and their TL equivalents as 

of 31 December 2017 were as follows: 

  31 December 2017  

  Original amounts  

 Total   

 TL equivalent USD EUR GBP 
 

Trade receivables 93 - 21 - 

Monetary financial assets 405,472 55,385 43,531 - 

Other 354 94 - - 
 

Current Assets 405,919 55,479 43,552 - 
 

Monetary financial assets 3,185 844 - - 
 

Non-current Assets 3,185 844 - - 
 

Total Assets 409,104 56,323 43,552 - 

 

Trade payables 66,898 15,760 1,376 244 

Financial liabilities 2,512 666 - - 
 

Current Liabilities 69,410 16,426 1,376 244 
 

Monetary other liabilities - - - - 
 

Non-current Liabilities - - - - 
 

Total Liabilities 69,410 16,426 1,376 244 
 

Net asset / (liability) position of 

   derivative financial assets (A-B) - - - - 

A.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

   derivative financial assets - - -  

B.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

   derivative financial liabilities - - - - 
 

Net foreign currency  

   asset / (liability) position 339,694 39,897 42,176 (244) 
 

Net foreign currency asset / (liability) 

  position of monetary items 339,694 39,897 42,176 (244) 
 

Export 21,681 1,861 1,692 1,382 

Import 240,217 32,798 19,897 5,248 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

Forward foreign exchange contracts - - 5,434 - 
 

 - - 5,434 - 

 

The Group utilizes currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows. The Group is party 

to a variety of foreign currency forward contracts and options in the management of its exchange rate exposures. 

The instruments purchased are primarily denominated in the currencies of the Group’s principal markets. 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to 

which the Group is committed are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Forward foreign exchange contracts - 168,163 
 

As of 31 December - 168,163 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

d) Categories and fair values of financial instruments  

 

   Financial assets at   

 Financial assets at  fair value in other   

 fair value through Financial liabilities comprehensive   

31 December 2018 profit or loss stated at amortised cost income Carrying amount Note 

 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 619,899 - 619,899 6 

Trade receivables - 185,667 - 185,667 10 

Receivables from related parties - 468 - 468 9 

Financial investments 4,538 - 3,019,743 3,024,281 7 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities - 83,978 - 83,978 8 

Trade payables - 186,616 - 186,616 10 

Payables to related parties - 7,065 - 7,065 9 

 

Group Management believes that the carrying amount of financial instruments represent their fair values. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

d) Categories and fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

 

   Financial assets at   

 Financial assets at  fair value in other   

 fair value through Financial liabilities comprehensive   

31 December 2017 profit or loss stated at amortised cost income Carrying amount Note 

 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 506,419 - 506,419 6 

Trade receivables - 145,393 - 145,393 10 

Receivables from related parties - 583 - 583 9 

Financial investments 3,539 - 2,588,218 2,591,757 7 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities - 18,632 - 18,632 8 

Trade payables - 132,203 - 132,203 10 

Payables to related parties - 3,767 - 3,767 9 

 

Group Management believes that the carrying amount of financial instruments represent their fair values. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

e) Capital risk management 

 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 

while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. 

 

The capital structure of the Company consists of debts including the borrowings and other debts disclosed in 

Notes 8, 9 and 20, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in Note 6 and equity attributable to equity holders of the 

parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in Note 23. 

 

The Group Management considers the cost of capital and risks associated with each class of capital. The 

Company Management aims to balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share 

issues and the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. 

 

The Group controls its capital using the net debt / total equity ratio. This ratio is the calculated as net debt 

divided by the total equity amount. Net debt is calculated as total liability amount (comprises of financial 

liabilities, leasing and trade payables as presented in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group’s net debt / total equity ratio is detailed as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Financial liabilities 83,978 18,632 

Cash and cash equivalents and 

     current financial investments (619,899) (506,419) 
 

Net debt (535,921) (487,787) 

 

Total equity 3,997,844 3,480,655 

Total capital 3,461,923 2,992,868 
 

Net debt / Total capital (15%) (16%) 

 

The general strategy of the Group does not differ from the previous period. 
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NOTE 32 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

1) In accordance with a decision of a General Assembly Meeting held on 30 January 2019, The Group has 

decided to increase the existing TL 450,000 thousand capital of Vitra Karo, which is 25% share owned by 

the Group, to TL 750,000 thousand in cash;  

 

- In the Company's Board of Directors meeting held on 23 January 2019; it is decided to participate 

capital increase of 75,000,000 shares, which are equivalent of TL 75,000 thousand capital for Group’s 

corresponding share of TL 300,000 thousand and each worths 1 Turkish Lira. 25% of TL 75,000 

thousand will be paid in cash prior to the registation of the capital increase, while the remaining 75% 

will be paid in cash after the registration of the capital increase latest in 24 months and the timing of 

remaining payment will be determined in Board of Directors meetings. The capital increase was 

registered on 12 February 2019. 

 

2) In the Company’s Board of Directors meeting held on 1 February 2019, it was decided below based on 

assessment upon acquisition of Shire Plc by Tekada Pharmaceutical Company Limited on 8 January 2019. 

Shire Plc is the main shareholder of Baxalta GmbH which is another 50% of shareholder of Eczacıbaşı 

Shire.  

 

- It was decided to initiate the necessary legal process for the transfer of 50% of its shares in Eczacıbaşı 

Shire, which has a contractual right in accordance with the Shareholders Agreement with Baxalta 

GmbH dated 25 January 2016 and hold meetings in this context. Group has calculated TL 85,888 

thousand sale price for Eczacıbaşı Shire for 50% of EIS shares within the consideration of 

“Shareholders Agreement” and  the final sale price will be agreed after a negotiation with the other 

party. 

 

 

 

 

 

…………………………. 
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